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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If you're here

          3  for the Downtown Brooklyn item, please remain

          4  outside. We still have a number of items to go

          5  through before we get to that. If you wish to speak,

          6  you must sign up by the Sergeant-At-Arms desk.

          7                 Joining me this morning are Council

          8  Members Al Vann, Melinda Katz and Mike McMahon.

          9                 The first item on the agenda is

         10  Intro. 369. 20045623 LLY. A local law to amend the

         11  New York City Charter in relation to authorizing the

         12  Department of Transportation to extend the date of

         13  the operating authority of certain private bus

         14  lines.

         15                 I have Robert Grotell, Deputy

         16  Commissioner for Passenger Transportation here on

         17  behalf of the Intro.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: Yes,

         19  good morning, Chairman Avella and members of the

         20  Zoning and Franchise Subcommittee. My name is Robert

         21  Grotell and I'm the Deputy Commissioner for

         22  Passenger Transport at the New York City Department

         23  of Transportation.

         24                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

         25  here this morning to discuss the Administration's
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          2  support for Intro. 369.

          3                 The bill will amend the City Charter

          4  by authorizing DOT to extend the date of the

          5  operating authority for two unsubsidized private bus

          6  services.

          7                 Specifically Intro. 360 allows DOT to

          8  proceed to the Franchise and Concession Review

          9  Committee to extend the expiration date of any

         10  franchise to operate unsubsidizied private bus

         11  service for up to three years until June 30th, 2007.

         12                 The operating authority of two

         13  unsubsidized bus services is set to expire at the

         14  end of this month on June 30th, pursuant to Local

         15  Law 71 of 2003.

         16                 These include Private 1 of New York,

         17  LLC, doing business as New York Airport Service,

         18  which transports approximately 1 million passengers

         19  annually from Grand Central Station to LaGuardia and

         20  Kennedy Airports, and private transportation group,

         21  which operates Bus Route B 110, which transports

         22  approximately 500,000 passengers annually between

         23  Williamsburg and Borough Park in Brooklyn.

         24                 The continuation of these franchises

         25  will promote the public interest, enhance the
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          2  health, welfare and safety of the public and

          3  stimulate commerce by ensuring the continued

          4  availability of unsubsidized bus service and

          5  maintain the City's transportation network.

          6                 This bill will ensure that these bus

          7  services will be able to continue to operate beyond

          8  June 30th. I ask for the Council's expeditious

          9  support on this important piece of legislation.

         10                 I want to thank you for the

         11  opportunity to be here this morning. I would be

         12  happy to answer any questions on this matter.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

         15  Commissioner.

         16                 Since they're unsubsidized, so

         17  obviously they're making enough in the revenue box

         18  to operate; are these not-for-profit or for-profit?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: These

         20  are for-profit enterprises.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Are these for

         22  not-for-profit, or for-profit?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: These

         24  are for-profit enterprises.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: What does the
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          2  City get in return for allowing them to operate?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: We get a

          4  percentage of the gross revenue.  For the airport

          5  service we get two percent of the gross, and for the

          6  Brooklyn service we get three percent of the gross.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: For the airport

          8  service, two percent, what does that represent?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: It

         10  represents approximately $200,000 annually.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And they

         12  transport a million passengers? How much do they

         13  charge?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: The

         15  current rate, depending on the airport, is $10 one

         16  way to LaGuardia from the City, from Manhattan; $12

         17  from the -- they also have service from the hotels

         18  in New York. They run a hotel route. They will pick

         19  you up at the hotel, it's $12 to LaGuardia; $13 one

         20  way to Kennedy, and $15 one way from the hotel to

         21  Kennedy.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Has there been

         23  any consideration to increasing the percentage that

         24  the City gets on this?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: Well,
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          2  currently the intention of the Department is to

          3  extend the existing operating authority, and our

          4  goal is to open it up to competition in the very

          5  near future.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Define near

          7  future?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: Actually

          9  within a year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We're going to

         11  hold you to that.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any questions

         14  from the Committee members?

         15                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL: Okay,

         17  thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If there is no

         19  one else to sign up on this item, I will close the

         20  public hearing on Intro. 269.

         21                 The next item on the agenda is

         22  preconsidered 20045473 TCK. An application by 338

         23  Bedford Restaurant Corporation, to establish,

         24  maintain and operate an unenclosed sidewalk cafe

         25  located at 338 Bedford Avenue.
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          2                 I have two speakers, I assume they're

          3  both representing the applicant. Mark Firetti; is

          4  that what it is?

          5                 MR. FIRTH: Firth.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Is that what it

          7  is? I can't read your handwriting. And Andrew

          8  Tarlow. Are you both here?

          9                 If you would introduce yourselves and

         10  explain what the application is.

         11                 MR. TARLOW: My name is Andrew Tarlow.

         12  I'm part owner of this restaurant, 338 Bedford

         13  Avenue. We are applying for an unenclosed cafe

         14  permit there. And this is my business partner, Mark

         15  Firth.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And what does the

         17  application entail? How many tables? How many

         18  chairs?

         19                 MR. TARLOW: I believe it entails

         20  about six tables and 12 chairs. It's a very small

         21  sidewalk at this point, and so we are only going to

         22  the maximum that the City allows us.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: It's my

         24  understanding that the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs approved five tables and 13 chairs, and
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          2  that's what we're talking about.

          3                 MR. TARLOW: Okay, sorry. Five tables

          4  and 13 chairs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well, let's make

          6  sure you get it straight, because otherwise you're

          7  going to be fined.

          8                 MR. TARLOW: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Now, I understand

         10  there were some questions from the community. Are

         11  you meeting with the community and trying to resolve

         12  any of the issues that are outstanding in this

         13  respect?

         14                 MR. TARLOW: We have tried to. There

         15  is a church next door, we said we were willing to

         16  compromise our hours to fit their needs or their

         17  concerns.

         18                 To this date they haven't come back

         19  with anything. At that community board meeting they

         20  said they didn't want to make any concessions, they

         21  just didn't want the cafe. So, I mean we're willing

         22  to do whatever it takes to get this thing. I mean,

         23  our defense is this cafe puts a presence on the

         24  street that makes the neighborhood seem safer, and

         25  we employ a lot of local community, having more
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          2  tables definitely generates more business for us,

          3  allows us to hire more people.

          4                 And that's, you know...

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any questions

          6  from Committee members? No. Thank you.

          7                 Is there anybody who wishes to speak

          8  on this item?

          9                 In that case, I will close the public

         10  hearing on --

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Did you sign up?

         13  How many of there are you? Why don't you come up.

         14  We're going to ask you to fill out another sheet. We

         15  don't have your sheets, unless you put in that you

         16  were speaking on a different item.

         17                 Are there two or one? Are you the

         18  only speaker? Oh, I'm sorry. If you would, introduce

         19  yourself for the record.

         20                 MS. GARCIA: Sorry. My name is Carmen

         21  Garcia. I'm the Pastor at 336 Bedford Avenue,

         22  adjacent to the restaurant. And this is Wenceslao

         23  Mora, he is co-pastor.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We don't have a

         25  sheet for you, so at the end of your testimony, if
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          2  you would fill out one I would appreciate that.

          3                 MS. GARCIA: For myself?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes.

          5                 You can begin.

          6                 MS. GARCIA: Okay. We're here to

          7  oppose the sidewalk cafe. I want to say clearly that

          8  we do not oppose the restaurant. The restaurant has

          9  been there for about 30 years, and the owners that

         10  are currently there have been there for two years

         11  now, and the church has resided at this site since

         12  1949. I want to explain what the purpose of our

         13  church there is. Basically we're there to bring

         14  forth education to the community and the faith that

         15  we believe in, and basically we have, since 55 years

         16  ago, when this neighborhood was a drug-gang and

         17  crime-invested area, we were there with the struggle

         18  and the battle with the community residents that are

         19  signings to the opposition of this petition that we

         20  have. We were there to bring peace to this

         21  neighborhood and basically try to change our

         22  neighborhood to the point where today things are

         23  much better. We have a nicer neighborhood.

         24                 Actually, Williamsburg has become a

         25  prime real estate area, and it's all due to the
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          2  struggle that we've been through. The reason we

          3  oppose the restaurant to come out to the sidewalk is

          4  because basically they have been authorized to have

          5  alcohol like beer and wine and evidently if they're

          6  outside they'll be smoking, and plenty of noise will

          7  come forth. I'm not saying that the group is going

          8  to be very large, based on the numbers that we're

          9  talking about, but it will make a difference for us.

         10                 We have services on Tuesdays,

         11  Thursdays, Fridays, Sundays and sometimes on

         12  Saturdays as well. We have our children, our young

         13  people, we are teaching them the no drugs, no crime

         14  and basically, you know, having the customers

         15  outside drinking, smoking and, you know, of course

         16  having their meals, we feel that this is going to be

         17  counterproductive to the work that we have struggled

         18  for 55 years to bring forth to this neighborhood.

         19                 So, basically what we're saying is

         20  the restaurant is not a problem for us, but, yes,

         21  having them outside on the sidewalk will be a

         22  problem that we see. And we have people in the

         23  neighborhood that have expressed the same feelings

         24  that we have.

         25                 MR. MORA: Yes, and to add to what my
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          2  pastor has just spoken, we've already had problems

          3  with the patrons that go to that restaurant. Some of

          4  them come on bicycles. They hang their bikes on our

          5  gates, and we repeatedly have to tell them to take

          6  them off.

          7                 They experimented with this even last

          8  year where they had some tables out there. I don't

          9  know how they were authorized to do that, but they

         10  did it anyway. I don't know if it was on an

         11  experimental level, and already we were getting

         12  complaints, you know, about how their patronage is

         13  loud at times, they stay out late sometimes, and,

         14  you know.

         15                 I suppose if people are drinking,

         16  whether it's beer or wine, after they've had a

         17  couple, you know, they get a little loose, and they

         18  don't realize the volume at which they speak. And it

         19  is adjacent to a house of worship, and that

         20  infringes on us also. And as my pastor said, we've

         21  been here for 55 years in the community. And I think

         22  it would be counter-productive to our situation, so

         23  we're here to oppose that application.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. GARCIA: Can I just add the fact
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          2  that we did go to the public hearings that were held

          3  by Community Board No. 1 and the ULURP Committee, as

          4  far as the way they voted, they were opposing it as

          5  well. And we also have the back-up of Council Member

          6  Diana Reyna, and Assemblyman Vito Lopez. They were

          7  opposing it as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: What time do you

          9  have services? And at what point would you feel that

         10  the operation of the cafe would directly interfere

         11  with services?

         12                 MS. GARCIA: Our services --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I mean, the

         14  question I'm trying to get at, is the operation of

         15  an outdoor sidewalk cafe directly interfering with

         16  the services?

         17                 MS. GARCIA: The services are held

         18  between seven and 10:30 p.m. They're also held on

         19  some Saturdays, from the morning time til about 3:00

         20  in the afternoon, and on Sundays we also have, since

         21  the morning about 7:30, 8:00 a.m., until about 4:00

         22  p.m.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any questions

         24  from Committee members?

         25                 I also see we've been joined by
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          2  Council Member Madeline Provenzano.

          3                 Hi.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 If there is no one else signed up to

          6  speak, we will close the public hearing on this

          7  item.

          8                 And, Ma'am, if you could fill out a

          9  speaker's slip before you go?

         10                 MS. GARCIA: Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Mr. Chair, what

         13  did the community board do on this?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Community board

         15  opposed it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And the Borough

         17  President?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We didn't get a

         19  recommendation.

         20                 Can we close that door in the back,

         21  please?

         22                 Next item on the agenda is

         23  preconsidered 2004533 TCX. An application by Fish

         24  Fox Restaurant Corporation to establish, maintain

         25  and operate an unenclosed sidewalk cafe located at
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          2  41 City Island Avenue. It is in Council Member

          3  Provenzano's district.

          4                 I do not have any signed slips for

          5  the applicant. Oh, I'm sorry, we have certain people

          6  signed up to speak in opposition, I'm actually

          7  looking for the applicant. There is nobody here

          8  representing Fish Fox Restaurant? Very interesting.

          9                 Before we go to the public testimony,

         10  I'll call upon Council Member Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Are we only talking about the one,

         14  Sammy's?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: The first

         17  one, okay. I'm going to do them in combination, and

         18  I'm sorry I'm late, and I also have Standards and

         19  Ethics at 10:30 but... The two items that are in my

         20  district, both on City Island that are on for today.

         21  They're actually across from each other. Tito

         22  Puentes and Sammy's.

         23                 They're opposed by the community

         24  board, and the civic association on the Island.

         25                 It's a very small island. I'm sure
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          2  when they speak they'll kind of give you the

          3  geographics - one way in, one way out. Many, many

          4  restaurants, so you can imagine in the summertime

          5  it's kind of a mini Hamptons. There are lines all

          6  the way out to get in, lines to get out. Summer,

          7  well, you know, they try and tell you the summer is

          8  two months. That's not true. Summer starts some time

          9  around Mother's Day, and ends if the weather is

         10  good, probably in October some time. So, you're

         11  looking at like five or six months of summer

         12  traffic.

         13                 We have special police task force

         14  that are on the island during the busy days,

         15  Saturday, Sunday. This is just a little background.

         16                 Aside from that, the two folks that

         17  are asking for the sidewalk cafe, having, you know,

         18  done some investigating on them, they have a very

         19  bad history of many, many violations, and I think

         20  that's indicative of, you know, if you want to do

         21  something on the Island, the first thing is you have

         22  to be a good neighbor, and you're not being a good

         23  neighbor by amassing all of these violations.

         24                 One of them has a history of

         25  something like 25 violations, the other one has 27.
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          2  They actually have outstanding violations at this

          3  time.

          4                 They have planters, benches, on the

          5  sidewalk which they do not have permits. So, it's

          6  really just a very flagrant disregard for

          7  regulations and for the community.

          8                 So, I really have to oppose both of

          9  these.

         10                 There's also other kinds of

         11  logistical problems. There's a bus stop in front of

         12  each of them. One is the stop that's the end of the

         13  island where you get off, and the other one is where

         14  you would start to go this way on the island.

         15                 So, that presents a problem, since

         16  they're both located in front, you know, one in

         17  front of each restaurant.

         18                 And actually there's some

         19  consideration being given to the thought, and it has

         20  to be discussed with the community board and the

         21  folks on the island, to designate City Island as a

         22  street where there would be no sidewalk cafes.

         23                 Because what happens is, once you

         24  have one, once you have two, there are so many

         25  restaurants on that island, that the whole sidewalk
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          2  on both sides is going to be sidewalk cafes.

          3                 So, that's something that we're

          4  considering, and I just thought I would run it by

          5  you. I thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          7                 We have two speakers in opposition.

          8  Kenneth Lidonnici. Did I pronounce it right?

          9                 MR. LIDONNICI: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And Joseph

         11  Cardona. Please come up. And I see that you've

         12  indicated you want to speak on both items. Please

         13  feel free to do so.

         14                 Please introduce yourself for the

         15  record and then you may proceed.

         16                 MR. CARDONA: Okay, thank you. My name

         17  is Joseph Cardona, and I will be speaking on behalf

         18  of the honorable Judge Betty Owens Stinson,

         19  regarding the outdoor dining permit applications of

         20  Tito Puente's and Sammy's Fish Box.

         21                 I have been a resident of City Island

         22  since 1989. The first five years I lived on Rochelle

         23  Street West, and then purchased my home on Rochelle

         24  Street East in 1994.

         25                 Throughout that time traffic
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          2  congestion, illegal parking and noise, even into the

          3  wee hours, have had adverse effects on the quality

          4  of life for home-owners and residents of City

          5  Island, and more particularly, residents living

          6  south of Pilot Street.

          7                 The traffic, parking and noise are

          8  directly attributable to patrons of Tony's Pier,

          9  Johnny's Reef, Sammy's Fish Box and Tito Puente's,

         10  also Neptune's and Lobster Box.

         11                 You are now being asked to approve

         12  special permits which will further add to what has

         13  become an even greater health and safety problem on

         14  the south end of the Island.

         15                 Traffic. City Island is a small

         16  island being approximately one and one-quarter mile

         17  long, with only one through street, City Island

         18  Avenue, consisting of a southbound lane, a

         19  northbound lane, and a fire emergency left turn only

         20  center lane.

         21                 The resident population, according to

         22  the last census is less than 5,000 people. The

         23  weekends and during warmer summer months, the number

         24  of visitors to the island swells the population by

         25  ten to 15,000. Even if we assume 12 people to a car,
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          2  that is an additional 2,000 to 3,000 cars coming

          3  down to the island via one bridge, each day of the

          4  weekend, usually between the hours of noon and 11:00

          5  p.m. The cars don't just ride on and ride off, they

          6  park.

          7                 Moreover, traffic congestion begins

          8  at the traffic circle and continues bumper to bumper

          9  all the way to the south end of the island. Thus, a

         10  trip by a resident to the local pharmacy or grocery

         11  store becomes a 30 to 50-minute trip as opposed to a

         12  five to 10-minute trip.

         13                 Parking. Since April of this year,

         14  without notice to the residents in the area, no

         15  parking Saturday, Sunday and weekends between May

         16  15th and 7/15 signs, have been erected from Pilot

         17  Street to the end of the island on both sides of

         18  City Island Avenue.

         19                 As a result of less free parking, the

         20  patrons are now parking on the residential side

         21  streets, most of which are posted with no parking

         22  any time signs on both sides.

         23                 As late as 1994, Rochelle Street, the

         24  Cross Street of City Island Avenue, where Sammy's,

         25  Tito's, and their respective parking lots are
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          2  located, have "no parking. Street fire zone" signs.

          3  For reasons unknown to me, these signs were removed.

          4  By whom it is not clear.

          5                 I understand from a police officer

          6  from the 45th Precinct, that there is an ongoing

          7  investigation against Sammy concerning the missing

          8  signs.

          9                 Rochelle Street on the east is 19 and

         10  one-half feet wide from curb to curb and is a

         11  dead-end street.

         12                 In the last two years there was a

         13  fire in the residence on the north side of the

         14  street, and when the fire trucks came down the

         15  street, because cars were parked on the north side

         16  of the street, the street was blocked, preventing

         17  any additional emergency vehicles from reaching the

         18  location of a fire. Thank God no people were injured

         19  in the fire, or removing them from the scene would

         20  have been difficult and time-consuming, thus

         21  life-threatening.

         22                 Parenthetically, Sammy and Tito's

         23  have four private parking lots. The lot between

         24  Horton and Marine Street is rarely opened, thus more

         25  traffic congestion while patrons ride the avenue,
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          2  waiting to get into a parking lot, or parking and

          3  blocking the side streets.

          4                 It is a well-known fact that

          5  employees of these restaurants are not allowed to

          6  use the parking lots, and often it is their cars

          7  that are parked illegally. Even when the police are

          8  called, they are not ticketed because they have

          9  bogus Board of Education parking permit placquards

         10  on their dashboards. The last time I checked,

         11  Sammy's was not an institution of learning, not the

         12  ABC's at least.

         13                 Noise. I wish I had the time and

         14  means to record for you the sounds of my

         15  neighborhood. I will try to describe it as best as I

         16  can.

         17                 First there is the noise from the

         18  cars of the patrons as they come down the avenue.

         19  Imagine if you roll your car radio turned up so high

         20  to the point that the speaker begin to vibrate and

         21  distort the music. The music is no longer music, it

         22  is noise, that by medical standards, sufficient to

         23  cause deafness to people in the car, to wake a

         24  sleeping baby or adult a block away.

         25                 Traffic is slow so the noise doesn't
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          2  pass quickly. If you are in your yard enjoying the

          3  evening and listening to your own choice of music,

          4  suddenly you cannot hear it and the cachophony

          5  begins.

          6                 Then there is the constant sound of

          7  car alarms going off in the valet parking lot.  The

          8  car alarms go off every five minutes. I think that

          9  is how the valets locate the patron's car.

         10                 At times when Tito's has a Latin Jazz

         11  band, something his representative promised the City

         12  Island Civic Association would not happen, the Salsa

         13  music comes out of the restaurant, over the parking

         14  lot and into the homes of the residents of Rochelle

         15  and Horton Streets.

         16                 It is noted that Tito's does not, to

         17  my knowledge, have a cabaret license, yet have

         18  operated a cabaret almost since the day it opened.

         19                 Despite notice to the authorities'

         20  attention it continues to operate a cabaret and it

         21  has the audacity to advertise it on their sidewalk

         22  sign, and now on neon lights on front of the

         23  restaurant. I have pictures to that effect.

         24                 You should also be aware that for

         25  many years, Tito's has placed tables on the sidewalk
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          2  in front or the take out window and served food and

          3  alcohol, not just through the window but by wait

          4  staff.

          5                 At times I could not pass on the

          6  sidewalk without going onto the street. Pushing the

          7  twin carriage of my twins was also problematic. One

          8  time in 2003 Tito's actually put out dining tables

          9  and chairs on the sidewalk outside the dining room,

         10  closest to Horton Street.

         11                 Finally, after sufficient complaints,

         12  the practice was stopped.

         13                 Now these two restaurants want to

         14  expand --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Sir? Sir, if I

         16  can sort of cut you off a little bit.

         17                 MR. CARDONA: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I try not to put

         19  people on the three-minute clock, because we want to

         20  get them in --

         21                 MR. CARDONA: Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: But we do have a

         23  very lengthy agenda and some of the things you're

         24  talking about relate directly to the sidewalk

         25  application.
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          2                 So, if you would sort of summarize at

          3  this point.

          4                 MR. CARDONA: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We get the

          6  picture.

          7                 MR. CARDONA: Okay, no problem. Well,

          8  that's basically it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

         10                 MR. CARDONA: In the event that some

         11  of your members have not had the occasion to visit

         12  City Island, we suggest you go there and check out

         13  the situation for yourselves.

         14                 And like I said, I have pictures that

         15  will describe the two restaurants and the problems

         16  of those.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

         18                 MR. CARDONA: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Sit there just in

         20  case we have questions.

         21                 MR. CARDONA: Okay.

         22                 MR. LIDONNICI: My name is Kenneth

         23  Lidonnici. I'm a professional engineer, and I have a

         24  house on City Island, Rochelle Street.

         25                 The problem with the application now
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          2  as I see it is that he's asking for rules to be bent

          3  so that he can add these sidewalk cafes.

          4                 If he were to erect the sidewalk

          5  cafes that he's applied for, the number of people

          6  that would attend on a good day, these new seats,

          7  not counting the original restaurant, but new seats,

          8  could represent ten percent of population of the

          9  island. It's not a small thing that he's asking to

         10  do.

         11                 Furthermore, as I understand it,

         12  you're not allowed to build a restaurant on City

         13  Island anymore unless you can provide a certain

         14  formula for off-street parking. Certainly these 50

         15  to 60 extra seats should represent the need for him

         16  to provide additional off-street parking, according

         17  to whatever formula exists in that area now.

         18                 A little bit about the history of

         19  City Island. City Island is a neighborhood. It's not

         20  a theme park, and the restaurants are not a food

         21  court, it's a neighborhood. People live there, and

         22  it has had a nautical history. Many boat yards, sail

         23  makers, most of the America's Cup winners were built

         24  on City Island.

         25                 Unfortunately, because of stringent
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          2  adherence to insurance rules, many boat yards have

          3  had to go out of business. They are not permitted to

          4  store their boats closer than what was allowed

          5  consequently. The financial picture was such that

          6  instead of losing money on their boat yard, they

          7  made money selling the property to people who are

          8  now building condominiums. These condominiums are

          9  going to bring in more people, to exacerbate even

         10  further the traffic problem.

         11                 So, I want you to take that into

         12  consideration. Instead of giving him concessions, he

         13  should be asked to reduce the impact that he's

         14  making on the island.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. Any

         17  questions from Committee members?

         18                 And we've also been joined by

         19  Committee member, Council Member Eric Gioia.

         20                 Now, I've been given two other slips

         21  on this item. One of which is Joseph Valenti, who is

         22  representing Tito Puentes. The other person hasn't

         23  indicated whether they're in favor -- oh, I'm sorry,

         24  they must be in favor, Samuel Chernin.

         25                 MR. CHERNIN: Good morning, ladies and
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          2  gentlemen of the Council. I am Samuel Chernin, owner

          3  and proprietor of Sammy's Fish Box Restaurant and

          4  the Managing Partner for Tito Puentes Restaurant,

          5  both on City Island.

          6                 I would like to say that I truly

          7  believe that the objections to my applications,

          8  which I might add, have complied with all zoning

          9  stipulations, and have been approved by the Consumer

         10  Affairs Department for a sidewalk cafe at Tito

         11  Puentes and Sammy's Fishbox isn't about summonses

         12  that may or may not exist, nor is this the question

         13  of quality of life issues for City Island. This,

         14  ladies and gentlemen, is a continuation of over a

         15  50-year witch hunt that my family has had to endure

         16  as minority business people catering to black and

         17  Hispanic clientele on City Island.

         18                 Over this period, the Community

         19  Planning Board has rubber stamped almost every

         20  objection of the City Island Civic Association,

         21  which I might add is run by a local militant

         22  minority of City Islanders, and is not the real

         23  voice of the silent majority of hard-working,

         24  fair-minded people who live on City Island.

         25                 The local community board has
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          2  continually voted against any positive action the

          3  restaurant industry has tried to institute on the

          4  Island.

          5                 Clearly, any reasonable person would

          6  have to admit that there has been an anti-restaurant

          7  policy flowing out of the community board goated

          8  (phonetic) by the City Island Association.

          9                 Over the years, these have been

         10  manifested by numerous attempts, some success and

         11  some successful, about zoning and traffic flow

         12  alterations that have been instituted solely to

         13  punish the restaurants on City Island for drawing so

         14  many minority Bronx restaurants. Restaurants, that I

         15  might add, collect and pay millions of dollars in

         16  tax revenue.

         17                 My restaurants alone collect over one

         18  and a half million in sales taxes for the City and

         19  State and probably an equal amount in use in other

         20  taxes.

         21                 The restaurants on City Island employ

         22  thousands of New York City residents, as well as

         23  having attained worldwide recognition for our great

         24  food.

         25                 The City Island restaurant industry
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          2  is one of the strongest economic areas in the Bronx,

          3  and it's about time the power that be recognized it

          4  and stopped treating us like some illicit child that

          5  nobody wants.

          6                 Try telling that to over a million

          7  New Yorkers that visit our restaurants each year.

          8  Customers, I might add, that are exceptional

          9  citizens, and a pleasure to serve.  The 100-year-old

         10  City Island restaurant industry has stood the test

         11  of time, and through the grace of God we'll

         12  hopefully do so for many future generations of New

         13  Yorkers.

         14                 In closing, I would just like to add,

         15  we have come a long way in my lifetime in affording

         16  equal opportunity for all Americans, regardless of

         17  race, religion or country and origin, and I look

         18  forward to the day when the few remaining vestiges

         19  of prejudice disappear from our community.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. VALENTI: Hi. My name is Joe

         22  Valenti. I represent Tito Puentes. I'm also on the

         23  City Island Chamber of Commerce, one of their Board

         24  of Directors.

         25                 What I just want to show, have here,
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          2  I have some pictures showing that there are many

          3  sidewalk cafes that are illegal. We have applied for

          4  one, we paid to go through all this whole process.

          5  We have been cited for a violation. Not one of these

          6  several locations has been cited. I fear that we're

          7  being fingered out with, you know, they're just

          8  pointing us out and it's just as Sam said, it's the

          9  clientele that City Island has been bringing.

         10                 I'd like to show, if anybody wants to

         11  see these, or I could give them to counsel. And

         12  everything is legal process, the Consumer Affairs

         13  has approved this, the only that's denying it is

         14  this Council here, and basically that's it.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: First of all, I

         17  want to thank you because it has been brought to our

         18  attention about the other sidewalk cafes, and we are

         19  sending out inspectors to issue violations because

         20  many of them are illegal. So, thanks for bringing

         21  that to our attention.

         22                 Council Member Provenzano.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         24                 I don't think you were here when I

         25  gave my testimony. I did speak to you yesterday, and
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          2  basically what I said was our conversation.

          3                 I have a little problem with you

          4  trying to make this a racial issue. I really resent

          5  that, because that has absolutely nothing to do with

          6  it.

          7                 There are many -- I don't know what

          8  the count is in City Island, but you're absolutely

          9  right, there are, the community probably knows, you

         10  know, a gazillion restaurants that are alive and

         11  well, and that's great. It's a wonderful industry,

         12  and that's most of what City Island is about, at

         13  least now, you know, it went from a fishing industry

         14  to now.

         15                 And that's not what the objection is.

         16  I don't know, you probably heard part of their

         17  testimony, I think the big problem is the number of

         18  violations you have, the disregard for getting

         19  permits when you should, and the disregard for not

         20  following through when you get violations. You know,

         21  who has the neon sign? Tito Puentes has the neon

         22  sign. There's an illegal awning. There's an illegal

         23  marquis.

         24                 Joe, you spoke about several outdoor

         25  cafes that are there, they're all illegal.
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          2                 When Land Use went up there, they

          3  took note of all of them. They were all reported to

          4  Consumer Affairs. They will all be cited. So there's

          5  nothing that, you know, this guy could have that you

          6  can't. It's across the board.

          7                 As it stands now, no restaurant in

          8  City Island is allowed to have an outdoor cafe. That

          9  may or may not change in the future, but as it is

         10  now. You can, you know, certainly call, too, to

         11  report, but now everyone will be cited. You know,

         12  same for all.

         13                 MR. CHERNIN: All my locations on City

         14  Island are complied with the Building Department and

         15  Occupancy. We have Certificate of Occupancies, we

         16  have COs, and we have beautiful customer-friendly

         17  safe restaurants. I have invested millions and

         18  millions of dollars into infrastructure, and anybody

         19  on City Island will tell you that my restaurants are

         20  attractive, my streets are immaculate. There is no

         21  doubt that having a strong restaurant community

         22  impacts residents, but I take exception to not

         23  someone who has lived on City Island for 30 or 40 or

         24  50 years and has had a restaurant built next to

         25  them; I take exception to someone that comes up to
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          2  City Island in the summer, fights the traffic, walks

          3  into a real estate office and buys a home next to a

          4  restaurant and then all of a sudden wants to get rid

          5  of that restaurant.

          6                 I have had people come up and tell

          7  me, we want your restaurant out. We want you closed

          8  up. We want this restaurant off the street, we hate

          9  it.

         10                 I mean, somebody that's moved in two,

         11  three, four and five years ago.

         12                 I mean, this is a viable economic

         13  community. It's known all through the world, and we

         14  get along with lots of restaurants. I'm very

         15  community-oriented. I support the community, as you

         16  know, in many, many areas, and what we're really

         17  asking for here, and why did this come about?

         18  Because I'm a Manhattanite, I'm a New York City

         19  person, born in the Bronx, I love sidewalk cafes. I

         20  would prefer to eat in a sidewalk cafe than any

         21  place else, and if I have that opportunity, I do.

         22                 And since the Koch Administration,

         23  the City has been very friendly towards the

         24  proliferation and nukes cafes -- so I thought one

         25  day it would be wonderful to have a cafe on City
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          2  Island. I called the Borough President at the time

          3  and I asked, I said it's too bad we can't do it. He

          4  said, under the zoning you can do it. And that's why

          5  we started the process. He said clearly in the

          6  zoning that we could have an unenclosed sidewalk

          7  cafe. If anybody at that point would have said to me

          8  it wasn't legal, it wasn't permissible.

          9                 Tito's has eight tables, Sammy's is

         10  going to have 12 tables, it's only for three months.

         11  We close it at ten o'clock in the evening. I really

         12  don't think it's going to impact anyone, okay? And

         13  you know, this is just the nature of the animal,

         14  it's the nature of City Island.

         15                 I've been on City Island my entire

         16  life. I've worked there as a eight-year-old, and I

         17  know the Island.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Sammy,

         19  you're right. You have some great restaurants. I

         20  will not dispute that. You're absolutely right. I,

         21  for one, don't go to City Island on a Saturday or a

         22  Sunday, I go during the week, but you're right.

         23                 And you're also right if someone just

         24  moves in next to a restaurant and complains about

         25  it, it's like someone moving next to a school and
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          2  complain about the kids, or someone moving next to a

          3  park and complaining about the kids in the park. I

          4  agree with you.

          5                 But there are many, many things, some

          6  I think which will be addressed, that have to be

          7  addressed before side cafe licenses are given.

          8                 So, there's a lot of matters that

          9  have to be looked into and talked over, aside from

         10  the violations and permits.

         11                 Also, you know, I would advise you

         12  if, you know, you want to go through with this, now

         13  or later, at some point you have to sit down, you

         14  know, with the community and work out how this is

         15  going to work.

         16                 And everyone kind of has to live up

         17  to their end of the bargain.

         18                 MR. CHERNIN: I did go to a community

         19  meeting three years ago with the Legion, which I

         20  volunteered to show up, and I have to tell you, I

         21  was, at that meeting I was verbally abused, I was

         22  yelled at, I was not allowed to speak. It was one of

         23  the most horrendous, hurtful points of my life.

         24                 I could not believe it. I was only

         25  glad that my children or my wife did not attend the
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          2  meeting with me, because it was just horrendous.

          3                 There is a very strong, very

          4  anti-restaurant minority on City Island. I was

          5  active in the Little League. I know countless people

          6  on City Island, hundreds, and I have wonderful

          7  friends. My mother in law lives on City Island. My

          8  wife was born on City Island. So, I'm not foreign to

          9  City Island, but unfortunately, like at every

         10  community, a very strong vocal minority, you know,

         11  has the day, and that's the way it is. And I respect

         12  everything else you said.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         14  Katz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Gentlemen, we

         16  appreciate your testimony here today, and although I

         17  appreciate the money for the infrastructure and the

         18  business that you have given to the City of New

         19  York, it is a mutually beneficial relationship, and

         20  I think that everyone understands that, and that's a

         21  good thing. We like businesses coming in. We like

         22  restaurants to be active. We've spent millions of

         23  dollars on our economy to make sure that our

         24  restaurants do stay that way.

         25                 The issue is really a more, not
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          2  personal but a direct business issue. I'm not only a

          3  member of this Committee, I'm also the Chair of the

          4  Land Use Committee. One of the great things that we

          5  need people to do is have a respect for our laws and

          6  respect for the way this City needs to run in order

          7  to be a great place for people to come.

          8                 Because you're here, I'd like to give

          9  you the opportunity to talk about why there are so

         10  many violations on your property. And the reason I'm

         11  asking is because when we discuss this, it's going

         12  to come up. But since you're here, I'd like you to

         13  discuss the violation of the second floor of the

         14  kitchen, the 15 violations of Sammy's, and the

         15  others that are there. More of a direct -- because I

         16  think it's going to come up in the discussions, so

         17  can you just comment on that?

         18                 MR. CHERNIN: Yes. I'm not aware of

         19  any violations. I checked with the Building

         20  Department and I was not aware that any cite of

         21  violations was written.

         22                 We have an architect. I don't know

         23  that that is a fact. And as far as somebody telling

         24  you that my canopies or neon signs are illegal, as

         25  you know from past cases in the City of New York,
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          2  there probably isn't a legal neon sign on any

          3  restaurant in New York City. I admit that. But as

          4  far as illegal kitchens, as far as outstanding -- to

          5  my knowledge, at this point I categorically say that

          6  I have no knowledge of any outstanding violation.

          7  And I would certainly like to see a list of them

          8  because I will respond to them. Give them to my

          9  office and I will respond to them immediately.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. We will

         11  provide that.

         12                 I really just wanted to give you the

         13  opportunity. I do think that you should maybe deal

         14  with the Department of Buildings regarding --

         15                 MR. CHERNIN: I called them yesterday

         16  because I knew I was coming down here.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. We have

         18  the list we'll be happy --

         19                 MR. CHERNIN: There's nothing on the

         20  computer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:-- To give to

         22  you.

         23                 Instead of being defensive, I think

         24  you need to understand that we're trying to give you

         25  the opportunity in order to answer the questions
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          2  that are going to come up.

          3                 It would be very easy for me to bring

          4  all this up after you get off the stand, but instead

          5  I wanted to give you that opportunity.

          6                 All right, thank you.

          7                 MR. CHERNIN: Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          9                 I wanted to back up my colleague

         10  Council Member Provenzano. We take a dim view of

         11  anybody who comes before this Committee and the City

         12  Council, and as either a defense, or support of

         13  their application, maligns the civic association,

         14  the community board. That certainly is not

         15  appropriate, and I think demeans their own

         16  application and what they're here to do.

         17                 So, in that respect, I think those

         18  comments were certainly inappropriate, and we don't

         19  recognize them, quite frankly.

         20                 If there is nobody else to sign up on

         21  this item, I will close the public hearing on it and

         22  move on to the next item, which is Land Use No. 180.

         23  20045412 TCQ. An application by Tulsace Corporation;

         24  am I pronouncing it right? Also know as 718, to

         25  establish, maintain and operate an unenclosed
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          2  sidewalk cafe located at 35-01 Ditmars Boulevard.

          3                 And we have Raphael Sutter here. This

          4  application lies within Council Member Peter

          5  Vallone, Jr.'s, district. He is also with us this

          6  morning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, I

          8  just wanted to apologize for being late. We had a

          9  Manhattan Delegation budget meeting. So, thank you

         10  for keeping in touch with me about what time we were

         11  starting. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: You didn't even

         13  give me a chance to recognize you, Council Member

         14  Quinn.

         15                 Sir, introduce yourself.

         16                 MR. SUTTER: Yes, my name is Raphael

         17  Sutter. I'm the owner of the Restaurant 718. I'm

         18  applying for nine tables and 24 chairs for the

         19  outdoor cafe.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         21  Peter Vallone.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         23  I'd like to speak in support of Mr. Sutter's

         24  application.

         25                 Mr. Sutter's restaurant recently
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          2  opened up in my neighborhood, which is part of the

          3  rebirth of the Astoria neighborhood. He's already a

          4  successful businessman in many well-known places in

          5  Manhattan, and I have been to his location on at

          6  least four or five occasions to examine the

          7  situation and determine whether or not these tables

          8  would conform to the community as it exists.

          9                 As you know, they were approved for

         10  25 by DCA. We have negotiated and agreed that Mr.

         11  Sutter will apply for nine tables and 24 chairs. I

         12  wholeheartedly support that application.

         13                 Unfortunately, Mr. Chair, I need to

         14  run to Standards and Ethics, so I thank you for the

         15  opportunity to be heard, and I know you will do the

         16  right thing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Good. I like when

         18  everybody works together and resolves these things

         19  before they get here.

         20                 Any questions by Committee members?

         21  Is there anybody signed up to speak on this item?

         22                 I will close the public hearing on

         23  it. Thank you.

         24                 I have one other gentleman who has

         25  come forward to speak on the previous item, and

                                                            47

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  since we took both items at the same time, I will

          3  allow the person to speak. Oscar Rivera. Is he here?

          4  Okay, he's not here.

          5                 Thank you for bearing with us this

          6  morning. Obviously you can see we have a complicated

          7  agenda.

          8                 The next item on the agenda is Land

          9  Use Number 185 and 186. They are both related.

         10                 C040124 ZMK; C040125 PPK. Application

         11  submitted by ERMA Realty, LLC and the Economic

         12  Development Corporation, for an amendment of the

         13  City Charter. Zoning map changing from an R6

         14  district to an M1-1 district property bounded by the

         15  southerly boundary by the Long Island Rail Road and

         16  other streets, and also related application.

         17                 I will ask Ray Levin to bring up

         18  whoever is speaking with him.

         19                 Before they start, is there a Nancy

         20  Bowe who also signed up but she put Downtown

         21  Brooklyn. Is she here? I assume she wants to talk

         22  about Downtown Brooklyn, so we're going to put it in

         23  that pile.

         24                 MR. RICE: Good morning, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 My name is Douglas Rice. I am with
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          2  the City's Economic Development Corporation, and EDC

          3  is here in support of ERMA Realty's proposal to

          4  expand and consolidate the AMG waterproofing and

          5  Park Avenue Roof and Supply businesses at an about

          6  70,000 square foot parcel, in the Ocean Hill,

          7  Weeksville neighborhoods of Brooklyn.

          8                 ERMA Realty is the real estate

          9  holding company for these two related businesses and

         10  AMG waterproofing performs various building repair

         11  renovation and development activities.

         12                 Park Avenue Building and Roofing

         13  Supplies is a retail seller of hardware and roofing

         14  materials.

         15                 This proposal will require ULURP

         16  approval to rezone much of the project's site from

         17  R6 and R6 with a C23 commercial overlay to M1-1, and

         18  EDC is helping facilitate this project by the sale

         19  of five City-owned parcels within the development

         20  site to ERMA Realty.

         21                 In a separate action, ERMA Realty

         22  will be seeking special permits from the Board of

         23  Standards and Appeals to construct a portion of its

         24  building within Park rear yards (sic).

         25                 These approvals will facilitate the
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          2  construction of about 132,000 gross square feet of

          3  space. Providing light manufacturing and warehousing

          4  activity, retail and office space, and about 106

          5  on-site parking spaces for the company, its

          6  employees and customer's vehicles.

          7                 These companies were born and raised

          8  so-to-speak in Brooklyn, and have a 25-year history

          9  of their current home in Clinton Hill, Williamsburg,

         10  of being a well-regarded, growing business that

         11  supports the local community and ours locally.

         12                 EDC urges the Committee to support

         13  the proposal to facilitate the expansion and

         14  consolidation of these companies, and to return to

         15  productive use, this large and very conspicuous

         16  vacant parcel.

         17                 Thank you. I will ask Ray Levin, as

         18  counsel and Land Use consultant to ERMA, to provide

         19  you with particulars of the project, and answer any

         20  questions that you might have.

         21                 MR. LEVIN: My name is Raymond Levin.

         22  I'm with the law firm of Watchell and Nazer. We're

         23  Land Use Counsel to ERMA Realty.

         24                 We've been working on this project

         25  for some time. The companies that Mr. Rivera, who is
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          2  to my right, runs, a waterproofing company and

          3  hardware supply business, are located in an area

          4  where several years ago the City and the Council

          5  voted to change zoning to allow residential use

          6  across the street from this business, and currently

          7  a number of buildings are going up, and they will be

          8  occupied very shortly.

          9                 At that time, the owners of the

         10  business realize that this is probably going to be

         11  problematic for them, and they looked for other

         12  sites in the City that might be good for them.

         13                 They wanted to stay in Brooklyn, and

         14  they found a site on Atlantic Avenue in the northern

         15  part of Ocean Hill, Brownsville.

         16                 Part of the site was owned by the

         17  City and properties were put up for auction which

         18  they purchased. Properties were purchased by them

         19  from private owners. One property is being purchased

         20  from HUD, and there are five additional properties

         21  that are part of the actions that are before you

         22  today.

         23                 Companies moved to this location will

         24  allow them to consolidate their operations and

         25  become more efficient. The rezoning to M-1 has been
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          2  supported by the community board and the Borough

          3  President. The property backs up on small homes on

          4  the adjoining street. There have been some

          5  discussions with the owners of those homes about

          6  helping to improve their rear yards as part of this

          7  project, removing telephone poles, putting cables,

          8  so that they don't detract from those rear yards.

          9  And we believe that since there has not been any

         10  opposition in prior hearings that we've been

         11  successful in working with the neighbors.

         12                 Basically the extent of the project

         13  is extending an M1 zone that runs along Atlantic

         14  Avenue, and I'd like to turn it over to Gilbert

         15  Rivera who runs the company who can tell you about

         16  how it developed in his experiences. Thank you.

         17                 MR. RIVERA: Good morning, and thank

         18  you for listening to us.

         19                 AM&G and Park Avenue Building and

         20  Roofing Supplies has been in business for 25 years.

         21  I grew up in Bed Stuy. When I started, you know, our

         22  business in the neighborhood that we are now, it was

         23  an abandoned neighborhood, and we had a lot to do

         24  with creating what it is today.

         25                 But now on the block where my main
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          2  company, that employs 250 union employees, they're

          3  building, the entire block is being built with

          4  apartment buildings for the Orthodox community,

          5  which is going to be three or four buses coming

          6  through there in the morning and it's a small

          7  street. We can't be there anymore.

          8                 This is why we're moving toward a

          9  commercial strip like Atlantic Avenue, and we're

         10  happy that we were able to find a piece of land that

         11  was big enough to house our business, which is

         12  almost 120,000 square feet total, and bring in

         13  almost 300 jobs, you know, employing 300 people.

         14                 So, we're very happy we were able to

         15  find this lot, and we would appreciate if we can get

         16  your approval on this because I think it would be an

         17  asset for Brownsville, bringing 300 new jobs there,

         18  we're adding new jobs, it's an abandoned lot that's

         19  been empty for 20 something years. So, I think it's

         20  going to be a wonderful project. I think the

         21  community is embracing us with it, and we're a

         22  community-minded company. So, thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If you may, you

         24  may just want to go in for a few minutes how you've

         25  been working with the residents that abut the back
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          2  end of the property and some of the things that

          3  you've been doing for them.

          4                 MR. LEVIN: Sure. We've met with them.

          5  We've contacted them. There are two or three-story

          6  frame houses that front on Pacific Street, which is

          7  a block just south of Atlantic Avenue, which this

          8  facility is going to be constructed.

          9                 Those people have been suffering for

         10  many years with this abandoned lot adjacent to their

         11  property, overgrown, garbage strewn, all sorts of

         12  problems. I guess because of that have not utilized

         13  their rear yard because their rear yards face this

         14  empty lot and it's a problem.

         15                 There's also Long Island Railroad

         16  runs above ground on Atlantic Avenue until it gets

         17  just about to this property and then it goes below

         18  grade. So, there is noise generated from that and

         19  the trucks on Atlantic Avenue, which is a wide

         20  commercial street, a major east/west street in

         21  Brooklyn.

         22                 So as part of this project our

         23  building will have the effect of blocking some of

         24  the noise from Atlantic Avenue. It will also clean

         25  up that lot. But we are going to be, you know, right
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          2  along the rear property line, that's why we keep

          3  going for this special permit at the Board of

          4  Standards, and, so, we wanted to be able to help the

          5  people in improving their rear yard, if they wanted

          6  for us to plant some ivy or something to cover that

          7  wall we would do that. We would do other things in

          8  their rear yard.

          9                 The other thing that -- there are

         10  telephone lines, telephone poles in the rear yards,

         11  that the wires are run above ground and serve as the

         12  houses.

         13                 As part of this project, the

         14  switching station that serves those houses, we've

         15  agreed to put in one of our buildings, the new

         16  building, and we'll run the wires along the rear of

         17  our property so that the telephone poles will be

         18  gone, and that will also help that environment in

         19  the rear of those buildings.

         20                 So, those are the discussions that

         21  we've had, and those are the things that the company

         22  is willing to do.

         23                 MR. RIVERA: One of the things that we

         24  have done, we have an annual block party at the

         25  business that we have now, which is about 15 minutes
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          2  from Atlantic Avenue. And we have invited, for the

          3  last two years we have invited the entire block.

          4                 We have written to them. We have

          5  spoken to the President of the Block Association. We

          6  have invited them to come to our block party to see

          7  how involved we are with the community.

          8                 This is an annual party that I have

          9  for the community and for the kids of the 79th

         10  Precinct, that we have now adopted the precinct in

         11  our neighborhoods.

         12                 We have invited that entire community

         13  block association to our block party.

         14                 And the other thing is that the walls

         15  that face these houses, some of these walls were the

         16  old walls of the buildings that were demolished

         17  years ago. So, some of these walls are in terrible

         18  shape, and our wall that's going to go right through

         19  it. So, we're going to help out their housing, and I

         20  think they understand that.

         21                 MR. LEVIN: The other item is the

         22  trucks. We talked to them about keeping the trucks

         23  off of their street, and therefore the only entrance

         24  and exit for trucks that will be coming to this

         25  facility is on Atlantic Avenue and won't go by any
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          2  of those homes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well, I think

          4  it's obvious to everyone concerned that you've been

          5  an ally to the community that you're in, you'll be

          6  certainly working with the community in the new

          7  location, and I think obviously based upon the

          8  community board vote 27 to zero in favor, is a good

          9  indication of how they're welcoming you into the

         10  community. The Borough President supports it.

         11  Council Member Boyland, it is in her district, she

         12  supports it.

         13                 Council Member Vann.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 Good morning, gentlemen, Mr. Rivera.

         17                 Yes, Mr. Rivera and his organization

         18  is well known throughout Brooklyn, and you have a

         19  reputation for being community-friendly, as you

         20  stated, and I'm sure, as indicated by the community

         21  board, everyone is aware of that.

         22                 I just wanted one point of

         23  clarification. You said you would be creating 300

         24  jobs, or is that a transfer of jobs from the current

         25  site to the proposed new site?
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          2                 MR. RIVERA: No, we employ now 250

          3  employees in one business, and we employ another 30

          4  or 40 in the other business. But because this

          5  facilities is a lot larger and is going to be more

          6  organized than what we have now, we're going to

          7  increase the employees there, probably by about 50

          8  or 60 employees at the new facilities.

          9                 And my son is here, and he's started

         10  to work in the business, and if he decides to bring

         11  it up to 500, God bless him. The possibilities are

         12  all there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay.

         14                 MR. RIVERA: So I think we're going to

         15  increase 30 to 50 employees at the new facilities,

         16  probably within six months after we open up.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So your baseline

         18  employees will remain employed?

         19                 MR. RIVERA: Yes, sir.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If there are no

         22  other questions, thank you, gentlemen.

         23                 We have one person signed up to

         24  speak? Okay, if there is no one else signed up to

         25  speak, I will close the public hearing on this item.
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          2  Thank you, again.

          3                 MR. LEVIN: Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We have one other

          5  item on the agenda, we will take a break before we

          6  begin that, and we will take a vote on all the other

          7  items that we have heard this morning.

          8                 And just to go through it rather

          9  quickly, because I do know that some of my

         10  colleagues have other votes and other committees

         11  that they have to attend.

         12                 The first item on the agenda this

         13  morning was Intro. 369. The Chair recommends

         14  approval of the authorizing resolution. 338 Bedford

         15  Restaurant Corporation. Despite some of the concerns

         16  of the community on this item, this is in Council

         17  Member Reyna's district, there are no existing

         18  violations on the sidewalk cafe. There is absolutely

         19  no reason why it should not be approved. It meets

         20  all the regulations of DCA. The Chair recommends

         21  approval of that application.

         22                 In terms of the two applications on

         23  City Island, Fishbox Restaurant and TP Restaurant

         24  Corporation, which are basically the same owner, as

         25  we heard these are in Madeline Provenzano's
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          2  district. They have numerous existing violations,

          3  and the Chair recommends disapproval of both of

          4  those sidewalk cafe applications.

          5                 The other sidewalk application, 718

          6  Chelsea Corporation, which is in Council Member

          7  Vallone's district, as we heard this morning Council

          8  Member Vallone has worked out an agreement with them

          9  for nine tables and 24 chairs, that's the amendment.

         10  The Chair recommends approval of that in that

         11  respect.

         12                 And the last item we just heard by

         13  ERMA Realty, for the two applications the Chair

         14  recommends approval.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Avella.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Aye.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         18  Quinn.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Pass for the

         20  moment. Sorry.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         22  Gioia.

         23                 (No response.)

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         25  Katz.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          4  McMahon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          7  Vann.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay, if you

         10  want, here's what we'll do to make it even simpler.

         11                 We are voting in favor of Intro. 369,

         12  338 Bedford Restaurant Corporation application; 718

         13  Street Cafe; and ERMA Realty. The Chair recommends

         14  approval of those applications.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: What happened

         16  with the City Island thing?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: That will be the

         18  second vote where we disapprove.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: The second

         20  motion. Gotcha. Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Do the first one.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Avella.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Aye.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         25  Quinn.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Wait a second.

          3  Let's take a few-minute recess.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Would you mind?

          5  Thank you.

          6                 (Recess taken.)

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I'm reconvening

          8  the meeting and asking Counsel to continue the vote.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         10  Quinn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         13  Gioia.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: After a lot of

         15  deliberation, Mr. Chair, I vote yes.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         17  McMahon.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: It's a far,

         19  far better thing I do. I vote aye.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         21  Vann.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Now we will take

         24  the second motion, which is to disapprove the two

         25  City Island sidewalk cafe applications. Fishbox
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          2  Restaurant and TP Restaurant Corp. The Chair

          3  recommends disapproval.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Avella.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Aye, in favor

          6  of the disapproval.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          8  Quinn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         11  Gioia.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes to

         13  disapprove.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         15  McMahon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I vote yes to

         17  disapprove.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         19  Vann.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The vote stands

         22  at five in the affirmative, none in the negative,

         23  and no abstentions, and referred to the full Land

         24  Use Committee.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We will be taking
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          2  a five- to ten-minute break before we go on to the

          3  last item. And I urge my colleagues, I know they

          4  have other Committee meetings, but we do have a very

          5  important Downtown Brooklyn item to be discussed.

          6                 (Recess taken.)

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I will reconvene

          8  this meeting of the Subcommittee on Zoning and

          9  Franchises.

         10                 With me, as before, is Council Member

         11  Christine Quinn, and also joining us this morning

         12  are Council Members Patricia James and David Yassky.

         13                 We are now moving on to the last item

         14  of the day, Land Use Numbers 147 through 165.

         15  Normally I read the application number, but since

         16  there are 19 separate actions, we'll be here all day

         17  if I just read the numbers, so we'll pass that.

         18                 I'd like to call up Commissioner

         19  Amanda Burden to lead the presentation on this very

         20  important action for what is commonly referred to as

         21  the "Downtown Brooklyn rezoning."

         22                 Commissioner.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BURDEN: Chair Avella,

         24  Council Members Quinn, Yassky, James, I'm honored to

         25  be here and to present the Downtown Brooklyn Plan in
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          2  partnership with my staff and my colleagues from the

          3  Economic Development Corporation.

          4                 On May 10th, the City Planning

          5  Commission unanimously approved 22 Land Use actions

          6  as part of the Downtown Brooklyn plan.

          7                 The focus and the foundation of the

          8  plan is to build on the strengths of Metrotech and

          9  the character of the wonderful surrounding

         10  communities.

         11                 These actions would facilitate the

         12  plan's vision for capturing future economic growth

         13  and new jobs by new expanded office building

         14  development, and a new public space near MetroTech,

         15  as well as new retail, academic and residential

         16  development.

         17                 The Commission approved zoning map

         18  changes to transform Willoghby Street into Downtown

         19  Brooklyn next commercial address by upzoning for

         20  offices that will extend MetroTech South, and that

         21  would permit CUNY and Polytechnic University to

         22  realize their expansion plans by being able to

         23  partner with an office developer.

         24                 From the first time since the

         25  construction of the Manhattan Bridge we are planning
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          2  for the redevelopment of Flatbush Avenue, by

          3  responding to the community's desire to replace the

          4  automotive district with housing and by

          5  concentrating our streetscape efforts to make

          6  Flatbush Avenue truly a gateway to Downtown Brooklyn

          7  and to Fort Green.

          8                 The new park planned for Willoughby

          9  Street will create a sense of place that will shape

         10  the future of Downtown Brooklyn in a very positive

         11  way. The park will create a real estate address and

         12  it will serve workers, shoppers and residents alike.

         13  It will provide a place for cafes, a meeting place,

         14  as well as a great public amenity and attraction.

         15  And it will serve to incentivise investment in the

         16  Downtown.

         17                 We have approved special districts

         18  controls that promote the pedestrian experience

         19  throughout Downtown Brooklyn.

         20                 With requirements for street tree

         21  planting, retail frontage and new storefronts, as

         22  well as curb cut controls to aid pedestrian safety

         23  and bicycle parking to promote alternative means of

         24  travel.

         25                 Street tree planting will be required
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          2  throughout, including both the north and south sides

          3  of Myrtle Avenue.

          4                 In response to comments received from

          5  the local community board, the Borough President,

          6  Council members and at the Commission's public

          7  hearing in March, the Department did revise the

          8  plan.

          9                 The main changes were the following:

         10                 First. In an effort to minimize

         11  condemnation, and in recognition of the school's

         12  contribution to Downtown Brooklyn, the Institute of

         13  Design and Construction, IDC, was removed from the

         14  Brooklyn Center Urban Renewal Plan, thereby

         15  maintaining the school in its current location.

         16                 The site was originally selected to

         17  become a park so as to open up the entrance to the

         18  Willoughby Street office corridor and the Willoughby

         19  Street open space. The site will not be upzoned.

         20                 Second. The Brooklyn Law School

         21  voiced concerns over the designation of an urban

         22  renewal site at Red Hook Lane for the school-owned

         23  property and has active plans to expand.

         24                 In response, language was added to

         25  the Brooklyn Center Urban Renewal Plan, reserving
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          2  not less than 100,000 square feet for post graduate

          3  space on that site.

          4                 Third. To minimize condemnation and

          5  to facilitate the development of Long Island

          6  University classroom space, several other previously

          7  designated but never acquired urban renewal sites on

          8  Livingston and Fulton Streets were removed from the

          9  Brooklyn Center Urban Renewal Plan.

         10                 Fourth. At the suggestion of Council

         11  Member Latitia James, no change will be made to the

         12  Land Use designation for the existing urban renewal

         13  site 6A. It remains commercial and was removed from

         14  the list of sites proposed for disposition.

         15                 Fifth. Also in response to concerns

         16  voiced by Council Member James, we have agreed to

         17  add a height limit of 400 feet for new development

         18  along the East Side of Flatbush Avenue to recognize

         19  the critical relationship to the adjacent

         20  neighborhood of Forest Green.

         21                 Sixth. Concerning historic

         22  preservation, both City Planning and EDC have been

         23  working closely with the Landmarks Preservation

         24  Commission, which has been keenly interested in

         25  Downtown Brooklyn's historic built fabric.
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          2                 Through the leadership of Chair

          3  Robert Tierney, LPC has calendared two buildings for

          4  review on Willoughby Street. The former New York and

          5  New Jersey Telephone Company building at 81

          6  Willoughby Street, and the Verizon Building at 101

          7  Willoughby Street.

          8                 Chair Tierney expects both these

          9  buildings to be designated shortly.

         10                 As part of the environmental review

         11  for the Downtown Brooklyn rezoning, Landmarks has

         12  also identified a number of buildings that they

         13  believe are eligible for consideration as New York

         14  City landmarks.

         15                 Landmarks Preservation Commission has

         16  begun the outreach process to the owners of 308 to

         17  310 Livingston Street, 1 Hoyt Street and 248

         18  Duffield Street.

         19                 Finally, I would like to note that

         20  during the public review process, the Commission

         21  received testimony about the properties on Duffield

         22  Street having association with the underground

         23  railroad.

         24                 Josh Sirefman from EDC will be

         25  describing the extensive research completed by
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          2  expert consultants to determine whether there is a

          3  link of this property to that historic movement.

          4                 I will now turn the floor over to

          5  Josh Sirefman at the EDC to discuss the plan's

          6  rationale, and its expected impact on New York

          7  City's future.

          8                 Thank you. And we look forward to

          9  your questions.

         10                 MR. SIREFMAN: Thank you, Commissioner

         11  Burden.

         12                 Chairman Avella, Council members,

         13  thank you. On behalf of EDC President Alper, all of

         14  my colleagues at EDC, it's an honor to be here

         15  today.

         16                 I'm also very pleased to be here with

         17  Commissioner Burden and all of her colleagues from

         18  City Planning, as well as my other colleagues from

         19  throughout the Bloomberg Administration, to present

         20  our vision for Downtown Brooklyn.

         21                 Before I begin, I'd like to

         22  acknowledge how fortunate this part of Brooklyn is

         23  to have two determined, thoughtful and effective

         24  advocates representing it in this body. Council

         25  Member David Yassky and Council Member Tish James
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          2  never miss an opportunity to share their perspective

          3  with us.

          4                 It's no doubt that because of their

          5  input and advice, the plan before you is better

          6  today then when first conceived.

          7                 Similarly, Borough President Marty

          8  Markowitz, Community Board 2, and dozens of local

          9  civic organizations have all been consulted and

         10  worked with and the plan has evolved based on their

         11  extensive and high quality input.

         12                 Let me also acknowledge the Downtown

         13  Brooklyn Council. An off-shoot of the Brooklyn

         14  Chamber of Commerce that was created approximately

         15  four years ago to find ways to bolster the

         16  commercial district in Downtown Brooklyn.

         17                 In many ways it was DBC's initial

         18  effort that brought us here today.

         19                 As you know, the Downtown Brooklyn

         20  Plan is one of a series of strategic economic

         21  development initiatives now underway in New York

         22  City.

         23                 In fact, it's the first major Land

         24  Use plan sponsored by the Bloomberg Administration

         25  to reach the City Council. And I hope you share our
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          2  enthusiasm for the plan, the process that brought it

          3  here, and most importantly the benefit it will reap

          4  for Downtown Brooklyn and the City's economic

          5  future.

          6                 While this plan has been in formation

          7  for the past couple of years, in many ways it's been

          8  taking place for quite some time.

          9                 Downtown Brooklyn has always been a

         10  center of commerce reigned by some of the best

         11  residential communities in the City.

         12                 Today Downtown Brooklyn is known as

         13  the diverse and economically resurgent Metropolitan

         14  Community. With the enactment of this plan, Downtown

         15  Brooklyn can continue to revolve and reach its

         16  potential. It will continue to be an urban center

         17  that balances a grand vision of Citywide economic

         18  growth, the aspirations and needs of the community.

         19                 By creating the opportunity for 4.5

         20  million square feet of commercial space, almost 1

         21  million square foot of retail space in 1,000 units

         22  of mixed income housing, the plan will capitalize on

         23  the district's assets and help shape the City's

         24  future.

         25                 New York City needs to focus on
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          2  retaining and growing its employment base. While the

          3  City is home to nearly 3 million jobs, a share of

          4  regional employment is falling. In 2000 alone, 32

          5  New York City companies relocated to New Jersey,

          6  taking with them 9,000 jobs.

          7                 In the last economic upswing, New

          8  York City lost jobs due to our lack of ready

          9  development opportunities.

         10                 The jobs that moved to new space

         11  built in New Jersey and elsewhere equate to a loss

         12  of $150 million annually, and that's just New

         13  Jersey. That would be enough revenue for the City to

         14  pay for more than 4,000 teachers or 3,600 police

         15  officers.

         16                 When companies leave, New York City

         17  residents lose their jobs, and the City loses its

         18  ability to gain revenues to fund services.

         19                 To further prevent any migration and

         20  to enhance the City's competitive position within

         21  the region, this Administration is dedicated to

         22  providing an array of market options, including

         23  affordable office space for businesses looking to

         24  expand or disperse their operations.

         25                 These options can be provided by
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          2  readying key sites in the right neighborhoods for

          3  development.

          4                 The development made possible by the

          5  plan brings with it over 18,000 permanent jobs and

          6  8,000 construction jobs.

          7                 However, the plan for Downtown

          8  Brooklyn is more than a plan for new buildings. We

          9  are committed to workforce development and job

         10  training programs that link new employment

         11  opportunities to people who live in the area on both

         12  sides of Flatbush Avenue.

         13                 Moreover, we believe that Flatbush

         14  Avenue is more than a route that leads people to

         15  pass through to other parts of the borough. It's the

         16  core that helps define communities and links them to

         17  one another. That's why City Planning Commissioner

         18  Burden is right to assist on providing for a total

         19  revamping of Flatbush Avenue.

         20                 As Commissioner Burden said, under

         21  this plan the area's universities and colleges is

         22  already attracting 30,000 students, will have the

         23  ability to grow reaffirming the Borough's position

         24  as one of the largest, most vibrant college towns in

         25  America.
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          2                 The plan is visionary, balanced and

          3  ambitious. As such, it understandable to raise

          4  issues amongst many people who live and work in the

          5  area.

          6                 Among the issues that have been

          7  identified are the use of eminent domain, the

          8  impacts of traffic and parking, workforce

          9  development and opportunity for local residents,

         10  historic preservation, the creation of additional

         11  open space and improvements to existing parks, and

         12  the need to create a mix of housing options.

         13                 Please allow me to take a few minutes

         14  to spell out how the plan addresses these issues.

         15                 Urban renewal. Implementation of the

         16  Downtown Brooklyn plan is based on a simple but

         17  critical strategy. Projects will be built in concert

         18  with the market. Our goal is to minimize any

         19  acquisition of property and to exercise the use of

         20  eminent domain cautiously.

         21                 We will make all efforts to minimize

         22  residential and commercial displacement, and we will

         23  work tirelessly and compassionately to ensure that

         24  all residents and businesses that are displaced are

         25  treated fairly.
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          2                 The New York City Department of

          3  Housing Preservation and Development is committing

          4  to addressing these concerns with appropriate

          5  staffing and resources.

          6                 In addition, EDC has hired the

          7  cornerstone group headed by Gary Curry to assist

          8  this process.

          9                 Both Gary Curry and representatives

         10  from HPD will be testifying and available for

         11  further discussion.

         12                 Traffic and parking. We know that

         13  traffic and parking issues are of paramount concern

         14  to the community surrounding Downtown Brooklyn.

         15                 An extensive EIS has been prepared

         16  assessing the impacts of the plan. Our consultants

         17  are available today to further discuss the findings

         18  in that area.

         19                 It's important to note that our

         20  efforts to address traffic and parking issues are

         21  not limited to those solutions suggested in the EIS.

         22                 As many of you know, there are a

         23  number of recent ongoing initiatives that DOT,

         24  Department of Transportation believes will improve

         25  conditions in Downtown Brooklyn, both now and as the

                                                            76

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  plan is implemented.

          3                 These include the hiring of a

          4  full-time Downtown Brooklyn Transportation

          5  Coordinator, a gentleman named Ryan Russo, who is

          6  here as well, whose sole job is to worry about

          7  transportation issues in Downtown Brooklyn.

          8                 DOT is also working aggressively to

          9  reduce the amount of on-street parking taken by

         10  government vehicles. Thirty percent reduction in

         11  curb spaces reserved for public officials is going

         12  into effect this month. DOT has identified a

         13  strategy to ensure that this reduction creates

         14  opportunities for parking on residential streets.

         15                 The City is also finalizing

         16  discussions that provide parking for 150 publicly

         17  permitted vehicles in MetroTech that are currently

         18  parking on downtown streets.

         19                 NYPD has agreed to increase

         20  enforcement efforts between January and April of

         21  this year ticketing for major violations increased

         22  by more than 140 percent, compared to the same

         23  period a year ago.

         24                 The NYPD is also aggressively

         25  enforcing illegal parking by publicly permitted
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          2  vehicles in Downtown Brooklyn No Permit Zones, and

          3  is ticketing all cars utilizing expired, falsified

          4  and unofficial permits.

          5                 Starting very soon, DOT and the

          6  Downtown Brooklyn Council will gather and analyze

          7  parking data, conform evaluation of a residential

          8  parking permit pilot program in neighborhoods

          9  surrounding downtown.

         10                 This will lead to a pilot program

         11  should the study find that commuter vehicles make up

         12  a significant percentage of vehicles parked in

         13  residential neighborhoods.

         14                 Additionally, the Downtown Brooklyn

         15  Council has begun the formation of a Downtown

         16  Brooklyn Transportation Management Association to

         17  increase the role of the business community in

         18  traffic reduction strategies.

         19                 And, finally, in light of the

         20  Downtown Plan, DOT has moved up funding. Several

         21  projects that came out of previous work in the

         22  Downtown Brooklyn Traffic Calming Study to Fiscal

         23  Years '06 and '07, rather than '09, as they were

         24  before.

         25                 Economic development are clearly one
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          2  of the key goals for the Downtown Plan. We agree

          3  with elected officials, and many in the community,

          4  that it is important to make all efforts possible to

          5  provide opportunities and jobs to local residents.

          6                 Towards this end, we have been

          7  working with the Department of Small Business

          8  Services and the Downtown Brooklyn Advisory and

          9  Oversight Committee, which was established to

         10  develop programs and outreach that will allow

         11  minorities and woman-owned businesses and local

         12  residents to participate in Downtown Brooklyn's

         13  growth.

         14                 Through their efforts and involved

         15  developers, their track record has been 140 million

         16  in contracts, 22 percent of total work in Downtown

         17  Brooklyn previously have been awarded to minority

         18  and woman-owned business enterprises.

         19                 I'd like to specifically thank Bill

         20  Howell and Monica Foster for their ongoing efforts

         21  on this issue.

         22                 The Downtown Brooklyn Council has

         23  also been a great partner in this particular aspect

         24  of the plan, and Michael Burke from DDC is available

         25  later, if you have further questions.
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          2                 We're also continuing to work closely

          3  with Rob Walsh in the Department of Small Business

          4  Services to actively link new jobs in the Downtown

          5  Brooklyn area for local residents.

          6                 Commissioner Walsh I know will be

          7  here in a bit to speak about this in further detail.

          8  She's already off to a great start this spring. When

          9  SBS opened a one-stop center for job training and

         10  workforce development a few blocks away at Fulton

         11  and Bond Street.

         12                 SBS has also recently announced local

         13  hiring commitments made by businesses moving into

         14  Atlantic Terminal, as well as a consultant hired to

         15  work with Steiner Studios to reach out to local

         16  residents, primarily with the focus on Whitman and

         17  Ingersol House.

         18                 Historic preservation and the

         19  underground railroad. Commissioner Burden spoke to

         20  issues of historic preservation within the plan and

         21  mentioned the underground railroad.

         22                 I'd like to speak directly to the

         23  issues that have been raised regarding the

         24  underground railroad, the extraordinary network of

         25  safe houses and personal guides assisting runaway
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          2  slaves in their escape to freedom.

          3                 It is certainly well known that

          4  Brooklyn played a significant role in the

          5  abolitionist movement to assist in the plight of

          6  African-American slaves to freedom.

          7                 Plymouth Church, in Brooklyn Heights,

          8  under the Reverend Henry Ward Beecher and Lafayette

          9  Presbyterian Church in Fort Greene under the

         10  Reverend Theodore Cuyler were centers of the

         11  abolitionist movement.

         12                 Both are preserved, protected and

         13  fully recognized.

         14                 The second home of the Bridge Street

         15  AME Church, now the Polytechnic University Student

         16  Center, was also a center of the underground

         17  railroad.

         18                 The building is also preserved,

         19  protected and acknowledged.

         20                 During the course of the public

         21  review process, three property owners on a proposed

         22  development site in Downtown Brooklyn claim that

         23  their buildings had also been stops or safe houses

         24  along the underground railroad.

         25                 We have taken these claims very
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          2  seriously and undertaken extensive research to

          3  explore their potential.

          4                 The Department of City Planning and

          5  EDC directed our consultants at AKRF to research

          6  this claim and requested that the property owners in

          7  question provide us with information to assist in

          8  the process.

          9                 Jennifer Morris and Lin Doh from AKRF

         10  are here today to answer any specific questions you

         11  may have about this work, though I will attempt to

         12  describe in brief the research they completed and

         13  their findings.

         14                 The standard criteria that has been

         15  applied preserving the history of the underground

         16  railroad was established by the National Park

         17  Service as requirements for listing with the

         18  National Register of Historic Places.

         19                 To meet these criteria, these three

         20  buildings would need to, one, possess a documentable

         21  association with some underground railroad event or

         22  person, and to retain their physical integrity from

         23  the pre-civil war period.

         24                 Or, be likely to yield archeological

         25  information important to the history of the
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          2  underground railroad.

          3                 It is also important to evaluate the

          4  potential significance of sites in the context of

          5  other existing properties that may have the same

          6  representative values.

          7                 Because much of the legacy regarding

          8  many homes throughout the United States that were

          9  safe houses in the underground railroad is

         10  anecdotal. AKRF's to verify whether a site meets the

         11  National Park Service's criteria began with

         12  documentary research to confirm the oral history.

         13                 Resources used to investigate these

         14  claims include New York City Municipal Archives;

         15  Department of Buildings and City Register; census

         16  records; historical maps; CD directories and local

         17  newspapers, particularly the Brooklyn Daily Eagle,

         18  and the New York Times.

         19                 Representatives from a number of

         20  agencies, organizations and institutions were also

         21  contacted for any information that they might be

         22  able to provide, including the National Park

         23  Service, New York State Office of Parks, Recreation

         24  and Historic Preservation, the New York City

         25  Landmarks Preservation Commission, the Brooklyn and
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          2  Queens Historical Society, the Museum of the City of

          3  New York, New York Historical Society, the New York

          4  Public Library, Schomburg Center for Research and

          5  Black Culture, the Weeksville Museum and the Bridge

          6  Street Church.

          7                 The owners of the three buildings

          8  were also consulted regarding any documentation they

          9  might have related to their claims.

         10                 What did this research uncover?

         11  Research to date indicates that none of the early

         12  owners or occupants' names can be traced to a known

         13  African American family or to an abolitionist

         14  activist who may have offered their home as a safe

         15  house, nor to anyone associated with historic

         16  events.

         17                 Research also shows the buildings do

         18  not retain their original integrity.

         19                 For example, the building at 436 Gold

         20  Street was extensively remodeled with a new front in

         21  the late 19th Century and 277 Duffield was extended

         22  and remodeled in the 20th Century.

         23                 The most authentic looking building

         24  of the three at 233 Duffield appears to have had a

         25  story added since its original construction.
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          2                 Accordingly, the buildings do not

          3  meet the National Park Service criteria.

          4                 These findings have been incorporated

          5  into the final environmental impact statement for

          6  the plan.

          7                 We will continue our research and

          8  welcome submission of any new information that is

          9  identified.

         10                 Should any additional information

         11  come to light during the implementation of the plan,

         12  we are committed to recording the buildings,

         13  conducting archeological investigations and

         14  preserving any artifacts in order to learn more

         15  about the underground railroad legacy in Downtown

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 Another aspect of the plan that

         18  Commissioner Burden mentioned is open space.

         19                 The Centerpiece of the Downtown

         20  Brooklyn Plan is the fabulous public space on

         21  Willoughby Street, serving Downtown workers and

         22  local residents, in creating a commercial address

         23  for the extension of the commercial core.

         24                 However, the plan isn't only about

         25  creating new space. It's also about improving and
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          2  enhancing the existing part to play a significant

          3  role in the quality of life in the surrounding

          4  community.

          5                 One example of these is Cadman Plaza

          6  Park. We are exploring with Councilman Yassky how we

          7  can help improve this local resource.

          8                 Two others are Fort Greene and

          9  McLaughlin Park in Fort Greene. We are working with

         10  Council Member James to identify opportunities to

         11  support these community assets as well.

         12                 The final piece of the plan that

         13  speaks to numerous concern, affordable housing.

         14                 Residential development opportunities

         15  created by the Downtown Brooklyn Plan will

         16  facilitate the development of a critical mass of

         17  affordable housing in Downtown Brooklyn.

         18                 The City, through HPD and its Housing

         19  Development Corporation, is committed to

         20  aggressively leveraging its financing programs, tax

         21  incentives and property assemblages to foster the

         22  creation of affordable housing within the Downtown

         23  Brooklyn area.

         24                 To ensure that existing residents

         25  have priority access to newly created affordable
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          2  units, HPD will require that 50 percent of

          3  affordable units in all City-funded projects within

          4  the plan area be targeted for occupancy by local

          5  residents.

          6                 It's worth noting the Bloomberg

          7  Administration established a strong record of

          8  creating affordable housing in Downtown Brooklyn.

          9  HPD is funding the development of over 200

         10  affordable housing units in the Hoyt, Schmerhorn

         11  lots, and is creating 64 affordable condominiums at

         12  the Atlantic Common site on Atlantic Avenue.

         13                 We're also currently in discussions

         14  with private developers about the creation of new

         15  affordable housing units on land slated for zoning

         16  within the Downtown Brooklyn Plan on Myrtle Avenue.

         17                 In closing, let me reemphasize

         18  something I said earlier. This is the first in a

         19  series of major land use planning and economic

         20  development initiatives put forth by the Bloomberg

         21  Administration to reach the City Council.

         22                 All of these initiatives are

         23  committed to improving the quality of life of New

         24  York diversifying our economy and improving the

         25  business climate as well.

                                                            87

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2                 For our part, I believe we have

          3  worked very hard to heed the advice and guidance of

          4  both Council members and the community. We have

          5  worked to balance the need of the community with the

          6  goal of economic development for the entire City.

          7                 I believe we have set the stage for a

          8  truly vibrant dynamic Downtown Brooklyn.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 (Outburst from audience.)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We allow the City

         12  representatives to give the presentation of the plan

         13  enough time to explain it.

         14                 We will then have public testimony.

         15  If I can, before you speak, you've obviously put a

         16  lot of time into this, do you think you could put a

         17  little more time into it and give us copies of your

         18  testimony? Because we're like dying to make copies

         19  of your testimony, Commissioner, and now we don't

         20  have your testimony either. So, if you can give it

         21  to the Sergeant-At-Arms or your staff, let's get

         22  some copies.

         23                 MS. BURDEN: Chair Avella, we will get

         24  you copies, not only because I revised mine a little

         25  bit as well, so we'll get you copies immediately
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          2  after the testimony. We apologize for not having it

          3  in your hands before.

          4                 Could I take two seconds to just say

          5  good morning to Council Members Vann and Baez, who I

          6  didn't acknowledge earlier, and also to introduce

          7  the Director of the Brooklyn office of City

          8  Planning, Regina Myer, who has created, shepherded

          9  and revised this plan and want to acknowledge here.

         10  Thanks.

         11                 Chris, sorry.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CIRILLO: Thank

         13  you. Good morning, Council members. My name is Chris

         14  Cirillo. I'm the Assistant Commissioner for

         15  Neighborhood Planning at the Department of Housing

         16  Preservation and Development. I am joined today by

         17  Carol Clarke, our Assistant Commissioner for Local

         18  Legislative Affairs.

         19                 HPD is pleased to be participating in

         20  this major revitalization effort for Downtown

         21  Brooklyn.

         22                 As you know, HPD represents the City

         23  in carrying out the provisions of the Urban Renewal

         24  Law and acts as the coordinating agency with respect

         25  to the acquisition of privately-owned properties,
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          2  relocation of residential and commercial tenants and

          3  demolition.

          4                 We have submitted amendments for the

          5  Brooklyn Center, Atlantic Terminal and Metrotech

          6  Urban Renewal Plan that will facilitate the Downtown

          7  Brooklyn Project.

          8                 The Brooklyn Center Urban Renewal

          9  Plan is the main focus and the implementation of the

         10  plan will involve the acquisition in property,

         11  relocation of residential and commercial tenants and

         12  demolition of some of those properties in a phased

         13  plan.

         14                 The Brooklyn Center and Atlantic

         15  Terminal Urban Renewal Plans were modified from

         16  their original submissions on April 29th in response

         17  to testimony received during the public review and

         18  at the City Planning Commission's public hearing.

         19                 The modification to the Brooklyn

         20  Center Urban Renewal Plan has reduced the estimated

         21  number of commercial relocatees.

         22                 The total relocation for the proposed

         23  Downtown Brooklyn project is now estimated at

         24  approximately 131 residential units and

         25  approximately 97 business over the next ten years.
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          2                 The first phase of the project will

          3  facilitate the development of the Willoughby Square

          4  open space and below grade parking on a portion of

          5  tax block 146.

          6                 Relocation for this phase is

          7  estimated to be 45 residential units and eight

          8  businesses.

          9                 HPD staff members have had the

         10  opportunity to speak and/or meet with all of the

         11  property owners affected by this phase of the

         12  project.

         13                 As part of the ULURP process, HPD has

         14  notified all affected property owners at the

         15  community board, borough president and City Planning

         16  Commission public hearings, and HPD staff members

         17  have had the opportunity to speak with more than 160

         18  of the affected property owners and tenants in a

         19  variety of different forums.

         20                 Most of the property owner and tenant

         21  concerns that have been expressed in these

         22  discussions have centered on the details of the

         23  proposal, the project time frame, and the relocation

         24  assistance and benefits that would be available.

         25                 I would like to emphasize that the
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          2  property owners and tenants affected by these urban

          3  renewal actions will be treated fairly, respectfully

          4  and with dignity.

          5                 HPD has extensive experience in

          6  handling the acquisition of privately-owned property

          7  and a relocation of residential and commercial

          8  tenants.

          9                 We understand the difficulties caused

         10  by any urban renewal action, and we are committed to

         11  working with the affected property owners and the

         12  residential and commercial tenants to meet their

         13  needs throughout this multi-year process.

         14                 The relocation process will begin at

         15  the time that property owners should vest (sic) with

         16  the City. Relocation benefits for displaced tenants,

         17  both residential and commercial, as well as

         18  displaced homeowners, are governed by regulations

         19  outlined in the rules of the City of New York,

         20  Section 18-04.

         21                 Immediately after condemnation,

         22  affected residential and commercial tenants will be

         23  notified in writing that the City has acquired title

         24  to the property.

         25                 Tenants will be sent an information
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          2  letter and a packet of information explaining the

          3  City's relocation benefits.

          4                 The relocation manager assigned to

          5  each building will meet with each residential tenant

          6  to explain in detail the relocation payments and

          7  services available under the rules governing

          8  relocation and will assess each household's

          9  particular housing needs.

         10                 Housing referrals and counseling will

         11  be provided. Relocation payments provided by HPD for

         12  residential tenants include moving expenses,

         13  dislocation allowances, replacement housing payments

         14  and for former owner occupants who wish to purchase

         15  new homes a downpayment assistant payment.

         16                 In addition, the downpayment

         17  assistant payment may be available for current

         18  tenants who wish to purchase homes when relocating.

         19                 The relocation payments provided by

         20  HPD for commercial tenants and moving expenses,

         21  dislocation allowances and fix rewards.

         22                 HPD, DDC and the Cornerstone Group

         23  will work together with the affected residents and

         24  commercial tenants to assist each in identifying

         25  potential new locations.
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          2                 Every effort will be made to refer

          3  tenants to apartments that are in Community District

          4  2 or an adjacent neighborhood, or in other

          5  neighborhoods of the City, if the tenants so choose.

          6                 All urban renewal relocatees receive

          7  priority status in City-owned housing projects for

          8  apartments or homes in projects sponsored by the

          9  City.

         10                 HPD has identified a range of

         11  possible housing resources in Community District 2

         12  for tenants displaced by the relocation from the

         13  Brooklyn Center Urban Renewal Plan.

         14                 There are approximately 1,000

         15  residential units that are currently under

         16  construction or redevelopment in Downtown Brooklyn,

         17  including approximately 400 low-income units which

         18  could potentially serve as relocation resources.

         19                 These include, among others, the

         20  Atlantic Court Apartments, a 320-unit project that

         21  includes 64 units affordable to low-income families

         22  that is scheduled for completion by 2006.

         23                 New residential projects in the

         24  Schermerhorn Pacific Urban Renewal Area that will

         25  create 589 units, including 216 affordable to
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          2  low-income families by 2007, and a project developed

          3  through HPD's cornerstone program will create 64

          4  units of affordable housing in the Atlantic Terminal

          5  Urban Renewal Area.

          6                 We will continue to identify other

          7  potential relocation resources as the Downtown

          8  Brooklyn Project moves forward.

          9                 Thank you, and that concludes our

         10  testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you for

         12  that presentation.

         13                 I'm sure we're going to have a number

         14  of questions. As a courtesy, I'll ask Council Member

         15  James and Yassky if they'd like to go first. Council

         16  Member James.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: We'll just say

         18  it's reverse alphabetical. Thank you.

         19                 Thank you very much, Commissioner

         20  Burden, and Mr. Sirefman. And thank you for your

         21  kind words about our participation.

         22                 I want to say for my part, not as a

         23  result of our efforts necessarily, but I do think

         24  the plan is a better one. They are, and you know,

         25  something like this that it's so large, so
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          2  comprehensive, not having such a significant impact,

          3  there can be a tendency to focus on the shortcomings

          4  of the proposal and ignore the benefits because it's

          5  the shortcomings that need remedying. But I do want

          6  to say at the outset the context for this I think we

          7  should all be mindful of is that we do need to make

          8  sure that good high-paying jobs stay and come to New

          9  York City. I see the genesis really of this

         10  proposal, in fact in the study of the group of 35

         11  can be by Senator Schumer some time ago, that

         12  identified Downtown Brooklyn as a necessary site to

         13  be able to offer to major employers, and Chair

         14  Burden, you have taken that inside and developed it,

         15  and so I think the basic rationale is a sound one.

         16                 My concern has been of course that

         17  while development in Downtown Brooklyn is good for

         18  the City and good for Brooklyn that it must also be

         19  at least not harmful to and if possible good for the

         20  surrounding neighborhoods, and in particular it's

         21  been my concern to ensure that the neighborhoods of

         22  Downtown Brooklyn and the residents of Downtown

         23  Brooklyn itself, do not find themselves overrun by

         24  commuter traffic, and have the open space necessary

         25  for quality of life commensurate with all the new
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          2  residents and workers that we expect the development

          3  to bring.

          4                 These were initially parts of the

          5  plan where I felt did need improvement, and I do

          6  believe that you've improved it quite significantly.

          7  I want to say particularly the work you're doing on

          8  the off-street parking for government employees and

          9  the reduction in entry spaces that will free up more

         10  parking in the neighborhood, I think that the plan

         11  that you've outlined for generating some data as to

         12  the prevalence of commuter parking in and around

         13  downtown, leading to, if the data bears to that,

         14  which I believe it will, the implementation of a

         15  pilot program for residential parking permits.

         16                 I think those are very important

         17  steps and I really commend you for taking them. And

         18  on the open space your commitment to improvement to

         19  Cadman Park area and the parks in Fort Greene that

         20  you've mentioned, I think are very significant.

         21                 The truth is Cadman Park is a fair

         22  amount of open space, that if redesigned and

         23  improved, I think would go a long way to addressing

         24  some of the open space deficits in the surrounding

         25  neighborhoods.
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          2                 So, I want to say those are

          3  improvements I think are material, and I know we

          4  still have some details to work out on all of those

          5  fronts, but it is my expectation that those details

          6  will be worked out and I will support the plan.

          7                 I have a couple of questions

          8  remaining. One is on the issue of the preservation

          9  of historic resources downtown, and I understand

         10  that there are two properties calendared by

         11  Landmarks Preservation and I think you identified

         12  three others in your testimony, Chair Burden, as

         13  being subject to inquiry or possible. You know,

         14  they're under consideration for possible calendaring

         15  by Landmarks Preservation.

         16                 I don't know which of you is here

         17  kind of speaking for this, but the Brooklyn Heights

         18  Association and other interested folks in

         19  preservation of historic resources have applied now

         20  to Landmarks Preservation for I believe it's 28

         21  specific properties that they've identified,

         22  primarily on Fulton Street but in the Downtown area

         23  that are potentially worthy of landmark status.

         24                 Can you tell me that the Landmarks

         25  Preservation Commission will consider that request?
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          2                 In other words, I understand that

          3  calendaring is a further step, but we'll look at

          4  those properties and evaluate each of them as to

          5  whether or not there is appropriateness for historic

          6  resources, for historic preservation?

          7                 MS. BURDEN: I know that Chairman

          8  Tierney has spent a lot of time on Fulton Street

          9  down there, I think he knows every building by

         10  heart, and he's keenly interested. I think I'll have

         11  to ask him to respond directly about what their

         12  plans are for Fulton Street. As I say, I know he's

         13  keenly, keenly interested, and he feels that the

         14  historic fabric can only enhance, by enhancing the

         15  historic fabric can only enhance all of Downtown

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 So, I will ask him to get answers to

         18  you directly because my guess is he'll have a

         19  positive response.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, thank

         21  you. And again, just to be clear, I understand that

         22  the process as it operates in practice, formal

         23  consideration, calendaring for consideration by the

         24  Commission is kind of a significant step in itself,

         25  and I'm not asking that you do this at this time for
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          2  each of those 28, but simply that the Commission do

          3  look at them and, you know, give some thought as to

          4  whether, in an informal way, I suppose, as to

          5  whether it's appropriate.

          6                 MS. BURDEN: I will ask him and

          7  encourage him.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

          9                 And then the second question I've got

         10  I guess is more for the City Planning Commission, or

         11  City Planning Department, whether you can take a

         12  look at, and, again, in a -- not a formal way, but

         13  in an informal way but that does lead to some

         14  thought within your Department and then some

         15  dialogue with the interested community, as to

         16  whether the use of transfer development rights for

         17  properties that do have historic resource, that are

         18  historically valuable, is a way to preserve those

         19  buildings; is that something that you could do?

         20                 MS. BURDEN: We certainly could look

         21  at it.

         22                 Is there anything that you want to

         23  add to that, Regina?

         24                 MS. MYER: Yes. This is something we

         25  definitely could look at. We need to also look at
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          2  that with Landmarks every closely, since of course

          3  you need to have a landmark in order to transfer

          4  development rights from it. So, I think this would

          5  have to be a joint inquiry between the Department

          6  and the Landmarks Commission.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, very

          8  good.

          9                 I know that Council Member James is

         10  going to raise in particular the question of the

         11  Duffield properties that may have connection to the

         12  underground railroad. I want to say that I share

         13  Council Member James' concerns, but she's going to

         14  speak directly to that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just want to

         16  interrupt for a moment because Council Member Baez

         17  has another meeting to go to, and I'd like her just

         18  to have an opportunity to vote on the other items

         19  that we voted on this morning.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         21  Baez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: I vote aye on

         23  all, and I abstain on preconsidered 20045533 TCX,

         24  and LU No. 14620045399 TCX.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I have no more

          5  questions now. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good morning,

          7  Chairperson Burden, Amanda, Josh, Chris and Carol. I

          8  call them all by their first names, I hope you don't

          9  mind. We've been meeting on a regular basis and so

         10  we've gotten kind of close.

         11                 First let me thank the City

         12  Administration for its diligent and thoughtful

         13  consideration of all of my concerns. My concerns

         14  with regard to open space, the fact that we're

         15  working on Fort Greene Park and Rockland Park, the

         16  fact that you have removed site 6A from the plan,

         17  the fact that you have provided me with height

         18  restrictions on Flatbush Avenue, you provided me

         19  with streetscaping and treescaping on Myrtle Avenue,

         20  you've provided me with affordable housing on Myrtle

         21  Avenue, a 50/30/20 formula, you have provided me

         22  with employment opportunity and business

         23  opportunities for minority and women-owned

         24  businesses, you've also provided a very thoughtful

         25  relocation plan, and I just again want to publicly
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          2  thank this administration for working with me and

          3  addressing a lot of my concerns. And part of it has

          4  to do with the fact that the MetroTech North before,

          5  way, way before I ever thought about entering into

          6  politics, if you can believe it, I recognize that

          7  Metrotech in my mind appears to be an isolated

          8  enclave onto itself, and it appears to me that there

          9  are no benefits to the local community, particularly

         10  the community of Fort Greene and the residents of

         11  Ingersol and Whitman, who are literally one block

         12  away from MetroTech.

         13                 As we go forward with the development

         14  of MetroTech South, the commercial, academic and

         15  residential development, it's really important to me

         16  that the local community be a part of it, and they

         17  benefit from all this development Downtown, in

         18  Downtown Brooklyn.

         19                 But having said all of that, I

         20  recognize that in Downtown Brooklyn, as I walk the

         21  streets and as I've looked at the homes on Duffield

         22  Street and have gone into the subterranean in the

         23  basements, I recognize that they are a voyage to the

         24  living past. I recognize that they represent history

         25  of our borough, this country, and the legacy of
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          2  African Americans, and so much of our history has

          3  been lost as a result of all of the development and

          4  it's really important that we preserve it and we

          5  balance the interest of development against the

          6  interest of preserving our past. And so that is why

          7  I'm very much concerned about the homes on Duffield

          8  Street, as well as the architecturally significant

          9  buildings that Councilman Yassky mentioned earlier,

         10  and that we, again, do all that we can to landmark

         11  those buildings, as well as preserving those

         12  buildings on Duffield Street.

         13                 Specifically I want to refer to your

         14  complete, your EIS, I believe it's entitled your

         15  Final Environmental Impact Statement, where it

         16  refers to 233 Duffield Street as an architectural

         17  resource, and it indicates that there are measures

         18  to mitigate the adverse impact of this particular

         19  site, and the question I have is, what measures are

         20  you considering to mitigate the impact?

         21                 MS. BURDEN: Can you speak to that,

         22  Regina? Because it's 233.

         23                 MS. MYER: 233.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: 233 exactly.

         25                 MS. MYER: I believe the measures, I
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          2  don't have the EIS in front of me, are recordation

          3  of the building, in terms of HAP's photographs.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm sorry, I

          5  can't hear you.

          6                 MS. MYER: The HAP's photographs will

          7  be required in order to record the building. That is

          8  the photographs that are required by the Landmark

          9  process in order to make sure that there's a record

         10  of that building.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, mitigation

         12  would consist of recordation?

         13                 MS. MYER: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You also

         15  indicate that the other properties in question, that

         16  you have not found any artifacts or any other

         17  physical evidence which would indicate that these

         18  properties were once part of the underground

         19  railroad, and the only way for you to determine such

         20  is you need to do additional work in the form of a

         21  visual inspection of the interiors. But you propose

         22  doing the visual inspection after condemnation, and

         23  that's what it says, therefore, additional work

         24  first in the form of visual inspection of the

         25  interiors of the building after condemnation to
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          2  ascertain the existence of other artifacts. It's on

          3  page four under the paragraph marked "underground

          4  railroad."

          5                 MR. SIREFMAN: Let me -- I think this

          6  is on -- address that. The research into this issue

          7  certainly doesn't stop with the completion of the

          8  ULURP process. It will be ongoing through the entire

          9  development process over the period of time that it

         10  takes.

         11                 We would certainly do archeological

         12  investigation on all of these sites, and then based

         13  on what's discovered, figure out the appropriate

         14  strategy for commemoration of the significance.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You indicate,

         16  again, in the report, that it would be impracticable

         17  prior to demolition of these structures to, and

         18  because they are occupied, to conduct a test.

         19                 I would urge that you conduct a test.

         20  I believe the owners would provide you access to the

         21  sub-basements so that you can perform any tests to

         22  determine whether nor not these buildings were part

         23  of the underground railroad.

         24                 Let me also remind you that the

         25  underground railroad didn't consist of any bones or
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          2  artifacts. These were basically open houses, safe

          3  houses, and so often times it's, oral testimony, as

          4  you indicated earlier, all history, and so, again, I

          5  would hope that we would work with the homeowners

          6  and any other historical organizations that would be

          7  committed to preserving the history of the

          8  African-American experience.

          9                 MR. SIREFMAN: Let me just reiterate

         10  that we are committed to continuing that research.

         11  Also the archeological investigation, because of the

         12  age of buildings in that area, is something that we

         13  wouldn't want to do anyway --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         15                 MR. SIREFMAN: For other significance.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the last

         17  point is on eminent domain.

         18                 The question I have is whether or not

         19  we are going to be providing fair market value to

         20  not only business owners, but also to renters,

         21  commercial renters specifically.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CIRILLO: I'm

         23  sorry, fair market value?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: For business

         25  owners, as well as renters, commercial renters.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CIRILLO: The

          3  benefits that are allowed for commercial owners are

          4  set within the regulations of the City of New York,

          5  and so there's a set value that is allowed for that,

          6  as per the regulation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes, I

          8  recognize the regulations and I recognize the law.

          9  The question is whether you are willing to go above

         10  and beyond that to provide compensation, fair

         11  compensation and fair market value to business

         12  owners as well as renters, despite the regs.

         13                 MR. SIREFMAN: Renters will be

         14  entitled to, for relocation expenses, it's possible

         15  that we would be able to offer downpayment

         16  assistance for new facilities.

         17                 Clearly, as we've expressed all

         18  along, we will work with all parties to figure out

         19  an appropriate strategy for their relocation, within

         20  the boundaries of what we are allowed to do.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And is there a

         22  representative from Cornerstone here today?

         23                 MR. SIREFMAN: I believe that Gary

         24  Curry is here.

         25                 MR. CURRY: I'm here.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

          3                 And he's the individual to be working

          4  with all of the displaced?

          5                 MR. CURRY: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I have two

          8  questions.

          9                 In reference to the Transportation

         10  Coordinator, could you go into a little more detail

         11  what are that person's responsibilities?

         12                 And what authority do they have, if

         13  any, to effect the real meaning of change?

         14                 MR. SIREFMAN: Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If the person

         16  identifies the problem.

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: I'd be delighted to

         18  comment on that.

         19                 Ryan. Rizzo, who also should stand

         20  up.

         21                 There's Ryan. That's Gary and that's

         22  Ryan.

         23                 You know, we suggested the hiring of

         24  somebody for that position based on a model that has

         25  worked very well here for, obvious reasons, there
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          2  was a position within DOT created as a Lower

          3  Manhattan Borough Commissioner essentially, and we

          4  thought that was an effective model and that

          5  Downtown Brooklyn was a dynamic and complex enough

          6  environment that it warranted the same level of

          7  attention.

          8                 So, DOT embraced that idea and hired

          9  Ryan. As I said before, his job description is to,

         10  my favorite way of describing it, is to wake up

         11  every day and do nothing but think about Downtown

         12  Brooklyn transportation issues. He's already been

         13  instrumental in the progress we've made, as

         14  Councilman Yassky referenced, in really

         15  understanding the solutions for really some of the

         16  parking and transportation challenges we're facing

         17  now.

         18                 As far as his authority, he reports

         19  directly to the Brooklyn Borough Commissioner who

         20  reports to the Commissioner of DOT.  And certainly,

         21  as has been evidence already, the expectation is

         22  that he is the person out there recognizing the

         23  issues and everybody needs to follow along with

         24  that. And I think it will be a very successful

         25  model.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: The second

          3  question is, you mention that some of the projects

          4  from the, I guess the DOT study that had previously

          5  been done, that DOT was going to move them up in the

          6  Fiscal calendar. You didn't mention which specific

          7  projects.

          8                 Can we get a list of which projects

          9  are being moved up?

         10                 MR. SIREFMAN: Absolutely. I didn't

         11  mention it because I always get confused between

         12  neck-downs and bold-outs and the various things that

         13  DOT does when they do things. But we'd be happy to

         14  provide a very specific list of what those actions

         15  are.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

         17                 And just for everybody's information,

         18  I've asked the Administration to get us somebody

         19  from Landmarks here to testify. They're in the

         20  process of seeing if that's going to be done.

         21                 Any other questions?

         22                 Council Member James.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And let me just

         24  add to the other consideration that you've provided

         25  me, providing looking at residential parking along
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          2  Myrtle Avenue, Fulton Street and DeKalb Avenue,

          3  specifically in the 35th Councilmanic district.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Mr. Yassky.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I think we

          7  all, again, the focus of this and the big picture is

          8  on the opportunity for jobs, that's very good.

          9                 On the transportation picture, I will

         10  say again, I think that the steps you've taken are

         11  terrific.

         12                 I know you recognize, as do I, this

         13  development is going to take place over a long

         14  period of time.

         15                 As it occurs, I expect that we may

         16  find, or you may find that some of the ideas that we

         17  talked about along the road that you thought weren't

         18  warranted, weren't necessary, may become so, whether

         19  it's changes on parking regulations on Atlantic

         20  Avenue, alteration of the other traffic pattern

         21  proposals that we talked about, it's my expectation,

         22  and I would think it's yours as well, that as this

         23  goes forward, that as we see how things change on

         24  the ground a year from now, two years from now,

         25  we're going to continue to work to make sure that
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          2  the surrounding neighborhoods are protected to the

          3  greatest extent possible; is that right?

          4                 MR. SIREFMAN: Absolutely right. The

          5  realization of Downtown Brooklyn's potential is not

          6  something that's done when we finish ULURP. That is

          7  an ongoing process that it is our hope and

          8  expectation to continue to working with all of you

          9  for the years to come on this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         12                 Obviously we have a number of

         13  speakers both in support and in opposition, and I

         14  know, Commissioner, I'm sure you have other things

         15  to do. In fact, you and I have a meeting at 2:00

         16  that I'm probably not going to make. So, I would

         17  hope you would possibly push our meeting back to

         18  later on in the day, and I would ask that at least

         19  representatives of the agency stay because obviously

         20  to some people there are still some outstanding

         21  issues that we still want to have addressed.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 At this point we are going to start

         24  calling the various panels. I am going to ask

         25  everybody to stay within, if we can have some quiet,
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          2  I am going to ask everybody to stay within the

          3  three-minute clock, both the supporters and in

          4  opposition. We do want to hear from everybody. We

          5  take this very seriously, and as far as I'm

          6  concerned, there are still some outstanding issues,

          7  which hopefully this public hearing will be able to

          8  address.

          9                 But I ask you to stay within that

         10  three-minute clock, remembering that you don't have

         11  to necessarily repeat what the previous person did

         12  if you agree with them. You know, we like to hear

         13  from different people and we obviously like to hear

         14  everybody's point of view, but it's not necessary to

         15  spend three minutes saying exactly the same thing

         16  over and over again, whether you're in support or in

         17  opposition.

         18                 And I will alternate panels. And

         19  since the City presented first, we will do an

         20  opposition panel next.

         21                 Sue Wolfe from the Boreum Hill

         22  Association; Thomas Rooney from Prospect Heights

         23  Action Coalition; Meredith Hamilton, and Judy

         24  Stanton from the Brooklyn Heights Association, is

         25  the first panel in opposition.
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          2                 And the Sergeant-At-Arms will please

          3  remember to work the clock. Thank you, sir.

          4                 Whoever would like to start first,

          5  please introduce yourself.

          6                 When the light is off, the mic is on.

          7  It's the reverse of normal logic.

          8                 MS. WOLFE: Okay. Councilman Avella,

          9  Council members, I am Sue Wolfe, President of the

         10  Boerum Hill Association. As I have previously

         11  testified, Boerum Hill, encompassing the entire

         12  southern border of Downtown Brooklyn will be the

         13  community most impacted by this plan.

         14                 As a member of the Downtown Brooklyn

         15  Coalition, we have addressed the problems we see

         16  with the plan in the areas of traffic mitigation,

         17  enforcement, parking, transit, pedestrian access,

         18  the greeting of Downtown Brooklyn, housing, the

         19  height and massing of buildings, the historic

         20  preservation, the workforce, and lastly, open space.

         21                 We appreciate the recommendation

         22  report of the Borough President. He approved the

         23  plan, including many of the modifications and

         24  conditions that the Coalition recommended.

         25                 Boerum Hill now implores the Land Use
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          2  Committee to consider our overriding concern that

          3  has not been adequately addressed by either the

          4  Borough President or the Final EIS.

          5                 The Final EIS states, in regard to

          6  open space, as a result of the future population,

          7  there would be a shortage of passive open space in

          8  the quarter-mile study area. The future population

          9  introduced to the area at the result of the proposed

         10  action would exacerbate this shortage.

         11                 It is below the open space ratio set

         12  by City Planning. Then the report just dismisses

         13  these concerns as "not feasible for many areas of

         14  the City, they are not, therefore, considered impact

         15  thresholds."

         16                 Well, we who live in the area so

         17  describe strongly disappear -- disagree -- we don't

         18  want to disappear.

         19                 Boerum Hill, already a community with

         20  very few parks or open space, proposes the following

         21  solution:

         22                 There is a two-block area on

         23  Schermerhorn Street, between Bond Street and Third

         24  Avenue, the slice of land dividing Downtown Brooklyn

         25  and Boerum Hill. These are soft sites. Currently
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          2  parking lots, either privately owned, or owned by

          3  the City.

          4                 Boerum Hill has been asked, give us

          5  the specific request for open space that you want.

          6  Well, this is the request. A two-block long area,

          7  parkland, that will shelter us from Downtown

          8  highrise and commercial hustle and bustle. It will

          9  give us the parks where our kids can play. Parks

         10  where moms can bring their toddlers. Greenspace

         11  sorely needed for light air, and to be used by the

         12  anticipated new residents of the already planned

         13  Hoyt/Schermerhorn Project.

         14                 This two-block area is not taking

         15  anyone's home. It's an obvious fix, not mentioned by

         16  the City planners.

         17                 It is right here on the City map,

         18  which I have attached.

         19                 The Boerum Hill community has been

         20  proactive in the past, and this stance continues.

         21                 Joann Simon will tell of the award of

         22  the Boerum Hill Association by the JM Kaplan Fund of

         23  a grant of $20,000 to assist the community in the

         24  creation of open space. This process takes time.

         25                 We ask your consideration to provide
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          2  us the time to make our case for the protection that

          3  these two blocks and other areas will be identified

          4  in our open space review.

          5                 We understand that our Councilman

          6  David Yassky has been made several promises

          7  regarding the traffic and parking package and

          8  housing concerns. While these are significant, they

          9  are not enough for the Boerum Hill Association to

         10  support this plan as has been presented. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         12                 Next speaker.

         13                 MR. ROONEY: My name is Thomas Rooney,

         14  and I am a member of the Prospect Heights Action

         15  Coalition. During this past year, the City of New

         16  York has decided to act on a gigantic development

         17  plan affecting a large part of Brooklyn. The plan

         18  was done in secret in the hope of avoiding all

         19  legislative oversight, in the hope of trying to

         20  bypass the New York City Uniform Land Use Review

         21  Process.

         22                 These areas of Brooklyn development

         23  are densely populated with low-rise buildings whose

         24  neighborhood character would be changed drastically.

         25                 Some like Duffield Street are a
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          2  valuable part of American history and must be

          3  preserved.

          4                 No thought to how much homelessness

          5  and joblessness it will create, while the plan

          6  promises to build houses and jobs without securing

          7  retail tenants ahead of time.

          8                 Acute traffic congestion will become

          9  a permanent round-the-clock feature. The

         10  environmental impact will further make living in

         11  this area very difficult. Massive tax increases will

         12  be needed to subsidize the give-away and sweetheart

         13  deals offered to these developers.

         14                 In the wake of this the area will be

         15  no longer a viable, affordable place to live. I urge

         16  the legislators to vote no on this plan.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. Next

         18  speaker.

         19                 MS. HAMILTON: My name is Meredith --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Push the button.

         21                 MS. HAMILTON: Okay.

         22                 Good morning. My name is Meredity

         23  Hamilton, and I am a Governor of the Brooklyn

         24  Heights Association. Let me start by saying that we

         25  are supportive of the City's investment in Downtown
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          2  Brooklyn. We feel strongly that now is the time for

          3  the City to examine more broadly the possibilities

          4  of the area and to plan for its re-emergence as a

          5  flourishing district with the distinctive character

          6  derived from its historic roots.

          7                 To this end, in the context of any

          8  approval of the Downtown Brooklyn Plan, we ask that

          9  the City Council adopt Borough President Markowitz'

         10  recommendations at page 14 of his report.

         11                 These recommendations are that, one,

         12  the City Planning commitment to study a zoning text

         13  change amendment to allow the liberal transfer of

         14  development rights of landmarked quality buildings

         15  as the means to encourage that such buildings be

         16  preserved and restored; and two, the Landmark

         17  Commission's commitment to study historical

         18  structures in the vicinity of the Fulton Street Mall

         19  for the purpose of designating individual landmarks,

         20  and further, to study whether any segment of the

         21  area is worthy of historic district designations.

         22                 I think most of you have our list of

         23  28 buildings. If you need any more, we'd be glad to

         24  pass them out.

         25                 As you can see from this list, the
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          2  integrity of Brooklyn's fine old Main Street

          3  survives remarkably intact to this day.

          4                 Superb examples of particular

          5  architectural jonners (phonetic) abound.

          6                 Many of the buildings were built of

          7  the finest materials and were designed by the most

          8  important architects of the time. Currently, many of

          9  the upper floors of these wonderful buildings are

         10  boarded up, their elegant facades covered by gare

         11  signage (phonetic), but largely intact beneath, it

         12  is our view that the Fulton Street corner is a

         13  diamond in the rough.

         14                 Not too long ago, areas of Downtown

         15  Manhattan filled with historic buildings were in

         16  similar circumstances. We know now how properties in

         17  Tribeca and SoHo are highly prized in the broad

         18  demand that they command.

         19                 The EIS identifies a number of these

         20  historic buildings, but offers no substantive

         21  framework to protect and development them.

         22                 By upzoning without such a framework,

         23  the City may miss a major opportunity to capitalize

         24  on Brooklyn's historic commercial center. We are at

         25  a crossroads.
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          2                 While we acknowledge with

          3  appreciation the Landmark Commission's recent

          4  actions on several of the buildings in our lists,

          5  similar steps to address the remaining 22 odd are

          6  imperative.

          7                 What is needed is the designation of

          8  a sufficiently dense grouping of individual

          9  landmarks to preserve the historic sense of place,

         10  and to capture the people-friendly personality,

         11  character and diversity that we believe essential

         12  for the success of the overall development.

         13                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         14  present my views.

         15                 MS. BOWE: Hi. I'm Nancy Bowe, from

         16  Brooklyn Heights Association. Judy Stanton has

         17  deferred her time to me, and I'm deferring my time

         18  to her, because I have a child I have to get to the

         19  doctor in Brooklyn in 20 minutes, so this is going

         20  to be fast.

         21                 First, I want to thank Council

         22  Members Yassky, James, DeBlasio and Avella for their

         23  interest and hard work on our concerns to date.

         24                 The Brooklyn Heights Association

         25  certainly supports the intent in this plan, and in
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          2  fact, after meetings with City Planning and EDC over

          3  the past two years, has expected to endorse the

          4  plan.

          5                 But the actual plan as first

          6  presented was only half a plan, and now maybe we're

          7  inching towards five-eights to two-thirds of a plan.

          8  So, we can't endorse it yet. Approval of the plan

          9  must hinge on guarantees, not just studies, that

         10  Brooklyn will see adequate investment in traffic

         11  mitigation, transit improvements, preservation of

         12  historic resources and open space.

         13                 Meredith just addressed preservation,

         14  let me address open space and others will address

         15  traffic.

         16                 The overall amount of open space is

         17  woefully inadequate for the influx of people that

         18  the plan anticipates.

         19                 According to City Planning's own

         20  guidelines, the open space in the study area is less

         21  than half of their guidelines both before and after

         22  the zoning changes.

         23                 Where are the residents of the

         24  thousand new apartments going to take their children

         25  to play, walk their dog, or see blue sky? Surely you
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          2  don't expect them to walk to Brooklyn Bridge Park

          3  when it's built everyday.

          4                 To address this short-coming, the

          5  City must incorporate additional park space in

          6  Boerum Hill, and we were cheered to hear from Mr.

          7  Sirefman that the City is coming around to our view

          8  that significant improvements need to be made to

          9  Cabin Plaza Park, and we look forward to working

         10  with EDC, City Planning and City Park in making that

         11  really happen.

         12                 Let's give all the new and all the

         13  residents of Downtown Brooklyn area open green

         14  respites from the bustling City center. And we look

         15  forward to continuing our dialogue as Downtown

         16  Brooklyn's development moves along.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         19                 Next panel in favor. Glenn Markman,

         20  Gary Curry, Joseph Sitt and Steven Spinola.

         21                 MR. SITT: Thank you, ladies and

         22  gentlemen. My name is Joe Sitt, and I've spent a

         23  great deal of time actually working with Tish, with

         24  Dave Yassky, with other members of the community

         25  board, all in an effort to ensure that when this day
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          2  arrived that we really had a unified front and a

          3  unified plan.

          4                 First, a quick moment about my

          5  background.

          6                 I'm Chairman and CEO of a company

          7  called Thor Equities. We specialize in urban

          8  redevelopment here in the United States,

          9  particularly communities with a higher degree of

         10  density in downtown areas and neighborhoods. We're

         11  the developers of the Gallery at Fulton Street in

         12  Downtown Brooklyn and we're the developers of the

         13  tower being presented here, which is the largest

         14  development planned in the Downtown Brooklyn

         15  Council's plan for the upzoning of Downtown

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 I'm born and raised in Brooklyn New

         18  York, still live in Brooklyn, a tremendous advocate,

         19  involved with both the Bedford Stuyvesant

         20  Restoration Corporation and the efforts to

         21  revitalize and bring back vitality to Bedford

         22  Stuyvesant Brooklyn, as well as Chairman of the

         23  Business Improvement District in Downtown Brooklyn.

         24                 We're here today because Brooklyn is

         25  an exciting and vibrant place again. So much of its
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          2  history is coming back in so many different ways.

          3                 This morning we had our annual

          4  breakfast meeting for the BID, and this afternoon

          5  we'll have our annual dinner for the Bedford

          6  Stuyvesant Restoration Corporation, the oldest

          7  African American community development corporations,

          8  where we'll be honoring Rob Walsh.

          9                 All along the name of the game and

         10  our goal has been how to, while Brooklyn advances

         11  itself and gentrifies in some areas, rejuvenates in

         12  other areas, to (a) ensure that it includes and

         13  services the communities that it's based there, as

         14  well as to attract communities from the outside

         15  retail projects.

         16                 From the residential point of view,

         17  we know what's happening in Brooklyn. Every which

         18  way we hear about another exciting project and a

         19  higher dollar rent being paid, and/or residential

         20  home being paid. But our goal, as well, is to serve

         21  the community that's there and ensure fair pricing,

         22  fair housing.

         23                 How do we ensure, though, one piece

         24  that's missing in the puzzle? Exciting residential

         25  development, exciting retail development, business
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          2  is growing, even now prospects of hotels, the big

          3  thing that we still need for Brooklyn is jobs. With

          4  all this movement and all this excitement that's

          5  happening, in Downtown Brooklyn we need to ensure

          6  the vitality of Brooklyn is the place for people to

          7  come and shop.

          8                 And from a bigger picture within

          9  Manhattan in totality.

         10                 New Jersey right now is a B product

         11  competing with Manhattan as an A product,

         12  so-to-speak, in terms of the rental regs. Brooklyn

         13  is the answer to compete with that for New York

         14  City. We've got the infrastructure, we've got the

         15  community, we've got colleges, we've got education,

         16  federal government retail. The Downtown Brooklyn

         17  Plan will ensure that there are jobs, not just

         18  today, but well into the future, for our community

         19  in Brooklyn.

         20                 Thank you so much, and I appreciate

         21  the time.

         22                 MR. MARKMAN: Good afternoon. I'm

         23  Glenn Markman, commercial real estate firm of

         24  Cushman and Wakefield. I support the Downtown

         25  Brooklyn plan and urge City Council to do the same.
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          2                 As someone who represents tenants and

          3  landlords in Downtown Brooklyn, I can tell you that

          4  the plan will provide a much needed boost to its

          5  growing business marketplace.

          6                 MetroTech's modern facilities, Blue

          7  Chip tenants, and proximity to Manhattan helped put

          8  Brooklyn on the map.  As a corporate destination,

          9  the excellent transportation hub and separate power

         10  grid, also contribute to Downtown Brooklyn's growing

         11  prominence as an expansion area for major

         12  corporations.

         13                 Downtown Brooklyn is now New York

         14  City's third business, largest business district

         15  after Midtown and Lower Manhattan, and as of the

         16  last month, the vacancy factor in Downtown Brooklyn

         17  for Class A space was under two percent.

         18                 The proposed development is between

         19  the commercial core and surrounding residential

         20  communities. It concentrates commercial development

         21  next to MetroTech and reduces allowable development

         22  near the brownstone residential communities.

         23                 It provides much needed affordable

         24  housing opportunities with the development of 1,000

         25  new mixed income housing units. Expansion of the
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          2  area's academic institutions would serve 32,000

          3  students, is a major positive component, not only

          4  for the present, but for the future workforce

          5  development.

          6                 And last, but not least, the

          7  development Brooklyn plan will bring with it jobs,

          8  jobs and more jobs.

          9                 The plan has already gone through a

         10  vetting process. The result is the proposal which I

         11  firmly believe will be strongly beneficial for

         12  Downtown Brooklyn and the Borough as a whole.

         13                 MR. CURRY: Hi. I'm Gary Curry,

         14  president of the Cornerstone Group. Before I tell

         15  you what my company does, let me give you a brief

         16  background.

         17                 Was born and raised in Brooklyn. Went

         18  to school in Brooklyn, went to college in Brooklyn,

         19  so I'm Brooklyn born and raised.

         20                 I started my real estate career in

         21  Brooklyn, in Downtown Brooklyn, with the company

         22  there on Court Street. I moved a lot of tenants into

         23  Brooklyn from Wall Street. If you remember the

         24  Workers Compensation Board, they moved to Downtown

         25  Brooklyn. I was responsible for bringing a number of
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          2  attorneys in firms that work with the workers

          3  compensation in Downtown Brooklyn.

          4                 But let me give you my brief history

          5  of Cornerstone Group.

          6                 Cornerstone Group has been in

          7  existence for about 15 years. I've been in the

          8  business for 22 years. I first started working on

          9  MetroTech program along with EDC, Forest City

         10  Ratner, in relocating all of the tenants in Downtown

         11  Brooklyn.

         12                 On MetroTech Project I relocated over

         13  250 tenants, including residential tenants in

         14  Downtown Brooklyn.

         15                 Also, from there I worked on the 42nd

         16  Street development project, which as you see now,

         17  along with Metrotech, the beautiful sites now. I

         18  relocated 350 tenants from 42nd Street development

         19  project.

         20                 Also, I do the same type of work for

         21  Metropolitan Transit Authority, the Department of

         22  Ed, the School Construction Authority and also the

         23  Housing Authority.

         24                 I have had success in the past in

         25  relocating tenants throughout the City, where they
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          2  would like to stay in the downtown area, or move to

          3  other areas throughout the City.

          4                 MR. SPINOLA: My name is Steven

          5  Spinola. I'm President of the Real Estate Board of

          6  New York. We have 6,500 members who represent just

          7  about every aspect of the Real Estate Industry, and

          8  I'm here to support this plan. Before I was at the

          9  Real Estate Board, I was president of what was then

         10  the Public Development Corporation, now the Economic

         11  Development Corporation, and I played a small part

         12  in the movement of Morgan Stanley to Downtown

         13  Brooklyn, as well as the creation of the MetroTech

         14  Plan.

         15                 It was a huge success in part because

         16  we took advantage of opportunity that Downtown

         17  Brooklyn offered the City.

         18                 We were able to offer reasonable

         19  locations -- I'm sorry, great locations at

         20  reasonable rents to be able to bring tenants to

         21  Downtown Brooklyn.

         22                 It can't be done by building by

         23  building. It can only be done with the kind of

         24  planning that City Planning has put forward here.

         25                 Is it perfect? I can't tell you
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          2  whether it's perfect or not. I'm sure there's things

          3  to be done to improve it for everybody. But unless

          4  you look at the full, the grand scale of it, tenants

          5  are not going to want to come purely on the basis

          6  that one building is available.

          7                 And what this offers is an

          8  opportunity for four and a half million square feet

          9  of space, hundreds of thousands of square feet of

         10  additional retail space, as well as new residential

         11  space.

         12                 You already have 15 subway lines that

         13  go into Downtown Brooklyn and you've already got

         14  MetroTech as a center for establishing itself as

         15  really a successful office complex.

         16                 We need to compete with New Jersey.

         17  We need to compete with high quality office

         18  buildings at affordable rent, and where people can

         19  get there through public transportation. And

         20  Downtown Brooklyn has got to be at the top of the

         21  list, in terms of being that asset that New York

         22  City can use to fight for those jobs, keep those

         23  jobs in the City, and more importantly, even bring

         24  some of those jobs. And with the Reap Program

         25  (phonetic), I was up in Albany yesterday, they were
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          2  going to move it out of the Assembly conference last

          3  night, and hopefully it gets passed next week, will

          4  have a significant program so that developers can

          5  offer those tenants significant deals to come to

          6  Downtown Brooklyn.

          7                 So, I urge you to support this

          8  program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         10                 Next panel.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry, Mr.

         12  Chair?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         14  Yassky.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         16  Just briefly. I want to welcome the panel. This is I

         17  guess for Mr. Spinola and Mr. Markman, a question

         18  about the pace of development that you foresee as

         19  folks who aren't themselves developers, but know the

         20  industry very well.

         21                 Just so the communities can have a

         22  sense of what to expect, give me a prediction in

         23  Year 2005, by the end of 2005, how many square feet

         24  will be under construction?

         25                 MR. SPINOLLA: If I knew that, I
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          2  wouldn't be out there running the Real Estate Board,

          3  I'd be doing the development.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Best guess.

          5                 MR. SPINOLLA: It's hard to say,

          6  because it depends on the cycle. Obviously we're

          7  seeing dramatic change in the national economy, and

          8  the reason MetroTech happened was because the City

          9  had the foresight to say we're going to make it

         10  available for when the market demands it.

         11                 I believe that there is a need for

         12  that kind of space, especially with Lower Manhattan

         13  rebuilding itself, the next two to four years are

         14  going to be important. But nobody is going to be

         15  making that investment, unless there is this overall

         16  plan.

         17                 I don't go into the business of

         18  predicting. I believe that if the planning is

         19  completed and the tools are in place, then the

         20  development will happen when the market, I'm a big

         21  believer that the market will dictate it, and that I

         22  believe where the timing here may make it possible

         23  for us to capture the current cycle, because I just

         24  think we're at the beginning of the cycle.

         25                 MR. MARKMAN: I agree. I think we're
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          2  starting to see the turn-around right now in

          3  commercial real estate in Manhattan.

          4                 Brooklyn is really an interesting

          5  place, because companies don't necessarily want to

          6  have all their eggs in one basket on this island,

          7  and it's an excellent location and it's an excellent

          8  place to keep the labor numbers where they need to

          9  be in this City.

         10                 So, we're really dealing with some

         11  thinking that is new, and I think what we need to

         12  have is a clear defined roadmap, and which will

         13  allow at that point of development to happen. So, if

         14  you're asking when, 2005 is extremely optimistic. I

         15  mean, that's very, very optimistic.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Oh, Mr. Sitt,

         17  I'd love to hear your thoughts as well, of course.

         18                 MR. SITT: Well, we've got 1.3 million

         19  square feet that we're building, which is fully

         20  about a third of the upzoning, and without having

         21  gone out and actively market the site, we already

         22  have very substantial interests in about 40 percent

         23  of our sites.

         24                 In fact, they even had the meeting

         25  today at 4:30 with a tenant that we're talking to
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          2  about going to the next step. And all of them very

          3  exciting tenants that are really bringing a little

          4  bit of extra juice and life into Downtown Brooklyn

          5  that will service the communities around it, as well

          6  as doing the job.

          7                 So, I guess I'm a developer, so I'm

          8  the internal optimist, as Steve I'm sure has seen

          9  many times over and over again. But we are hopeful

         10  that by the end of 2005, even though some of the

         11  folks think I'm a little aggressive, that we'll have

         12  a lot of the pieces to the puzzle all tied up and

         13  start proceeding forward.

         14                 Maybe we don't go in the ground on

         15  that date, but at least have the layout to then go

         16  in the ground some time in '06.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         20  James.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I, too, have

         22  some concern with regards to whether or not there is

         23  a demand for all of this commercial development. But

         24  nonetheless, I respect your opinions and your

         25  vision.
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          2                 And Mr. Markman, I read recently that

          3  you, the Williamsburg thanked building in the

          4  Atlantic Terminal, and the Atlantic Terminal is on

          5  the market and I would like to discuss with you at a

          6  later point whether or not Cushman Wakefield is

          7  handling that deal, which I was told, but we'll talk

          8  about that after this meeting.

          9                 Mr. Sitt, I understand that you are

         10  perhaps considering selling the parking lot on

         11  Flatbush Avenue to a major department chain, I'm

         12  very excited about that.

         13                 And I also understand that you own

         14  property in Coney Island, and I wanted to talk to

         15  you about an arena in Coney Island, as well, at a

         16  later point.

         17                 MR. SITT: Okay, to respond I'll take

         18  it backwards. Coney Island, it's a little early,

         19  we're working with a quasi-governmental community

         20  development agency that's been created and will be

         21  working on a plan and hopefully coming back with

         22  something exciting for Brooklyn there.

         23                 Back to the first project, in terms

         24  of department stores. Yes, we have fully four

         25  different department stores interested and excited
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          2  to come and lease space in Downtown Brooklyn, and

          3  hopefully we could get one of them to close a deal

          4  and get more than just Macy's in Downtown Brooklyn.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I guess I could

          6  talk to you about employment opportunities.

          7                 MR. SPINOLLA: This will help do that.

          8  If you get them to close that deal. If they see that

          9  kind of progress and support coming out of City Hall

         10  and the City Council, that will help them make those

         11  deals.

         12                 MR. SITT: Thank you so much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

         14  gentlemen.

         15                 Next panel is Shelly Hagan, Prospect

         16  Heights Action Coalition; Patty Hagan. Are you two

         17  related? Sandy, is it Balboza? Atlantic Avenue

         18  Betterment Association. Daniel McCalla, Brooklyn

         19  Coalition Against Urban Removal.

         20                 MS. HAGAN: Good afternoon, City

         21  Council members. Thank you for this hearing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Please -- I'm

         23  sorry.

         24                 MS. HAGAN: My name is Shellie Hagan.

         25  I come from Brooklyn. I'm a member of the Prospect
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          2  Heights Action Coalition.

          3                 The creators of the Downtown Brooklyn

          4  Plan present it as state-of-the-art. In fact, it is

          5  anything but, since it is rooted in the failed

          6  50-year-old concept of urban renewal, whereby any

          7  place can be held in a perpetual pre-hostage state

          8  by the government and its colleagues in the

          9  construction trades.

         10                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan contains

         11  40-year extensions of three Urban Renewal Areas that

         12  have been incubated on the books since 1968. If the

         13  Downtown Brooklyn Plan is approved, seven acres will

         14  immediately fall to the wrecking ball, taking out

         15  hundreds of homes including rentals and thousands of

         16  jobs.

         17                 We are grateful that the City

         18  Planning Commission removed the Institute for Design

         19  and Construction from the plan. This is the second

         20  time this school has barely escaped its extinction

         21  by urban renewal.

         22                 Twenty years ago, urban renewal for

         23  the oncoming MetroTech targeted this school, so IDC

         24  is saved again, until the next time urban renewal

         25  may make another attempt on it.
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          2                 Many of us are here today in the hope

          3  that we can convince the City Council to save the

          4  seven defined acres the Downtown Brooklyn Plan wants

          5  to take for another MetroTech, but we are also

          6  unnerved by the three urban renewal areas in the

          7  plan.

          8                 We don't know how many acres are

          9  contained in these Urban Renewal areas, 50, 100,

         10  200, and how many acres will thus be preserved for

         11  the whims of developers to come for the next 40

         12  years.

         13                 Urban renewal was introduced into law

         14  in the 1950s, meant to address the needs of post-war

         15  America and constituted a short hand for progress,

         16  but you may know that some of us call urban renewal,

         17  "urban removal," and in fact, that was an activity

         18  the government heartily participated in more than a

         19  century or so ago.

         20                 In the beginning of the West

         21  workforce, Native Americans were asked to move west

         22  of the Appalachians, then west of the Mississippi.

         23  Then they were settled on reservations which

         24  themselves were repeatedly relocated when the black

         25  puddles that appeared on the blighted reservation
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          2  land turned out to be oil.

          3                 Ironically enough, the Native

          4  Americans the Downtown Brooklyn Plan would push out

          5  would be removed for imaginary oil.

          6                 MetroTech was supposed to be a gusher

          7  of money, only it's a failure. It makes sense that

          8  more MetroTech will simply be more failure.

          9                 Urban removal for fools gold. Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before we go into

         12  the next speaker, I just have a question.

         13                 If I understand your testimony

         14  correctly, in the urban renewal plans there is no

         15  specific amount allotted for acreage?

         16                 MS. HAGAN: I'm not an expert on it,

         17  but I don't know the acreage.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If I would just

         19  ask the representatives of the administration that

         20  are here, if we could get that information?

         21                 MS. HAGAN: In the one Atlantic

         22  Terminal area it's 104 acres.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I mean, there is

         24  a boundary for the urban renewal area, so I think we

         25  should be able to come up with that.
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          2                 MS. HAGAN: But they keep expanding.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well, we're going

          4  to ask the Administration, and then I hope that we

          5  can get an answer before this hearing is over.

          6                 MS. HAGAN: Thank you.

          7                 MS. P. HAGAN: Thank you to the City

          8  Council for holding this important hearing today. My

          9  name is Patti Hagan. I am with the Prospect Heights

         10  Action Coalition and Develop.  Don't Destroy

         11  Brooklyn. And if you would take a minute, please,

         12  and read my t-shirt. I am here to urge that New York

         13  City and the City Council take seriously our motto,

         14  "Develop. Don't Destroy Brooklyn." Please vote no

         15  on this Downtown Brooklyn Plan as it is now, and ask

         16  that it be sent back to the drawing board, because

         17  the Downtown Brooklyn Plan in its present form

         18  employes the blunt, ruthless and thoroughly

         19  discredited free-fire clearance tool of urban

         20  renewal. In fact, it includes three urban renewal

         21  areas extended 40 years into the future to 2044, and

         22  that is a terrifying idea.

         23                 It means that all the acres under

         24  urban renewal designations can potentially be pulled

         25  aside by eminent domain, by government, and handed,
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          2  taken away from private property owners and handed

          3  to developers.

          4                 The ruthless bull-dozer of urban

          5  renewal since 1949 has been responsible for, in the

          6  words of Root Shock, a new book that I recommend to

          7  all of you, how it is -- by Dr. Mindy Fuller, of how

          8  tearing up City neighborhoods hurts America.

          9                 In her words, "it has been

         10  responsible for the premature destruction of vast

         11  areas of urban habitat, some 2,500 neighborhoods

         12  across the country." The dinosaur of urban renewal

         13  has no place in City Planning or economic

         14  development now, much less ever. Nor does the

         15  illegal and unconstitutional use of the terrifying

         16  power of eminent domain. Nowhere does it say in the

         17  U.S. Constitution the government shall seize private

         18  property, say on Duffield Street, from mom and pop

         19  owners to hand over to rich private developers with

         20  friends in high places.

         21                 Vote no, please. Eminent domain is to

         22  be used for public use. What is being proposed here,

         23  is totally private developers' use and private gain.

         24                 The result of this Downtown Brooklyn

         25  plan will hasten the death of the great American
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          2  Borough of Brooklyn. The MetroTech dead zone, which

          3  we have now, demapping streets and sidewalks,

          4  privatizing open space, imposing a deadly conformity

          5  on what had been a vibrant part of Brooklyn, must

          6  not be repeated in MetroTech 2 or Metro Ratner Tech

          7  2.

          8                 And I would simply like to add,

          9  please vote no. And as far as jobs jobs jobs, I have

         10  here a report from the Public Policy Institute of

         11  New York State entitled Corporate Personnel Property

         12  Taxes, All Part of a Heavy Burden on Business.

         13                 As far as jobs relocating here from

         14  New Jersey or starting up choosing to be in New

         15  York, the burden is too high. Businesses pay an

         16  estimated 25 percent of all sales tax dollars in New

         17  York, about 2.4 billion this past year. The business

         18  share of local property tax revenue is even higher.

         19  And it says here in this report:

         20                 "All told, businesses in New York

         21  State will pay an estimated 30.4 billion in State

         22  and local taxes this year, roughly one in every

         23  three tax dollars.

         24                 Study after study shows New York's

         25  business taxes are higher than those in most states.
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          2  A federal reserve Bank of Boston analysis found New

          3  York's tax effort for corporate income taxes is 82

          4  percent higher than average and fourth highest

          5  nationally. High business taxes are one reason the

          6  overall cost of doing business in the Empire State

          7  is so high."

          8                 Do not believe that it is jobs jobs

          9  jobs or that anyone is going to relocate here.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MS. BALBOZA: Good afternoon. I'm

         12  Sandy Balboza, President of the Atlantic Avenue

         13  Betterment Association, AABA. We are troubled by the

         14  concept of constructing high-rises for back office

         15  space.

         16                 The Downtown plan proposes to

         17  artificially create and impose a single activity

         18  area without the character of history and jobs which

         19  our neighborhood currently represents.

         20                 Instead, we favor incremental

         21  development that would build on our present

         22  environment.

         23                 A well-rounded downtown would act as

         24  a far more attractive magnet for new growth.

         25                 We also question the economic
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          2  underpinning of this plan since back office

          3  positions are being exported to other countries, and

          4  there has not been a reliable study of how many jobs

          5  will be eliminated by this plan and how many we will

          6  gain.

          7                 Why is the City planning for the

          8  demise of viable businesses which provide jobs for

          9  local residents? If you come to Downtown Brooklyn

         10  now, you will see the sidewalks packed with shoppers

         11  on Willoughby and Fulton Streets.

         12                 AABA vehemently opposes extending the

         13  expiration date of the three urban renewal plans

         14  until 2044.

         15                 At one time urban renewal served a

         16  purpose in blighted areas, which is not the case

         17  here, as other people have stated.

         18                 It has become a method of seizing

         19  private properties which are not blighted, only to

         20  be turned over to for-profit developers at

         21  taxpayers' expense.

         22                 This plan would tear down 19th

         23  century buildings on Duffield, Willoughby,

         24  Livingston and Fulton Streets because it does not

         25  consider preservation of these historic resources.
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          2                 ABBA urges the City Council to deny

          3  special permits for poor parking garages.

          4  Development should not unleash the proliferation of

          5  parking garages to serve commuters bringing more

          6  unwanted traffic to downtown.

          7                 We particularly object to the $100

          8  million set-aside by the City because it is not

          9  slated for developed, nor infrastructure

         10  improvement, nor mass transit.

         11                 The $100 million of City funds will

         12  build a private 694 car garage. Surrounding

         13  neighborhoods have asked for a City investment in a

         14  functioning network of trollies, buses, bicycle

         15  routes and pedestrian friendly neighborhood

         16  connections.

         17                 AABA's mission is to serve the small

         18  businesses on Atlantic Avenue and make it attractive

         19  to shoppers.

         20                 Our priorities are:

         21                 - to widen the median on Boerum Place

         22  between Atlantic and Fulton Street.

         23                 - eliminate the four to seven parking

         24  restriction on the south side of Atlantic Avenue.

         25  Council Member David Yassky and Borough President
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          2  Markowitz support this effort.

          3                 - expand the no-permit parking zone

          4  to include Atlantic Avenue and the primary study

          5  area of the Downtown Brooklyn Traffic Calming

          6  Project.

          7                 I'm almost finished.

          8                 This is a recommendation by the

          9  Borough President. An AABA study funded by

         10  Councilman Yassky shows widespread of use by City

         11  workers outside of the present zone, and I have

         12  attached some excerpts from our study.

         13                 Just in closing, when the City

         14  Council prepares to vote, we urge you to modify the

         15  plan based on the testimony by merchant and

         16  neighborhood groups.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         19                 Before you speak, I'd just like to

         20  call on Council Member Katz to vote.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         22  Katz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I vote aye on

         24  the disapproval on the sidewalk cafes in the Bronx.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. McCALLA: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Daniel McCalla. I oppose the proposals of the

          4  current Downtown Brooklyn Plan. The reason is the

          5  proposed destruction of six houses on Duffield

          6  Street, which can possibly represent the underground

          7  railroad.

          8                 If these houses are destroyed, you

          9  will be wiping out existing structure of American

         10  history of freedom on Duffield Street.

         11                 Research has been done, and it says

         12  that the Duffield Estates were acquired or taken by

         13  the British during the American Revolution. Duffield

         14  Street also has a history of fighting during the

         15  Civil War and the underground railroad.

         16                 We have black children in Brooklyn

         17  who are almost ashamed of their heritage because

         18  it's not cool, but that's what they've been, I guess

         19  -- how can you say acknowledged, that if you wipe

         20  out these homes, you'll basically be raping them of

         21  their chance of pursuing that heritage.

         22                 Some City officials might say, well,

         23  these buildings in their current state are important

         24  or outdated. Well, that would be a sign of arrogance

         25  of no historical or architectural structures
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          2  important in history.

          3                 You want to build another MetroTech?

          4  What historical significance does MetroTech have

          5  right now?

          6                 It was supposed to be the Silicon

          7  Valley of the East Coast. It's the Death Valley of

          8  the East Coast.

          9                 We need these houses. Below them

         10  there are catacombs, rooms, that are possibly, can

         11  be used to state that perhaps slaves who escaped

         12  from the south were there. Churches that used to be

         13  located in Downtown Brooklyn are all listed as

         14  possible underground railroad sites.

         15                 Let me take an example for you. In

         16  1856 there was a law that stated if a slave, a

         17  runaway slave was caught in the East Coast, upper

         18  East Coast, that they can be returned to the master

         19  they escaped from. Well, if you're an abolitionist,

         20  are you going to write down on record, hey, I'm an

         21  abolitionist, come and get me. I'm hiding people.

         22  It's going to be a little difficult for you to find

         23  complete evidence, but you must keep the doors open.

         24                 Okay, we have kids fighting in Iraq

         25  to bring freedom to these countries; are we going to
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          2  follow in the steps of the Roman Empire that while

          3  their soldiers were fighting for the glory of the

          4  Empire, we're stealing their homes, their land?

          5                 I hope not. We need to preserve these

          6  six houses, whether City Planning or whomever says

          7  this is not important, because we need to. I can't

          8  believe we're here just going at this point.

          9                 Basically if you destroy these homes,

         10  you're attacking history. Unknowingly or not, you

         11  are. We need to have them preserved. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         13                 Next panel is Commissioner Walsh,

         14  Harvey Schultz of Muss Development, Michael Burke,

         15  Downtown Brooklyn Council, and Donald Elliot.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair,

         17  while the panels are changing, I just want to say to

         18  the representative of the Atlantic Avenue Betterment

         19  Association, I think the Atlantic Avenue Betterment

         20  Association deserves real credit for the

         21  significant, in part of this Downtown plan, that is

         22  the attacking of the abuse by government parkers.

         23                 Yes, Ms. Balboza, I just wanted to

         24  give you some public credit here. The study that you

         25  did here I think led very directly to the City's
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          2  response that will, I think, very much reduce the

          3  impact of the government permitted cars on the

          4  streets of Downtown. I understand that your overall

          5  position is that their plan does not do enough for

          6  you to -- for it to merit your support, but that

          7  element of it you deserve very direct credit for and

          8  I just wanted to thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Gentlemen.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Good afternoon.

         11  I'm not used to going first because usually W is the

         12  last in the alphabet. So, you've already heard

         13  testimony today from Economic Development

         14  Corporation and City Planning about the bricks and

         15  the mortar of the Downtown Plan, the streetscape

         16  improvement, the vibrant 24/7. Community strong

         17  residential presence open space. That's not what I'm

         18  going to focus on today. Although, I just got back

         19  from the annual meeting of the Fulton Mall Business

         20  Improvement District. Joe Sitt is the Chairman there

         21  and I have to tell you that you have a board there

         22  that is now energized, engaged, thinking about

         23  creative ways in which to tie in the Fulton Mall and

         24  connect together many neighborhoods in the Downtown

         25  Brooklyn area that are so needed to make happen. And
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          2  I think what we're seeing in Downtown Brooklyn is

          3  special. Not only we're talking about this plan, but

          4  when I see stakeholders like those at the Fulton

          5  Mall, who for the longest time were disengaged, now

          6  getting engaged and talk about the future of the

          7  mall, it's very enlightening.

          8                 What I want to talk about today

          9  during my remaining time is jobs. What the Downtown

         10  Brooklyn Plan does name is jobs. We're talking about

         11  18,000 jobs in my new role which brought together

         12  the Department of Small Business Services and that

         13  of the Department of Employment, we are the agency

         14  that is linking economic development and workforce

         15  development.

         16                 And to Council Member Latitia James,

         17  you have been wonderful in making the links to the

         18  community organizations energizing our agency to

         19  reach out and make connections.

         20                 You joined us last month when Mayor

         21  Bloomberg opened up 9 Bond Street, the Workforce

         22  Center. It's going very well. The goodwill industry

         23  is one of the most respected non-profits, heads it

         24  up for us. And this Center, and the programs it

         25  would develop both front and center, in terms of
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          2  linking jobs and those with the opportunities in the

          3  area. It's centrally located, it's easily

          4  accessible, and we're making a difference. We're

          5  making a difference, because we're not only working

          6  with businesses, but we're working with community

          7  organizations, and that's something that you have

          8  pushed, and pushed hard.

          9                 And what I want to do during the

         10  remaining time is talk about some of the headway

         11  we've already made.

         12                 This is something that we had not

         13  done in the past, is being ahead of the game, being

         14  ahead of the game in terms of linking local jobs

         15  with the opportunities, and the Atlantic Terminal

         16  development is an example of that.

         17                 The development of Atlantic Terminal

         18  promises hundreds of full-time jobs and part-time

         19  jobs. We're working with CUNY on a training

         20  partnership and the National Retail Federation.

         21  We're recruiting for positions, all types of

         22  positions.

         23                 We're not just talking about the

         24  part-time stock clerk. We're talking about entry

         25  level management positions, and that's wonderful.
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          2                 Just to give you an example. Target

          3  has predicted approximately two-thirds of the 400

          4  employees it's hiring will reside within the

          5  five-block area.

          6                 That is something special. That is

          7  something we have not seen in this City probably for

          8  the longest time. It's the same example that we used

          9  up at Columbus Circle where we have been successful.

         10  And when we're talking about those other jobs and

         11  we're talking about thousands of jobs, what I want

         12  to stress with the Council is we are geared, we are

         13  ready, we're prepared to get ahead of the game and

         14  to keep making those links between those people who

         15  need jobs, those people in the community who are

         16  looking for opportunities and those places that are

         17  going to offer the jobs.

         18                 We have turned the equation, and the

         19  equation now is we are now going to companies and

         20  we're asking companies, what job do you have?

         21  Because we want to be able to use all our resources

         22  at our one-stop centers, our vouchers, the CUNY

         23  system to prepare those people for the jobs.

         24                 I want to thank you for this

         25  opportunity today.
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          2                 MR. SCHULTZ: Hi. My name is Harvey

          3  Schultz. I'm a Senior Vice President in Muss

          4  Development. I've lived in Brooklyn all my life, New

          5  York, Brownsville, Canarsie, I now am a happy

          6  constituent of Councilman James in Prospect Heights.

          7                 I want to bring a slightly different

          8  perspective, given my historic involvement in

          9  Downtown Brooklyn. I grew up in the City Planning

         10  Department, in the Economic Development section. I

         11  headed the Brooklyn Office of City Planning and I

         12  did work at the Borough President's Office, working

         13  with the City Administration, and want to say that

         14  the evolution of Downtown Brooklyn has spanned eight

         15  administrations, at least that I can remember. Way

         16  back in the Lindsay Administration, Beame, three

         17  Koch Administrations, the Dinkins Administration,

         18  and it's had its fits and starts, but it does have a

         19  historic perspective. And that historic perspective

         20  starts with a deteriorating Brooklyn in every

         21  neighborhood, a downtown which lost all of its

         22  vitality. People were no longer coming. All the

         23  neighborhoods surrounding Downtown Brooklyn, Boerum

         24  Hill, Cobble Hill, Brooklyn Heights, their values

         25  were down, they were worried about their future,
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          2  they were worried about the future of any future

          3  hotel, all the hotels closed in Brooklyn. We are the

          4  developers of the Marriot Hotel which now provides

          5  one of the 24/7 environments in Downtown Brooklyn.

          6                 We're the envy of every city in the

          7  United States that isn't Manhattan, okay? Every

          8  downtown, whether it be Buffalo, Syracuse,

          9  Minneapolis, they look at what's happened in

         10  Downtown Brooklyn and its environs, it's environs

         11  being Brooklyn Bridge Park, Dumbo, Fort Greene, and

         12  all the surrounding brownstone areas. They look at

         13  it and say how did you accomplish all of this? How

         14  did the business community working with the

         15  government, working with the local communities, get

         16  development, new housing? How do you have this

         17  housing boom, which has affordable housing

         18  components, middle-income housing components, luxury

         19  housing components, how did you get big corporations

         20  to leave Manhattan and come to Downtown Brooklyn?

         21  How do you get the employees who basically live in

         22  Brooklyn, Queens and other places, now a shorter

         23  trip to work, rather than a trip into Midtown

         24  Manhattan?

         25                 All of this was part of a process
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          2  that has taken a long time and will take another

          3  eight administrations, I predict, because we are

          4  just at the cutting edge of a long-term process for

          5  making this one of the most wonderful places in the

          6  country to live and work and play.

          7                 So, I urge you -- I know there are

          8  particulars here, there's traffic, there is parking,

          9  there are all of these issues. We at Muss

         10  development, we work on them. We work on them with

         11  Community Board 2, with the elected officials, with

         12  EDC, the Planning Department, the Downtown Brooklyn

         13  Council, with everybody every day.

         14                 They don't go away easy. We create

         15  new problems with everything we do, we try to do our

         16  work with compassion, whether we are in the public

         17  sector or the private sector. So, I urge you, with

         18  all consideration, we are a central business

         19  district which has emerged out of despair and we now

         20  have a lot of hope, the future will only be better.

         21                 MR. ELLIOT: My name is Donald Elliot.

         22  I've lived in Downtown Brooklyn for 35 years, and

         23  raised my children, and my children are now raising

         24  their children in Downtown Brooklyn.

         25                 I'm also the Vice Chairman of the
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          2  Downtown Brooklyn Council, which represents 45

          3  businesses, institutions, academic and   cultural

          4  organizations of Downtown Brooklyn.

          5                 Over the last three years, the

          6  Downtown Brooklyn Council has worked in close

          7  partnership with local community groups, elected

          8  officials and the City Administration, to create a

          9  comprehensive development plan for Downtown

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 Through the ULURP review process,

         12  which began last December, additional comments and

         13  suggestions have been incorporated into the plan.

         14                 The result is the Downtown

         15  Development Plan that is before you today.

         16                 The plan is an array of actions

         17  designed to provide significant benefits to the

         18  diverse communities of Downtown Brooklyn.

         19                 Building on the existing strengths in

         20  Downtown, the plan will further solidify Downtown's

         21  place, as not only a major business district, but as

         22  the Borough's premiere shopping district, as the

         23  Borough's epicenter for arts and culture, as the

         24  City's largest concentration of students and

         25  academic institutions, and as the center of mixed
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          2  income housing development.

          3                 This comprehensive plan has

          4  benefitted from the thoughtful input of Community

          5  Board 2 and Borough President Marty Markowitz,

          6  Council Member Latitia James, Dave Yassky has also

          7  provided invaluable advice and suggestions on issues

          8  that ultimately produce the better plan.

          9                 Through their leadership, as you have

         10  heard, initiatives have begun to address issues

         11  vital to Downtown and the surrounding communities.

         12                 These include:

         13                 A workforce development committee

         14  that seeks to connect local Brooklyn residents to

         15  the plan's projected 18,000 permanent jobs.

         16                 The Downtown Brooklyn Council and the

         17  City have also embarked on efforts to minimize the

         18  traffic and parking impact, a future development on

         19  the surrounding residential communities.

         20                 And by partnering with the respected

         21  Downtown Brooklyn Advisory and Oversight Committee,

         22  we will seek to maximize minority and woman-owned

         23  contractor participation in the new Downtown

         24  Brooklyn construction project.

         25                 The initiatives will ensure that all
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          2  of Downtown's communities benefit from the plan's

          3  8,000 construction jobs, 18,000 permanent jobs,

          4  1,000 mixed income housing units and $100 million in

          5  public infrastructure improvements.

          6                 As we move forward with the

          7  development, the Downtown Brooklyn Council will play

          8  a lead role in continuing these partnerships,

          9  initiatives and dialogue.

         10                 The Council believes that planned

         11  development has the potential of creating tremendous

         12  benefits and opportunities.

         13                 Through cooperation and partnerships,

         14  challenges that result from development are managed

         15  and positive solutions are implemented.

         16                 We believe that the zoning and

         17  development plan currently before the City Council

         18  is just such a plan.

         19                 Therefore, the Downtown Brooklyn

         20  Council urges the City Council to approve this plan.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. BURKE: Good afternoon, Council

         23  members. My name is Michael Burke, and I'm the

         24  Director of the Downtown Brooklyn Council.

         25                 I'm just going to add a few other
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          2  comments to Don Elliot's comments and to

          3  Commissioner Walsh's regarding particularly

          4  workforce development issues, and contracting

          5  opportunities to minority local women-owned

          6  businesses.

          7                 As you know, this Downtown plan will

          8  create billions of dollars in contracting

          9  opportunities through the construction of about six

         10  and a half million square feet of residential,

         11  commercial and retail space.

         12                 We, the Downtown Brooklyn Council,

         13  and the City, are working in partnership with the

         14  Downtown Brooklyn Advisory and Oversight Committee,

         15  which was established years ago to make sure that

         16  Downtown Brooklyn construction projects benefitted

         17  local, minority and woman-owned contractors.

         18                 It's been a model that works. It's

         19  been a very quiet model. It hasn't gotten much

         20  publicity, but over the years it has ensured that

         21  hundreds of millions of dollars in contracting

         22  opportunities have been provided to local, minority

         23  and woman-owned firms.

         24                 We will continue this effort as we go

         25  forward with Downtown Brooklyn development. And as
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          2  you'll hear later on this afternoon, I believe there

          3  will be some representatives from the Downtown

          4  Brooklyn Advisory and Oversight Committee, that can

          5  give you more detail on the successes of its

          6  committee.

          7                 The second effort is looking at the

          8  permanent jobs that the Downtown plan will provide.

          9  We're looking at approximately 18,000 jobs. The

         10  Downtown Council has partnered with the Borough

         11  President's Office to create the Downtown Brooklyn

         12  Workforce Development Committee. The Borough

         13  President, all of the workforce development

         14  providers, job training organizations, the elected

         15  officials, Council Member James and Council Member

         16  Yassky are all on this committee.

         17                 We're looking to make sure that as

         18  new jobs are created in Downtown Brooklyn, we

         19  connect those jobs with the locals residents who

         20  live in the surrounding communities.

         21                 We've learned from successes in the

         22  past and from failures in the past, and we're

         23  putting all of that knowledge into this new effort

         24  to try to make sure that workforce development does

         25  in fact benefit the folks in the surrounding
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          2  communities.

          3                 We have the one-stop shop that the

          4  City recently opened on 9 Bond Street as a

          5  participant. They will probably be one of the lead

          6  agencies as we put this process together. And it's

          7  going to be an ongoing effort. This both efforts for

          8  construction and permanent job placement, this will

          9  go on long after this ULURP is finished. In fact, it

         10  will probably start soon after the ULURP is

         11  finished, in terms of the real work that we need to

         12  get done.

         13                 And as development proceeds 2005,

         14  2006, 2007, we will ideally create thousands of new

         15  jobs for Brooklyn residents.

         16                 Because of this we urge the City

         17  Council to approve the Downtown Brooklyn Plan.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 Oh, I'm sorry, one other thing. I

         20  actually have testimony from the Brooklyn Chamber of

         21  Commerce, Kenneth Adams and Randy Peers, who are

         22  lobbying to get more money for Brooklyn in

         23  Washington right now. So, I'm going to be submitting

         24  their testimony in writing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.
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          2                 By the way, Commissioner Walsh, you

          3  failed to identify yourself into the record, so I'm

          4  doing it now. Thank you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I'm asked to make

          7  an announcement. If you're here for the 1:00

          8  Subcommittee on Planning, Disposition and

          9  Concessions, guess what? It's not going on here.

         10                 We're moving it over to 250 Broadway,

         11  16th floor.

         12                 Next panel is Carla Mitchellini.

         13  Joann Simon. Phillys Truscott. Carmen Garcia.

         14                 And while they're getting seated

         15  here, we've been joined by Council Member Charles

         16  Barron. He got some applause. Wait a second, I'm

         17  jealous here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much, Chairman.

         20                 I appreciate the opportunity to say a

         21  few words on this Downtown development, and will

         22  definitely be expressing it to the Commissioner and

         23  those who were here prior to us.

         24                 You know, when I hear all of the jobs

         25  that we're going to be getting with all of this
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          2  development that's coming into our neighborhoods,

          3  I'm concerned that we might be experiencing full

          4  employment of black people in New York City, because

          5  every time there is a project, we're going to get

          6  all of the minority contracts, all of us will have a

          7  job in a short period of time. Mr. Chairman, this is

          8  a very, very glorious moment for black people in New

          9  York City for all the employment. So we thank them

         10  for that.

         11                 But I do want to remind them that

         12  after all is said and done, all the development that

         13  has taken place thus far, 50 percent of black males

         14  are unemployed, 43 percent of black females are

         15  unemployed, and 35 percent of Latinos in this town

         16  are unemployed, and minority contracts after the

         17  Giuliani Administration have been gutted almost

         18  completely, so that remains to be seen.

         19                 But I come to talk in support of the

         20  residents of Duffield Street and the underground

         21  railroad and preserving that history.

         22                 I think that to my colleagues on this

         23  Committee, I would appreciate it if we would not

         24  consider passing the Downtown Development Plan, if

         25  it means destroying and not preserving history. And
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          2  it's very subjective. History is very subjective. I

          3  sit on the Landmarks Committee, and when people come

          4  before us to landmark things, it's usually very

          5  subjective as to what is historical facts, what is

          6  historical evidence, and sometimes that subjectivity

          7  is based upon whatever plans that people want to put

          8  forward so they could just not see it. It should not

          9  be there. But a lot of our history was restored or

         10  preserved orally, a lot of our history has been

         11  destroyed, and there are some evidences, evidence of

         12  artifacts. But you can't tell us that you're going

         13  to dig up the place and if we find artifacts then

         14  you're right, after you've done destroyed the

         15  building, or you can't tell us you're going to take

         16  a picture of the building and then destroy it and

         17  preserve the picture. We're going to be fighting

         18  very, very hard to preserve the historical value of

         19  the underground railroad.

         20                 We believe the evidence is there, and

         21  I think when people hear and are open-minded, that

         22  they will see that they can do all of this

         23  development and be maybe a little less ambitious,

         24  and preserve some of the historical value, typically

         25  of black history, African-American history, in this
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          2  City.

          3                 So, I hope the members of your

          4  committee, that it doesn't leave this Committee

          5  without seriously considering, not considering a

          6  project that destroys the historical value,

          7  particularly the underground railroad. When we just

          8  finished burying 200 and some odd African bones and

          9  there are 20,000 that are found on this site.

         10                 And I'll stop there, Mr. Chairman.

         11  And I'm going on a little longer. I see the look in

         12  your face, you're about to jump in, so I'm getting a

         13  little nervous. But, you know, they said when they

         14  built City Hall and built all of these buildings

         15  down here, they said there wasn't no historical

         16  value. Now, many of these buildings sit on the top

         17  of African bones of our ancestors, over 20,000 of

         18  them. We stopped them with the African Burial Ground

         19  Downtown, and we only stopped a few hundred, but

         20  thousands they have built upon because they said it

         21  was no historical evidence of it.

         22                 So, I just feel very strongly about

         23  this, and I hope that this Committee will not

         24  approve of a project that really destroys any part

         25  of African American history.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just want to

          4  thank you for coming here and making that statement.

          5  And rest assured that the City, and myself as Chair,

          6  will be taking a serious look at the things that

          7  have been brought to our attention today. And, in

          8  fact, that's one of the reasons I'm laying the vote

          9  over. Normally we would take the vote today. The

         10  vote will be laid over until Thursday morning before

         11  the main Land Use Committee, so that we have an

         12  opportunity to go back to the Administration and see

         13  if we can work out some further concessions to the

         14  community, especially in terms of the issue that you

         15  just heard.

         16                 MS. SIMON: Thank you, Councilman.

         17                 My name is Jo Anne Simon, and I'm

         18  testifying on behalf of the Downtown Brooklyn

         19  Coalition.

         20                 I want to thank you and thank Council

         21  Members Yassky and James for working with us over

         22  the last several months to help improve this plan.

         23                 I would just like to state as a

         24  matter of history, I'm a former President of the

         25  Boerum Hill Association, and have been involved in
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          2  proactive planning in Downtown Brooklyn and Boerum

          3  Hill for quite a number of years spearheading the

          4  Hoyt/Schermerhorn project quite a number of years

          5  ago.

          6                 On behalf of the Downtown Coalition,

          7  we're calling upon the Mayor and the members of the

          8  City Council to endorse our contract with the

          9  community and the community statements of need,

         10  which as you know, we presented to you previously.

         11                 Council Members Yassky and James have

         12  done so, as well as Congressman Owens and Assembly

         13  Member Millman.

         14                 The contract with the community seeks

         15  to acknowledge that the surrounding residential

         16  neighborhoods have an integral relationship with the

         17  commercial core. Our need for safety and mobility

         18  within and among our communities is of paramount

         19  importance to us, and we stress that the surrounding

         20  communities support development that makes sense,

         21  and that respect the sale and character of Downtown

         22  Brooklyn and the community.

         23                 Harvey Schultz just asked how is it

         24  that Brooklyn become this paragon of development,

         25  and my answer is people are here, City Planning is
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          2  here, EDC is here, because we were there. We were

          3  the neighborhoods that without any money and without

          4  any investment by the public bought homes in red

          5  lined areas and revitalized these neighborhoods and

          6  where, places where developers feared to tread and

          7  now seems is dying to tread, and, frankly, we think

          8  that we had a lot to do with it. And if there's one

          9  sentiment that people in the surrounding communities

         10  feel very strongly, it's that we had an awful lot to

         11  do with this and we would like our needs respected

         12  and dealt with in an appropriate and commensurate

         13  fashion.

         14                 The community statement of needs is a

         15  consensus agenda. It is not a wishlist. And it is

         16  not a list of things that we think we will need. It

         17  is a list of things that we need now.

         18                 If the City wants to develop in

         19  Downtown Brooklyn, our response is, show us the

         20  money. This is a plan that seeks to do an awful lot

         21  on the cheek. This is a plan that is not investing

         22  sufficiently in our neighborhoods and in the

         23  infrastructure that we need to make this work.

         24                 We are heartened by the promises that

         25  we've been given. Frankly, thus far they are just
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          2  promises. They are not enough to make the community

          3  sign onto this plan and in the wholesale fashion

          4  that's desired.

          5                 There is a lot of development in and

          6  around Downtown Brooklyn. Ikea, the Atlantic Yards,

          7  110 Livingston Street, the Independent Bank and the

          8  air rights issues. These things are going to require

          9  our involvement as these things unfold over the next

         10  ten, 20 years.

         11                 Recently Planning Commissioner Burden

         12  was quoted as congratulating the communities in the

         13  City for resolving these issues. Frankly, we're not

         14  sure who she was speaking with, but it wasn't us. We

         15  don't feel that it's been resolved.

         16                 I do want to address the open space

         17  issues, as Sue Wolfe alluded to earlier, and that is

         18  that we will be receiving funds from the JM Kaplan

         19  Fund to help us identify sites that will be

         20  developable and able to mass properties so that we

         21  can develop open space in Downtown Brooklyn, and

         22  then we will be seeking further funds to engage in a

         23  collaborative community process and develop

         24  recommendations and guidelines for the programmatic

         25  issues that will be raised, and we feel this open

                                                            172

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  space is urgently needed and we will be coming back

          3  to the Council for help with that in the future. And

          4  I see that my three minutes are up. Thank you.

          5                 MR. TRUSCOTT: My name is Philip

          6  Truscott. I'm Chairman of a non-profit called

          7  Brooklyn Vision.

          8                 Chairman Avella, let me start with an

          9  apology for my outburst, ill-timed outburst earlier.

         10  But you should compliment your security staff.

         11  Within 30 seconds of my standing up and speaking, I

         12  received a friendly hug from two New York City

         13  Security Officers and an NYPD officer. So, I want to

         14  say that I felt loved, I felt loved and they proved

         15  their diligence.

         16                 What I wanted to mention was a

         17  finding by Robert Friedman, Director of the New York

         18  State Committee on Open Government, who reviews the

         19  case law on public meetings and who has written

         20  similarly, if by rule, a public body chose to permit

         21  certain citizens to address it for ten minutes, such

         22  City representatives, while permitting others to

         23  address it for only three, or not at all, such a

         24  rule, in my view, would be unreasonable.

         25                 So, respectfully, I would propose one
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          2  looks at this law and the very participants would

          3  feel equally respected, and your work day might be

          4  shorter, so everyone would gain from such a policy.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If I can

          6  interrupt? Do me a favor: Get me a copy of that

          7  letter.

          8                 I know Mr. Friedman, and he and I

          9  talk a lot, and I'd be very curious.  If that's his

         10  opinion, then we should do it. You know, we should

         11  follow the open government rule.

         12                 I mean, but it's been a matter of

         13  practice to allow the Administration, or the

         14  applicant, more time during the public hearing. But

         15  you raised a legitimate point. We'll look at it.

         16                 MR. TRUSCOTT: Thank you.

         17                 Council members, imagine that you're

         18  an independent retailer on Fulton Street. Would you

         19  feel respected if you were told that through a

         20  condemnation procedure you were going to be forced

         21  out of your premises on the basis of a compensation

         22  payment limited to $10,000? $10,000, that's the

         23  number written into the law, the number the City

         24  officials couldn't seem to remember earlier in this

         25  hearing when they were asked it.
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          2                 It's interesting to note that the

          3  Census Bureau of the United States do a survey every

          4  five years of businesses and the City could uphold

          5  us the revenue rate but businesses, retailers, and

          6  the zip code concern.

          7                 Would it surprise you to know the

          8  average business, the average retailer in the

          9  district concerned employs ten people, and if you

         10  measure the value of the business based on revenue,

         11  that business is worth $460,000?

         12                 Instead of awarding people for

         13  creating these jobs, we now propose to evict them,

         14  and pay compensation worth 46 times less than the

         15  value of the business.

         16                 The Fifth Amendment is supposed to

         17  guarantee just compensation, but the courts do not

         18  apply that protection to the value of businesses,

         19  only to buildings and land.

         20                 Sure, in some cases people will start

         21  up again somewhere else and make a success of it,

         22  but in other cases, the City will be confiscating

         23  businesses that represent their life savings and

         24  their retirement income.

         25                 Let none of us try to ease our
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          2  consciences by saying that the firms being removed

          3  will be able to move into new stores at the bottom

          4  of the new skyscrapers. No independent retailers

          5  have leased space in the MetroTech Towers, Atlantic

          6  Center Mall, or the Atlantic Terminal Building -

          7  zero.

          8                 The claim that this plan will create

          9  many new ethnic minority-owned businesses is

         10  appalling hypocrisy. The history of these schemes,

         11  if you look at those buildings, is that they replace

         12  permanently ethnic minority-owned stores, chain

         13  stores. Does this scheme show respect for the rights

         14  of this City Council, when condemnation notices were

         15  placed on doors in Duffield Street in March of this

         16  year when it was not even in an urban renewal zone,

         17  and the City Council was months away from

         18  considering it?

         19                 Does it show the respect for the

         20  constitution we would want when under 15 percent of

         21  the land will be condemned for public use, like

         22  parks, and the rest will go for privately-owned

         23  buildings. Why not consider a law that would allow

         24  the independent retailers to come back to the

         25  skyscrapers. The skyscraper owners will get huge tax
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          2  abatements, why shouldn't they give something back

          3  to the people they're replacing?

          4                 Council members, you are the last

          5  line of defense for those owners and tenants who

          6  would lose their homes or their businesses.

          7                 Our courts do not enforce an honest

          8  definition of public use to justify condemnation.

          9  The courts do not apply the just compensation

         10  principal to business values.

         11                 Council members, at this time, your

         12  vote may be the only thing stopping these

         13  demolitions. For those tenants you have the power to

         14  ensure the word "liberty and justice for all" is

         15  more than a slogan. For the business people, you can

         16  be the guardian of their American dream. You can be

         17  the keepers of Lady Liberty's promise.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I will assume

         20  that the other two people we have called to the

         21  panel have left.

         22                 Victoria Aviles, Ginny Cooper, Karen

         23  Hopkins, Steve Schechter.

         24                 MS. AVILES: My name is Victoria

         25  Aviles, and I appear before you today as President
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          2  of the MetroTech Business Improvement District.

          3                 I am the owner of property at 384

          4  Bridge Street, and the proprietor of Bridge

          5  Cleaners, which has operated at this location for 40

          6  years.

          7                 During my time in Downtown Brooklyn,

          8  I have seen many positive changes. We have a

          9  cleaner, safer and friendlier neighborhood in large

         10  part due to the efforts of the members of the

         11  MetroTech BID working together with government,

         12  local elected officials and City agencies.

         13                 In spite of this improvement, the

         14  repair business community has not yet received the

         15  full benefit of the MetroTech development. This is

         16  due to the fact that many of the workers and

         17  visitors to the country have not taken advantage of

         18  the shopping opportunities that exist just at their

         19  doorstep.

         20                 This may be the result of a number of

         21  factors, because of the lack of initiative on the

         22  part of commercial property owners and the tenants

         23  to a great property and the quality of the repair

         24  operation.

         25                 The reason that MetroTech BID is at
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          2  the City Council is to voice the support for the

          3  Downtown plan as it will enhance and further the

          4  objectives and goals of the MetroTech Business

          5  Improvement District of Greater Downtown Brooklyn.

          6                 This plan will address many of the

          7  issues that have impeded several progress in

          8  establishing an extended multi-use downtown, as well

          9  as helping to create, I stand corrected, a multi-use

         10  downtown.

         11                 This includes improvements to

         12  existence of open space, such as Flatbush Avenue,

         13  and the creation of more open areas along Willoughby

         14  Street.

         15                 The rezoning that will permit more

         16  development of office and mixed-income housing is

         17  much welcome.

         18                 Finally, attention to a

         19  transportation problem. It's essential for providing

         20  access to the Downtown Court. It is essential that

         21  the MTA address both the scheduling and

         22  accessibility to the Downtown Brooklyn subway

         23  station, particularly the MetroTech Lawrence Street

         24  Station.

         25                 We understand that the assembly of
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          2  some of the critical sites to provide for this

          3  improvement may require exercising the City's powers

          4  of eminent domain. We will ask that any displacement

          5  -- I just have a little bit more, okay?

          6                 We will ask that any displacement of

          7  tenants or property owners be handled sensitively

          8  and generously in order to minimize the pain of

          9  relocation.

         10                 This was the motto for MetroTech and

         11  should be continued as we move forward.

         12                 We thank the New York City Council

         13  for its hard work and look forward to continuing to

         14  work closely with you during this exciting time.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         17                 MS. SALPETER: Good afternoon. I'm

         18  Ellen Salpeter, a long-time Brooklyn resident and a

         19  constituent of Council Member James.

         20                 I am the Director of the Heart of

         21  Brooklyn, a cultural partnership between the

         22  Brooklyn Botanic Garden, the Brooklyn Children's

         23  Museum, the Brooklyn Museum, the Brooklyn Public

         24  Library, Prospect Park and the Prospect Park Zoo.

         25  Our members employ more than 2,000 people, 80
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          2  percent of whom live in Brooklyn.

          3                 Part of Brooklyn supports the

          4  Downtown Brooklyn plan and urges the City Council to

          5  do the same and this Committee.

          6                 The plan's sensitivity to the issue

          7  of transition from the commercial core downtown to

          8  residential communities emanating from it is

          9  important to our members.

         10                 As we represent cultural treasures

         11  and collections located in Grand Army Plaza, we see

         12  the plan is critical to our goal of serving the

         13  residents and employees of Brooklyn.

         14                 Creating an enhanced Flatbush Avenue

         15  commercial corridor that will link to our

         16  neighborhood and improving transportation systems

         17  will greatly enhance the visitor experience at the

         18  heart of Brooklyn.

         19                 We see currently more than 10 million

         20  visits a year, and look forward to working with the

         21  Downtown Brooklyn Council to create an improved

         22  Downtown for all of Brooklyn, its residents,

         23  employees and visitors.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. COOPER: Good morning, Chairman
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          2  Avella, and Subcommittee members.  And especially

          3  Brooklyn's Councilwoman Tish James, good to see you.

          4                 I am Ginny Cooper. I am the Executive

          5  Director at Brooklyn Public Library, and I thank you

          6  for giving me an opportunity to outline why the

          7  library supports Downtown Brooklyn's plan.

          8                 We support the proposal before you

          9  for a number of reasons that you've already heard

         10  from those who have spoken before.

         11                 We are here today for a specific

         12  reason. Brooklyn Public Library is here to urge the

         13  Zoning Subcommittee, the Land Use Committee and the

         14  full Council to approve the Downtown Brooklyn Plan,

         15  because it includes three specific applications that

         16  will allow us to use City-owned property known as

         17  the "south site," it's that triangle of land bounded

         18  by Flatbush, Hanson Place, Ashland Place and

         19  Lafayette Avenue, to construct a spectacular new

         20  visual and performing arts library.

         21                 The visual and performing arts

         22  library, the VPA, is a truly public entity, and will

         23  be the largest anchor tenant in the planned BAM

         24  cultural district.

         25                 It will serve as a physical and a
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          2  virtual gateway to arch resources of all kind. It

          3  will be housed in a visually stunning building

          4  designed by Enrique Norton of Ten Architectos

          5  (phonetic), and VPA will provide Brooklyn and New

          6  York City's community of art students, children and

          7  teens, emerging and established artists, and anyone

          8  interested in the arts, access to a wealth of both

          9  traditional and innovative resources.

         10                 It will provide a wide array of

         11  spaces and amenities where artists, students, the

         12  public, library patrons, all, can create,

         13  collaborate and enjoy the arts, and through its

         14  strong presence in the virtual world, the VPA will

         15  provide the same resources to anyone anywhere at any

         16  time.

         17                 As the first library devoted

         18  exclusively to the visual and performing arts in New

         19  York City, the VPA will embody a new model of public

         20  space and house reading rooms, artist spaces,

         21  archives, galleries, special environments to

         22  children and teens, media labs, an auditorium and an

         23  around the clock media lounge.

         24                 All will feature the latest in

         25  technology and creative architectural thinking.

                                                            183

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2                 The VPA's archives will preserve the

          3  records of Brooklyn's Arts communities and will

          4  chronicle the Borough's history of innovation in

          5  dance, in music and in theater.

          6                 We are confident that the VPA will

          7  serve as a mixing chamber, that it will foster both

          8  artistic and economic growth.

          9                 The VPA will be a place where

         10  students and residents from Ft. Greene, Downtown

         11  Brooklyn, Prospect Heights, Park Slope, and through

         12  the Borough, the cities, yes, even the world can

         13  come to think, study, read, create and perform.

         14  There's really no other library like this in New

         15  York today, and it will be right there in Downtown

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 Thank you for your support.

         18                 MS. WESTCOTT: Good afternoon, Council

         19  members. My name is TC Westcott and I am the Vice

         20  President of Finance and Administration at

         21  Polytechnic University.

         22                 On behalf of the University, I'd like

         23  to thank you for the opportunity to speak with you

         24  this afternoon.

         25                 Polytechnic University is celebrating
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          2  it's 150th year in Downtown Brooklyn. We are proud

          3  of our Brooklyn roots and the ongoing renaissance of

          4  this great borough.

          5                 Polytechnic supports the Downtown

          6  Brooklyn plan and urges the City Council to do the

          7  same. We feel the plan offers a comprehensive vision

          8  for the resurgence of the entire Downtown Brooklyn

          9  area.

         10                 For Brooklyn academic institutions

         11  such as Polytechnic, the new zoning will allow us to

         12  expand our campuses. We opened our first residence

         13  hall on our MetroTech campus in 2002. And while our

         14  students enjoy the diversity of Brooklyn, many of

         15  them head to Manhattan for shopping, cultural and

         16  social events.

         17                 The nearly 1 million square feet of

         18  retail space proposed in the Brooklyn plan will

         19  diversify the options available to our students, and

         20  to all who live, work and visit this area.

         21                 The new cultural facilities will be a

         22  boon to Brooklyn and serve as a beacon to our fellow

         23  New Yorkers in Manhattan, Queens, Staten and the

         24  Bronx and also our suburban neighbors.

         25                 The development of the Library for
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          2  the Performing Arts will immeasurably enrich our

          3  borough whose contribution to the arts far outstrips

          4  its size.

          5                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan is a

          6  win/win for all, and Polytechnic University supports

          7  it.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: To Ms. Cooper,

         10  before she leaves. To Ginny Cooper of the Brooklyn

         11  Public Library, I just wanted to let the

         12  Subcommittee know that I support the action items

         13  related to the zoning changes so that we can create

         14  this exciting library. And to Ellen, thank you for

         15  your testimony. Thank you all. Bye-bye.

         16                 MR. GVCENSTEIN: My name is Lewis

         17  Gvcenstein. I am going to put my glasses on now so I

         18  can see what I wrote. I am a born and bred

         19  Brooklynite who has experienced the Steeplechase,

         20  the Thunderbolt, 20,000 Leagues Under the Sea of the

         21  Duffield Theater, the Rock-n-Roll shows of the

         22  Paramount Theatre. But I bet most of the youth of

         23  Brooklyn have not experienced this because it's gone

         24  and it's forgotten.

         25                 The same goes for the underground
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          2  railroad. It's gone and it's forgotten.

          3                 Several weeks ago I heard City

          4  Planning announce, except for 233 Duffield Street,

          5  all the other buildings on Duffield Street were

          6  post-Civil War. There were no tunnels and there were

          7  no abolitionist churches.

          8                 I brought proof with me right now

          9  here with some maps, I'll show you later, that these

         10  statements are not true.

         11                 I have maps that will show that the

         12  six remaining houses on Duffield Street date back to

         13  at least 1855, and I have accompanying documents of

         14  the Department of Finance that say some of them go

         15  back to 1847 to 1848. These can be found in our

         16  packet. We have the packet.

         17                 The maps clearly show that there are

         18  voids of most of the houses on the odd numbered side

         19  of Duffield Street. These voids are probably

         20  tunnels. These six houses are in the middle of a

         21  triangle of block abolitionist churches.

         22                 Remember, an amateur historian going

         23  to public libraries and public records found out all

         24  about this. What I ask this body is not to include

         25  these six houses in the Brooklyn Urban Renewal Plan,
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          2  but to save them where they allow them to be the

          3  gateway between Brooklyn's past and Brooklyn's

          4  future.

          5                 I am here somewhat reluctant to show

          6  you evidence, because every time we produce evidence

          7  to the Brooklyn Planning Board, they're used against

          8  us. They say give us more stuff, give us more stuff,

          9  and they give us the stuff and say, oh, well, I can

         10  show it against you. And I'm going to show you some

         11  stuff that they can't tell us didn't exist.

         12                 This map is from 1855. This map shows

         13  all the houses, our houses and churches surrounding

         14  our houses. And the map is included in your packet.

         15  It shows the triangle right around our houses, of

         16  block abolitionist churches. If you have black

         17  abolitionist churches, then where do you think the

         18  abolitionists are living? They're living in the

         19  churches, or they live in the houses around the

         20  churches? And that's what we have, these houses,

         21  we're right in the center of this whole thing.

         22                 I have another map here from 1865.

         23  It's a block map. It shows Duffield Street. Here is

         24  Duffield Street. Here it is. There are houses on the

         25  block. They said "no houses until post-Civil War."
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          2  Houses before the Civil War. Excuse me, they were

          3  wrong. They say over here no void. We say, yes,

          4  there are voids, on your City maps. You can look at

          5  it. I'm not lying. I have nothing to lie here. We

          6  are trying to save black history. We're trying to

          7  save history for everybody so they can come in and

          8  take a look at the houses. Go down in the basement.

          9  I welcome open my basement up to anybody who wants

         10  to come down and take a look at it and see the voids

         11  and see what's going on down there.

         12                 Open up our basements. We know

         13  there's a lot more and we need time. We need that

         14  time to explore it.

         15                 In the limited time I have had I have

         16  found information out. I have also found out the

         17  name of the builder of my building, right? Thomas

         18  Edwards. He's the name. How did I find that out?

         19  Because I did the research. I'm a researcher. I'm

         20  not a historian, but I'm doing the research, and I'm

         21  asking you guys, right? The Council, the three of

         22  you that are left over there, I'm asking you to just

         23  give us some time. Don't run the bulldozer over and

         24  destroy these houses until we can prove our point,

         25  and I know we're going to prove it, because the
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          2  history is out there, and that's all I have to say.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: By the way, let

          5  me just sort of add that I appreciate your comments

          6  about the time frame and the pressure you're under.

          7  But remember, we're under a time frame. There is a

          8  clock that is moving ahead, and we have to take

          9  action. And I'm not asking you to comment, I'm just

         10  telling you, I want you to realize the pressure that

         11  we're under. It's not to say that you're issues

         12  aren't serious, and we're not considering them.

         13                 MR. WALKER: Good afternoon. My name

         14  is Dave Walker. I live at 436 Albee Square West, and

         15  I am one of the houses that are -- they are going to

         16  take. And the reason why I say that I tell my fellow

         17  neighbors here, in my opinion, this whole meeting is

         18  a scam.

         19                 Basically, I believe all of you have

         20  already made your decisions. Yassky is not even here

         21  to even listen to our concerns, because he's not

         22  concerned. And that is smack-dab in his community.

         23                 And I hear you talk a lot about

         24  MetroTech, which I live a rock-throw away. MetroTech

         25  has very, if any, blacks in management (sic). And
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          2  when you go in their office, that basically controls

          3  the district, there are no blacks working in that

          4  office there. None. None. Fifty percent of the

          5  blacks in New York City, black men are unemployed.

          6  You talk about jobs. Jobs for who? That's what I

          7  would like to know.

          8                 I have a cousin, I brought him over

          9  to MetroTech for a job, to speak to the person

         10  there, and they said we can't help you. So, when you

         11  tell me about this jobs being created, all of the

         12  development, who are the developers? I'm one of the

         13  few black owners in that community. Are any of your

         14  developers black? Or minorities? At all Hispanic?

         15  Did you check into that to see who is this property

         16  going to be given to? That's what I ask the Council.

         17                 I look at the names here of a lot of

         18  the Council members, and I know the names, and a lot

         19  of you are minority. Think about yourselves. I mean,

         20  think about your family, your history, your

         21  children. You can't just think about yourselves.

         22                 I know this is bigger than me, and I

         23  know this is going to go through, because as far as

         24  I'm concerned the fix is in and there's no way it's

         25  not going to happen.
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          2                 I've told my neighbors, they don't

          3  believe me, but I know that. We're just basically

          4  going through the motions. But I say if you're going

          5  to have this happen, ensure that this is not another

          6  MetroTech that you keep comparing it to. MetroTech

          7  does not have a lot of blacks in management.

          8                 MetroTech is not black owned. They do

          9  not have a lot of minority-owned businesses in it.

         10  So, you say MetroTech? I say not MetroTech. You say

         11  development. I say, development for who?

         12                 You say apartments. I say for who?

         13  That's what I ask.

         14                 I know this is going to go. And as

         15  far as the condemnation process, you're stealing our

         16  property. I got that house, it was abandoned. And I

         17  want to make one more comment. Unfortunately, one of

         18  your developers came here, the guy who said he did

         19  the work, the research. He said my house was totally

         20  changed. He used my house, 436. I'd like you to go

         21  and look at my house. Nothing is changed. It has the

         22  original detail in the front. It has the majority of

         23  the original detail inside. It's a shame that he's

         24  not under oath, because he stand here and he lied in

         25  front of everybody about several different things.
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          2  He lied in front of everybody. And like it's a joke.

          3                 They said they did research. No

          4  research was done. I just recently met this man in

          5  less than a year. He did research. So, you can fool

          6  the people by saying this is a real meeting. I know

          7  that it's gonna go through.

          8                 I've worked for the City for 20

          9  years. I've given public to public servant for 20

         10  years. You are a public servant. When I walk into

         11  there it said "by the people, of the people, and for

         12  the people." Try being for the people, all people,

         13  of color, of economic, of gender.

         14                 I'm going to wrap this up by saying

         15  don't just think of yourselves, the few Council

         16  people who are here. Please think of your generation

         17  that's further than you. Because it may not affect

         18  you now, but it will affect your kids.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MS. MAGORITY: Good afternoon, Council

         21  -- Chairperson Avella, and Council Member James and

         22  whoever else is here.

         23                 I'm Jane Magority. I switched with

         24  Nancy Bowe. And testifying on behalf of the Brooklyn

         25  Heights Association and Downtown Brooklyn Coalition.
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          2                 It's with enormous disappointment

          3  that we oppose this plan. We had hoped that EDC and

          4  City Planning would have produced a plan that's

          5  provided for new development while addressing the

          6  traffic and parking problems that have long plagued

          7  Downtown Brooklyn.

          8                 Instead, they've agreed to have DOT

          9  begin several studies that might solve these

         10  problems. With a long history of studies, these

         11  results are ignored, our safe and post-approval

         12  studies is worn out.

         13                 As an example, we've worked for many

         14  years on the Downtown Brooklyn Traffic Calming

         15  Project, the study that is yet to see the light of

         16  day from DOT, despite being approved by the

         17  community a year ago.

         18                 So, for the residential communities,

         19  the Downtown Brooklyn Plan offers too little.

         20                 If this Administration is genuinely

         21  committed to addressing parking and traffic

         22  problems, identified by community groups in our

         23  statement of needs, the document prepared by the

         24  Downtown Brooklyn Coalition of Neighborhoods, that

         25  includes Brooklyn Heights, then the following three
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          2  items are critical:

          3                 A special Downtown enforcement unit

          4  of the NYPD that is dedicated to parking and traffic

          5  enforcement. The 84th neither has the personnel, nor

          6  frankly the clout, for that kind of enforcement

          7  that's required in Downtown Brooklyn.

          8                 A dedicated police unit should be set

          9  up with the political will and knowledge needed for

         10  this task. Our previous attempt at controlling the

         11  rampant, illegal and commuter parking by law

         12  enforcement agencies at all levels has not been

         13  successful. Despite the existence of a no authorized

         14  permit zone, thousands of government employees use

         15  Downtown Brooklyn and the residential streets as

         16  free commuter parking.

         17                 This provokes resentment from

         18  merchants, residents and visitors, and it undermines

         19  citizens' respect for government.

         20                 We understand that some permits

         21  issued to Mayoral agencies are being reduced and

         22  that enforcement is being stepped up and we

         23  appreciate these small steps. We see little change

         24  at the street level. Much more required to curb

         25  abuses by law enforcement agencies, which include
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          2  not only NYPD, but FLEA, Federal Law Enforcement

          3  Agency; the court system, we have six courts in

          4  Downtown Brooklyn; the District Attorney's Office;

          5  the Eastern District, and others, because law

          6  enforcement agencies issue their own permits and do

          7  not answer to DOT, enforcing agents are unwilling to

          8  police their own.

          9                 We've also called for an extension of

         10  the no authorized permit zone to the limits of the

         11  Downtown Brooklyn Traffic Calming study area. When

         12  enforced by the special unit that we're asking for,

         13  this regulation could be an effective response to

         14  government abuses. And it needs to be extensive

         15  enough so that unauthorized parking doesn't move to

         16  other neighborhoods.

         17                 And third, resident permit parking is

         18  the last measure we consider essential for the

         19  residential communities that surround Downtown

         20  Brooklyn.

         21                 We are aware that the Downtown

         22  Brooklyn Council will conduct a study to determine

         23  whether resident permit parking would work in

         24  Downtown Brooklyn. We're apprehensive on a couple of

         25  levels about the study.
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          2                 We've been told off the record that

          3  DOT does not want to implement residential permit

          4  parking.

          5                 Should this be the case, the

          6  likelihood of study conclusions that would recommend

          7  permits is quite low.

          8                 To conclude. Just one more paragraph,

          9  then I'll submit it. To conclude, our communities

         10  are not opposed to development. But what disappoints

         11  us most about the Downtown Brooklyn plan is that a

         12  better plan would not have been difficult. It would

         13  have required a little more investment and the City

         14  to stand up to communities that have made Brooklyn

         15  such a wonderful place to live and work. Thank you.

         16                 MS. CHATEL: Hi. I'm Joy Chatel of 227

         17  Duffield Street. Chatel's have lived at Duffield

         18  Street since 1948. I'm here to tell you about what's

         19  going on with this underground railroad.

         20                 Many people think that underground

         21  railroads was a massive tunnel. These were safe

         22  houses led by conductors. That's where they got the

         23  idea it was a railroad or whatever.

         24                 The National Parks of Underground

         25  Railroads said that in order for us to be
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          2  landmarked, it would take oral testimony, legend

          3  testimony and factual testimony. There was no signs

          4  outside these doors saying this is the underground

          5  railroad, come on, you're going to be safe inside

          6  these houses.

          7                 If people had done the research that

          8  we've done -- and I mean, I leave that to the

          9  experts. I'm talking about from the naked eye. If

         10  you come down to our basement, you can see the

         11  difference. You can see where they have tunneled

         12  out. They burreled into the walls. You can see where

         13  the flagstone was cut out, and how it goes into my

         14  neighbor's property. There's a void on the map that

         15  shows you that there is open space that was used for

         16  crawling space, and at the end of the crawling

         17  space, when you got to my neighbor's house, right

         18  here, we go here and make a quick left and went out

         19  into the street. This is not even covered up.

         20                 No one has come down or came to my

         21  house to ask me if they can come in. I'd like not

         22  just to ask but to beg you. I am a grandmother of

         23  nine grandsons, and of two granddaughters, who when

         24  I showed them this, and we studied this, because I

         25  home school, and they know that the Dutch West
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          2  Indies, and their biggest trade was slaves, and then

          3  when they seen this and they went through these

          4  different houses and saw, it made a difference.

          5                 We have black children out there that

          6  nothing makes a difference because they can't see

          7  it. And if they can't see it, they don't believe it.

          8                 If you take these houses off its

          9  property, the gold is in the ground. Go into

         10  something that they can relate to, which is a house,

         11  and down into the ground, into the openings and see

         12  these shafts, and feel it, and talk about it. Most

         13  of them don't even talk about it. The law from 1997

         14  states that the underground railroad is to be

         15  taught. They didn't say I had to find an

         16  abolitionist that lives in that house. There's no

         17  way we can do that. This is what City Planning says,

         18  if I can find an abolitionist that lived in this

         19  house. We might, if given enough time, but we've

         20  done a lot of research, a lot of research. We don't

         21  know if they were connected to the churches, except

         22  for one, but we have enough time we can connect the

         23  whole thing as laypeople. But thank God Columbia

         24  University said, their Dean or Archeology said they

         25  would send someone over pro bono to do work with us.
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          2  There's a lot of other people: Dr. Jeffrey; Tara

          3  Marison from the National Park of Underground

          4  Railroad, she is the northeast coordinator. She is

          5  coming up here to New York to help fill out the

          6  application based on what I've sent her.

          7                 I have bottles that was dug out of

          8  the prisons that was in the back of my yard from

          9  1950 -- I'm sorry, from 1850s and these were from

         10  the Civil War. It was a fireman that dug them up. He

         11  dug them up from the City plan that he saw in the

         12  maps that were there.

         13                 So, I ask you, you don't have to go

         14  with this breakneck speed. Slow down. Give our

         15  children something to hold onto. Let them be able to

         16  see and feel. Let them be able to experience. And

         17  maybe if they seen what people went through and gave

         18  up for them, their attitude, the culture would

         19  change for the better.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Is there anybody

         22  else signed up to speak in opposition?

         23                 Okay, what we're going to do is put

         24  into the record all of those other people that are

         25  speaking in favor, and then I'm going to be calling

                                                            200

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  on Ronda Wist from Landmarks Preservation

          3  Commission.

          4                 The following people have signed up

          5  to speak and are waiving their time to speak, is

          6  that they signed up to speak in favor.

          7                 Jerome Blue from New York City

          8  College of Technology.

          9                 Jeanne Lutfy from BAM. Robert Perris

         10  from Community Board 2.

         11                 Fred Beaufait. I guess I'm probably

         12  pronouncing it wrong. New York City College of

         13  Technology.

         14                 Al Wiltshire, Keyspan.

         15                 Mike Weiss from MetroTech BID.

         16                 Eric Deutsch from the Brooklyn Navy

         17  Yard.

         18                 Alan Fishman from the Independent

         19  Community Bank.

         20                 Patty Noonan from the New York City

         21  Partnership.

         22                 Kathy Wylde from the New York City

         23  Partnership.

         24                 Eric Blackwell from BUILD.

         25                 Edwin Alicea from TEC Brooklyn.
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          2                 Monica Foster from PBAOC. Whatever

          3  that stands for, I'm sorry. Is she here? Okay.

          4                 Paul Kerzner from Con Ed.

          5                 Frank Sanchis from Municipal Arts

          6  Society.

          7                 Carolyn Konheim from Community

          8  Consulting Services.

          9                 Jerome Blue from the New York City

         10  College of Technology. I believe that's the second

         11  one in his name.

         12                 And Janet Steinman from the

         13  Association of the Bar of the City of New York.

         14                 They have all waived their time. They

         15  are all in favor of it. We have entered their names

         16  into the record.

         17                 Yes.

         18                 MS. KONHEIM: I'm Carolyn Konheim. I'm

         19  from Community Consulting Services, an organization

         20  that provides technical assistance on transportation

         21  and environmental issues to community groups.

         22                 This is a very important discussion

         23  because you are really the only truly independent

         24  group that is overseeing this ULURP and EIS review.

         25                 I'm speaking in favor of the general
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          2  concept of the plan. We want to see that it

          3  succeeds, and the problems that we with it are that

          4  the analysis that has been done and the provisions

          5  that are there do not ensure the success. It is up

          6  to the Council to provide the conditions that will

          7  make it succeed.

          8                 In particular Transit. Seventy

          9  percent of the trips are supposed to come by

         10  Transit, and, yet, there is not one litigation step

         11  that is prescribed by improving transit.

         12                 They come up with 99 percent of the

         13  threshold for a significant impact on one subway

         14  line, and that's just a hair line away and do not

         15  analyze the backing, the way they came to that

         16  conclusion.

         17                 There needs to be a condition that

         18  the Transit Authority put in $300 million of service

         19  improvements to ensure that there is adequate

         20  transit access to the development.

         21                 There needs to be particular

         22  attention to more capacity in the corridor that

         23  serves the 4 and the 5 and the C Line, where 45

         24  percent of the trips will go.

         25                 Traffic is going to be a major issue,
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          2  but this has not been examined fully, and not fully

          3  all of the other development that's going on. This

          4  could be rectified by this Downtown Brooklyn

          5  Transportation Blueprint, if it is done correctly,

          6  and one of your conditions should be that this be a

          7  fully independent study, it is the scope publicly

          8  with the concerned citizens and businesses, that it

          9  be done through an RFP process, not by an in-house

         10  consultant. Most important that it use a traffic

         11  model that accounts for the true interaction of

         12  traffic that happens between intersections, your

         13  Environmental Impact Statement and other studies use

         14  a fictitious method.

         15                 Another major traffic improvement has

         16  got to be that the gateways to Downtown Brooklyn,

         17  the Manhattan Bridge and the Brooklyn Bridge,

         18  operate efficiently and safely, and that can be done

         19  by a study that analyzes ways of much better moving

         20  traffic through that intersection, and that

         21  pedestrians, these are the two most dangerous

         22  intersections in Brooklyn, and the ways to improve

         23  that for everybody. There should be another

         24  condition of the Council that the repaving of

         25  Tillary Street, incorporate these improvements, not

                                                            204

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  just building these hazards for another generation.

          3                 The other major thing is that the

          4  Council should establish a condition that there is a

          5  tracking mechanism for development, that the City

          6  maintain an excessive geographic information system

          7  with maps and with status of projects so that people

          8  are not caught by surprise and saying oh, there's

          9  another development and another development, without

         10  having any coordination.

         11                 So, these are ways, tangible,

         12  specific ways, that you can exercise the powers of

         13  the Council to implement this plan in a way that

         14  will ensure its success and really fulfill the

         15  potential of Downtown Brooklyn.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Do you have

         18  written testimony that you can submit? Or is this

         19  just all verbal.

         20                 MS. KONHEIM: I can prepare it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Would you,

         22  please?

         23                 And you signed on the Speaker slip,

         24  and that's why you were called in such a manner, as

         25  in favor.
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          2                 MS. KONHEIM: I am in favor.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I am not clear

          4  whether you are in favor with all those conditions,

          5  or you're actually in opposition. So, for the

          6  record, if you would clear that up?

          7                 Are you in favor of the proposal?

          8                 MS. KONHEIM: I'm in favor --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Are you in favor

         10  with all of those conditions?

         11                 MS. KONHEIM: I'm in favor with the

         12  conditions. And I have seen the Council in many

         13  other projects act in support of projects, and

         14  attach very meaningful and important conditions that

         15  really made it succeed. Because you have that kind

         16  of independence.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just want a

         18  clarification.

         19                 MS. KONHEIM: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         21                 MS. KONHEIM: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We have one other

         23  person who has subsequently signed up to speak in

         24  opposition. Constance Lesold.

         25                 MS. LESOLD: I'll be very brief,
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          2  because I am truthfully not well prepared on the

          3  total plan. But I am very familiar with the house

          4  that Joy spoke about on Duffield Street, and I

          5  totally want to agree with the position that she has

          6  taken, that it is very important for our children,

          7  especially, and the whole community, to protect and

          8  maintain our historic areas.

          9                 I have worked for years with the

         10  Eastern Parkway Coalition, and Historic Districts

         11  Council and others, trying to protect things in the

         12  northern area of Crown Heights, and I know how very

         13  difficult it is to protect historic areas. And

         14  especially with the importance of development going

         15  on, I must say that I am not at all happy with the

         16  way that MetroTech has handled its property and its

         17  responsibilities thus far.

         18                 They, you may know, refused our

         19  Assemblyman Klein the right to hold a press

         20  conference for Fire Department closings this year,

         21  when he was planning hearings of three committees of

         22  the State Legislature.

         23                 They would not, the Police

         24  Department, representing MetroTech, in my opinion,

         25  more than the people of the City of New York,
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          2  refused to allow the public to just march through

          3  MetroTech on the recent march where we were going to

          4  the four closed engine companies in Brooklyn.

          5                 I also have heard, I believe in

          6  testimony here, that they wanted to close off

          7  MetroTech's park to all the high school students of

          8  Westinghouse High School.

          9                 These semi-private, public-private

         10  developments are becoming more and more the purview

         11  of a small group of people who run them and not

         12  necessarily in the interest of democratic

         13  government, or in the free speech people, and I

         14  think we do have to remember our history.

         15                 Right now we are in a situation in

         16  the City where thousands and thousands and millions

         17  of people liable to work in something called the WEP

         18  program, which in my opinion is nothing but modern

         19  slavery. I'm talking about those programs where in

         20  order to get a welfare check you got to work all

         21  these hours a week.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I usually don't

         23  interrupt people who speak, but what does that have

         24  to do with --

         25                 MS. LESOLD: What has that got to do
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          2  with it? Well, to me as a southerner it's very

          3  obvious, 'cause, see, I grew up in the

          4  pre-integrated south, and I think to any southerner

          5  it's pretty obvious. The underground railroad was

          6  where the slaves had to hide out to get to Canada,

          7  you know, by water or by land or whatever. And as

          8  Joy said, because I know this, because my son is in

          9  the Buffalo area now, it is very hard to get

         10  historical documentation of everything you want

         11  because those things had to be very secret. And, you

         12  know, I have no question in my mind that future

         13  historians and all will call the WEP programs of

         14  today totally slave-like, that people should have to

         15  risk losing their children, risk losing everything.

         16  Those are the same people that need to be able to

         17  see what those in difficult circumstances in the

         18  past had to go through.

         19                 And I'm sorry, I'm sorry that you

         20  don't understand what I'm saying, but you know, I'm

         21  going to stop, but I go through the court system

         22  every day and the WEP workers are down there

         23  cleaning the same courts they have to appear before.

         24  I'm sorry, that's the way it is.

         25                 But thank you, Mr. Avella.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

          3                 MS. LESOLD: Thank all of you for your

          4  great work that you've done there on the fire

          5  companies. Please keep them open but keep our

          6  historic places open, too. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I would like to

          8  call up Ronda Wist from the Landmarks Preservation

          9  Commission.

         10                 Hi. A number of issues have obviously

         11  come up during the testimony --

         12                 MS. WIST: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: -- about the

         14  status of a number of landmarks that the community

         15  and the elected officials have submitted. And I was

         16  wondering if you could go through for us what that

         17  status is, where landmarks is in reviewing these.

         18                 MS. WIST: Okay, we have calendared

         19  and heard 81 Willoughby Street, which is the former

         20  New York and New Jersey telephone company building,

         21  and that's going to be designated shortly. 101

         22  Willoughby which is the Verizon building will be

         23  designated in the next couple of months.

         24                 There are three buildings within the

         25  Downtown rezoning that we are now pursing avidly.
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          2  308-310 Livingston, and I'm not going to use the

          3  addresses, the former NAMMs building, for those old

          4  Brooklynites, and the former Martin/Haffermans.

          5                 So, those are the three buildings

          6  we're pursuing immediately. I know that our Chairman

          7  and Mr. Piersol have been in touch, and there are

          8  other buildings that we're looking at, but these are

          9  the five that are our priorities within the proposed

         10  area.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         12  James.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes, just for

         14  the record, NAMMs is 456 Fulton Street and the

         15  Hafferman Building is 505 Fulton Street.

         16                 MS. WIST: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You're welcome.

         18                 And the question I have is, have you

         19  been provided a copy of these architecturally

         20  significant buildings?

         21                 MS. WIST: That's what we've been

         22  using, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         25  Yassky.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

          3                 Just earlier when Chair Burden was

          4  here, I asked whether the Administration, which is

          5  you, I suppose, Landmarks Preservation Commission,

          6  would undertake to take a look at each of these 28,

          7  or I guess the 25 remaining on that list, and do you

          8  undertake a good faith review as to whether there

          9  are historic resources worth preserving? Will you do

         10  that?

         11                 MS. WIST: I will speak for the

         12  Chairman and say that we will, and we are. But I

         13  think the Council needs to recognize our priorities

         14  in the short term.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes. No, I

         16  understand.

         17                 And the second is whether you would

         18  join with the City Planning Commission in taking a

         19  look at whether the tool of transfer development

         20  rights could be used to preserve some of the

         21  buildings that are, if you think they have historic

         22  resources that are worth preserving, whether that's

         23  a useful tool for preserving them.

         24                 MS. WIST: We very happily would join,

         25  because anything that joins planning and
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          2  preservation into a great tool is a good thing, I

          3  think for everybody. So, the Landmarks Commission is

          4  very interested in looking at TDRs here.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: We will follow

          6  it up with you. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If you can go

          8  through what is happening with the Duffield

          9  properties for me?

         10                 MS. WIST: The only thing, and I would

         11  just like to, and you all know that I was just kind

         12  of called in.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Right.

         14                 MS. WIST: I was in our hearing and I

         15  jumped in.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Right.

         17                 MS. WIST: The only thing I can tell

         18  you is that we looked at, when we looked at that

         19  document of all the important buildings, we looked

         20  at it as part of the environmental review. It didn't

         21  come in as a request for evaluation. And I believe

         22  that at the time our staff looked at the

         23  environmental review they agreed with the

         24  consultants hired to do the EIS, that there was not

         25  concrete evidence of underground railroad, et
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          2  cetera, et cetera.

          3                 I don't want to speak for other

          4  agencies, but it's my understanding that if there's

          5  new information, they are happy to take a look at

          6  it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: There seems to be

          8  a lot of new information that the residents

          9  themselves have discovered.

         10                 I'm wondering if you can take it back

         11  to Commissioner Tierney and maybe get some sort of

         12  an initial review for us by the time we take a vote

         13  on Thursday morning? Based upon, we can put some of

         14  the people that have been at this hearing in touch

         15  with the agency. I mean, even if you take a look at

         16  the information that they presented, even if you

         17  take a look at the information that they presented

         18  to us today, there seems to be an abundance of

         19  information that you should be able to take a look

         20  at and at least give us some indication whether or

         21  not this is something that's worthy of further

         22  review.

         23                 MS. WIST: I think also the

         24  information should go to the City's consultants to

         25  sort of sign off to us. To be honest with you we

                                                            214

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISING

          2  have, you know, one archeologist, and I don't --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: That's why

          4  rationally we're going to try and give you more

          5  money in the City's budget. At least the Queens

          6  Delegation wants to do that. You know, I don't know

          7  about the other boroughs.

          8                 MS. WIST: Brooklyn Delegation, I know

          9  one member, me, had asked that we provide funds in

         10  there to increase the number of inspectors, and

         11  hopefully we will achieve that objective.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you, Ronda.

         13                 As I mentioned earlier, we're going

         14  to be laying the vote over til Thursday morning,

         15  right before the main Land Use Committee.

         16                 I hope the Administration, I know the

         17  Administration has been listening to some of the

         18  concerns here, and I know Council Member Yassky and

         19  James will be following up, as well as I, and I

         20  think we'd like to hear a little bit more on some of

         21  the outstanding issues, the landmarks, open space,

         22  and certainly the traffic issues. I still think that

         23  there's more that we could do to make this a better

         24  proposal.

         25                 This closes this meeting of the
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          2  Subcommittee. I should say we're going to reconvene.

          3  We'll recess this meeting of Zoning and Franchises

          4  until Thursday morning.

          5                 (Hearing recessed at 2:05 p.m.)

          6                 (The following written testimony was

          7  read into the record.)

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Fred Beaufait

         12  President

         13  New York City College of Technology

         14

         15                 Chairperson, and members of the

         16  Council, I am Fred Beaufait, President of the New

         17  York City College of Technology, the City University

         18  of New York. I support the Downtown Brooklyn Plan,

         19  and I ask that you approve the Downtown Brooklyn

         20  Plan.

         21                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan will boost

         22  the plans that we have for the College. We have some

         23  21,000 students: 11,000 in undergraduate programs,

         24  and over 10,000 in continuing education. We are the

         25  largest public college of technology in the State,
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          2  the CUNY designated college of technology, and the

          3  most diverse campus of comprehensive, baccalaureate

          4  colleges in the north, according to the U.S. News

          5  and World Report. We have grown, but we still have a

          6  ways to go, and we desperately need the Downtown

          7  Brooklyn Plan approved.

          8                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan will

          9  create wonderful job opportunities for our students.

         10  Students from City tech, and other area

         11  institutions, will benefit from this plan. The

         12  Downtown Brooklyn Plan fits nicely with our five

         13  year Capital Plan for a new academic facility that

         14  will replace the Klitgord Building.

         15                 This project will provide the College

         16  with some 470,000 gsf of new space for our athletic

         17  and academic programs, plus more than 500,000 gsf of

         18  commercial space. This project of the New York City

         19  College of Technology will be the first academic

         20  public-private partnership in the State, and perhaps

         21  the Nation, and the Downtown Brooklyn Plan will

         22  strengthen our public-private partnership

         23  initiative.

         24                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan will reach

         25  well beyond the immediate area space needs of the
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          2  College, and improve overall facilities and access

          3  for students. Our project will have an elevated

          4  walkway for students that will connect the new

          5  academic Klitgord building to our signature Namm

          6  Building. The Downtown Brooklyn Plan will help us

          7  meet the needs of our students, it will replace

          8  deteriorating buildings, and serve as a model of the

          9  first higher education public-private partnership in

         10  the State, and perhaps the Nation. Our plans for the

         11  College fit nicely with the Downtown Brooklyn Plan,

         12  and we are very supportive of this important effort.

         13  I urge your approval.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 For more information contact:

         16                 Jerome H. Blue, Ph.D.

         17                 Vice President for Research,

         18  Governmental and Corporate Relations.

         19                 New York City College of Technology.

         20                 The City University of New York

         21  (CUNY).

         22                 300 Jay Street.

         23                 Brooklyn, New York 11201.

         24                 Telephone: (718) 260-5760.

         25                 Email: ORGCR@citytech.cuny.edu
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          2

          3

          4  Written Testimony of:

          5  Michael A. Weiss

          6  Executive Director

          7  MetroTech Business Improvement District

          8

          9                 Good morning. I am appearing before

         10  you today to voice the support of the MetroTech

         11  Business Improvement District for the Downtown

         12  Brooklyn Plan that is before you for consideration.

         13                 The plan as currently conceived is

         14  substantially improved from earlier versions.

         15  Without getting into the specifics of the changes,

         16  this plan sets broad parameters for the next 10 to

         17  20 years of growth in Downtown Brooklyn.

         18                 While it is almost impossible to

         19  predict all of the economic conditions that may

         20  impact on our future, the plan addresses many issues

         21  that need to be considered if our Downtown is to

         22  truly serve the people of our Borough and the City

         23  at large. Most important, as with MetroTech, there

         24  will be literally thousands of new local jobs

         25  created, that will provide opportunity for the
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          2  unemployed and underemployed citizens of our

          3  communities.

          4                 The Plan's attention to issues of

          5  adding open space, mixed use development, including

          6  office, retail and mixed-income housing are crucial.

          7  We support the proposal to form a Transportation

          8  Management Association or TMA, which would be a

          9  permanent mechanism for planning and implementing

         10  local mobility strategies.

         11                 This is essential in order to allow

         12  for "smart growth" and it would be a major

         13  breakthrough for New York City in harnessing local

         14  energy and talent to solve specific transportation

         15  problems. It would be a validation of the concept

         16  that effectively dealing with mobility initiatives

         17  requires that government, agency, community and

         18  business leaders, be given authority and

         19  responsibility for these strategies. Just as

         20  Business Improvement Districts have been shown to

         21  "add value" to the quality of life, TMA's can serve

         22  a similar purpose.

         23                 The only caveat we raise in

         24  supporting this plan involves recognition that a

         25  limited number of business and residential property
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          2  owners and tenants may be displaced as the plan is

          3  implemented.

          4                 The BID requests that these entities

          5  be dealt with fairly and sensitively with

          6  arrangements being made to relocate them back to an

          7  area or to adequately compensate them for any

          8  economic loss.

          9                 We thank the Council and its staff,

         10  as well as the Administration, including the

         11  Department of Small Business Services, the Economic

         12  Development Corporation, the Department of City

         13  Planning and the Office of Borough President Marty

         14  Markowitz for their willingness to work with us to

         15  ensure a bright future for Downtown Brooklyn.

         16

         17

         18  Written Testimony Of:

         19  Albert C. Wiltshire

         20  Manager, City Wide Government Relations

         21  KeySpan

         22

         23                 Good afternoon. My name is Albert C.

         24  Wiltshire and I am the Manager of City Wide

         25  Government Relations for KeySpan.
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          2                 KeySpan supports the Downtown

          3  Brooklyn Plan, and urges the City Council to do the

          4  same.

          5                 The Downtown Brooklyn Council was

          6  formed by many of the area's corporate and academic

          7  institutions to advocate for further commercial and

          8  residential development. Picking up ideas and

          9  concerns previously put forward by the Office of the

         10  Brooklyn Borough President. Community Board Two and

         11  the Group of 35 report, commissioned by United

         12  States Senator Charles Schumer, about the need for

         13  land use changes on such corridors as Livingston and

         14  Willoughby Streets and Flatbush Avenue Extension,

         15  the Downtown Brooklyn Council has been advocating

         16  for such changes.

         17                 Downtown Brooklyn plays an important

         18  role in the City of New York's efforts to retain

         19  jobs within the five boroughs. With an outstanding

         20  mass transportation system, and a power grid that

         21  operates independently of Manhattan, Downtown

         22  Brooklyn provides companies the opportunity to

         23  diversify their operations by placing some of their

         24  systems and employees on alternate telecommunication

         25  and utility grids in a location easily accessible by
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          2  mass transit. In the aftermath of the World Trade

          3  Center disaster, companies have paid even greater

          4  attention to the need to have operations and

          5  employees on alternate power grids.

          6                 Keeping companies and jobs within the

          7  five boroughs has benefits for the City and

          8  especially the Borough of Brooklyn. The Plan offers

          9  a comprehensive vision for Downtown Brooklyn. It

         10  strengthens the economic center of America's fourth

         11  largest city, and will help expand the city's third

         12  most important business district. By providing

         13  nearly one million sq. ft. of retail space, the plan

         14  will strengthen and diversify retail operations

         15  available to people whom live, work and visit the

         16  area.

         17                 A long-term challenge that Downtown

         18  Brooklyn faces if it is to grow as a business center

         19  is the lack of development sites that are properly

         20  zoned and assembled.

         21                 A simultaneous opportunity that

         22  Downtown Brooklyn presents, at a time that the City

         23  and the neighborhoods immediately surrounding

         24  Downtown Brooklyn's commercial center are grappling

         25  with a shortage of affordable housing, is the
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          2  ability, through zoning changes and the infusion of

          3  public dollars, to encourage more residential

          4  development. The plan provides sensible transitions

          5  between the commercial core and the surrounding

          6  residential communities, and in fact expands

          7  residential opportunities. It also plans for

          8  affordable housing opportunities along Myrtle Ave.

          9                 The plan provides a series of

         10  benefits for the area, the borough and the city over

         11  a ten-year period.

         12                 - over 18,000 office and retial jobs

         13  and 8,000 construction jobs over the next ten years.

         14                 - over 1,000 new housing units.

         15                 - economic benefits will be enjoyed

         16  by area residents, in surrounding neighborhoods and

         17  on both sides of Flatbush Ave - via job

         18  opportunities, contractor and construction

         19  opportunities.

         20                 - new cultural facilities will

         21  enhance the Downtown Brooklyn experience, provide

         22  educational opportunities for area school children,

         23  and serve neighborhood arts organizations.

         24                 - more importantly for every one

         25  million sq. ft. of office space built, the City
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          2  captures $14 million in annual tax revenue.

          3                 KeySpan believes that panned

          4  development, when done right, has the potential of

          5  creating tremendous benefits and opportunities. We

          6  believe that the zoning and development proposal

          7  currently before the City Council is such a plan.

          8                 Therefore KeySpan urges the City

          9  Council to approve this plan.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 (Hearing recessed at 2:05 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 8th day of June 2004.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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